BEFORE THE
PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF KENTUCKY

In the Matter of: No. 2021-00328

Application of the
Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
For an Order Approving a Transfer of Ownership and Control

APPLICATION

Applicant, the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
(“MSD”) hereby applies to the Kentucky Public Service Commission (“PSC”) for (a)
approval pursuant to KRS 278.020 of a transfer of ownership and control of a
jurisdictional utility, and (b) any other approval necessary relating to the acquisition of
the Big Valley Sanitation, Inc. and former Bullitt Utilities, Inc. systems. In support of its

request, MSD states as follows:

THE APPLICANT

1. MSD is a public body corporate created and organized pursuant to KRS
Chapter 76 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, whose address is 700 West
Liberty Street, Louisville, Kentucky.

2.  MSD’s statutory responsibilities include the providing of sewage and
drainage facilities for to the public; the regulation of public and private
sewers and drains and the discharge of waste and waters into the sewer
system, and who is authorized to provide for wastewater discharge permits
and abatement of and liabilities and penalties for the violations of MSD’s

regulations and Metro Government ordinances.



In order to carry out these responsibilities MSD owns and operates
wastewater treatment plants and pump stations which comprise part of the
sanitary sewer system throughout Jefferson County and Oldham County.
Pursuant to KRS 76.070, KRS 76.110 and KRS 65.240, MSD has the legal
authority to acquire land and existing facilities.
Copies of all orders, pleadings and other communications regarding this
Application should be directed to:

Jackie Quarles

Louisville and Jefferson County MSD

700 West Liberty Street

Louisville, Kentucky 40203-1911

Jacquelyn.Quarles@louisvillemsd.org

THE TRANSACTION

On May 6, 2021 Bullitt County, Bullitt County Sanitation District
(“BCSD”) and Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer
District (“MSD”) entered into an Interlocal Cooperation Agreement
(“ILA”) to sell the wastewater systems owned and operated by BCSD. A
First Amended ILA was entered on August 12, 2021.

The ILA was approved by Louisville Metro Council, the Mayor of
Louisville, and the Kentucky Attorney General in accordance with KRS
65.

Pursuant to an order of the Franklin Circuit Court, Division No. II,

entered on April 30, 2013, in the matter of Public Service Commission of
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Kentucky vs. Big Valley Sanitation, Inc., ET AL., Civil Action No. 11-CI-
1433, BCSD was appointed, and currently serves as Receiver of Big
Valley Sanitation, Inc., with authority to operate, control, and maintain the
Big Valley Sanitation’s sewage and collection system (the “Big Valley
Wastewater System”). The Big Valley Wastewater System serves
residents of the Big Valley Mobile Home Park Subdivision in Bullitt
County, Kentucky.

Approximately eighteen months following a catastrophic failure of the
Hunters Hollow wastewater treatment plant which, at the time of the
failure, was owned and operated by Bullitt Utilities, Inc., BCSD was also
appointed Receiver of Bullitt Utilities pursuant to an order of the Franklin
Circuit Court, Division No. II, entered on September 23, 2015, in the
matter of Public Service Commission of Kentucky vs. Bullitt Utilities, Inc.,
ET AL., Civil Action No. 15-CI-946, and was granted authority to operate,
control and maintain the Hunters Hollow wastewater collection facilities.

On December 18, 2015, Veolia Water Technologies, Inc. (“Veolia”)
and Perdue Environmental Contracting Company, Inc. (“PECCO”) filed
an involuntary petition for relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11 of the United
States Code to initiate a bankruptcy case against Bullitt Utilities. Veolia
and PECCO filed Proof of Claims in the bankruptcy case asserting general
unsecured claims for services rendered to and unpaid by Bullitt Utilities in
the amounts of $2,166,418.97 and $582,290.02, respectively. The case is

currently proceeding as Case No. 15-34000-jal in the United States
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Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Kentucky. On December 1,
2017, the Bankruptcy Trustee filed The Trustee’s Complaint Against
BCSD [Adv. Docket No. 1] initiating the adversary proceeding, Keats v.
BCSD, Adversary No. 17-03072-jal, before the Bankruptcy Court
asserting various causes of action against BCSD. By Memorandum-
Opinion and Judgement entered on April 30, 2019, the Bankruptcy Court
entered a judgment against BCSD and in favor of the bankruptcy estate of
Bullitt Utilities in the amount of $2,789,436.23. Due to the Judgement,
which BCSD has since appealed, BCSD faces the potential of becoming
insolvent which threatens its ability to continue serving residents of Bullitt
County and to meet obligations arising under its Kentucky Pollutant
Discharge Elimination System (“KPDES”) permits and agreed orders with
the Kentucky Energy and Environment Cabinet.

In an effort to develop a long-range regional wastewater solution for the
residents of Bullitt County that will be cost-effective, improve water
quality, add capacity, and that will provide mutual benefit to BCSD,
Bullitt County and MSD, BCSD, in its capacity as owner and operator of
the BCSD wastewater system, and as court-appointed receiver of the Big
Valley Wastewater System, desires to sell to MSD and MSD desires to
purchase from BCSD, the Wastewater Systems.

MSD was created in 1946 as a public body corporate and subdivision
of the Commonwealth of Kentucky. It has complete control, possession,

and supervision of the sewer and drainage system within
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Louisville/Jefferson County. On June 30, 2020 MSD purchased the
Oldham County Environmental Authority wastewater system. KRS
Chapter 76 authorizes MSD to construct facilities within its service area
and to recover the cost of its services in accordance with rate schedules
adopted by its governing Board.

The terms and conditions of the Transaction are set out in the
Interlocal Cooperation Agreement by and Between the County of Bullitt,
Kentucky, the Bullitt County Sanitation District, and the Louisville and
Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District for Wastewater Collection
and Treatment Services ("the ILA") is attached as Exhibit B. The First
Amended ILA is attached as Exhibit C.

For former BCSD customers residing in areas of Bullitt County served
by the Big Valley Wastewater System and the Hunters Hollow Collection
System, MSD will maintain the existing charges for wastewater collection
and treatment services until December 31, 2021.

Beginning January 1, 2022, MSD will increase wastewater charges for
these customers to rates equal with other customers in Bullitt County that
become effective January 1, 2022. These customers will also pay
equivalent capacity charges beginning January 1, 2022 and each calendar
year thereafter.

Beginning January 1, 2023, and each calendar year thereafter through
January 1, 2026, MSD will increase wastewater charges for areas served

by the Big Valley Wastewater System and Hunters Hollow Collection
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System by 12%. Starting January 1, 2027, and years thereafter, MSD will
increase wastewater charges by no more than 3% until charges equalize
with charges of MSD’s Jefferson County customers. Once charges
equalize, MSD’s Rates, Rentals, and Charges for all customer classes will

be applied going forward.

KRS 278.020 Transfer Requirements

The Commission should approve the transfer pursuant to KRS
278.020. MSD has the financial, technical, and managerial abilities to
continue to provide reasonable service to the customers. MSD
currently has a workforce of over 600 employees. Over 50 are
employed as certified operators. MSD is a public utility created
pursuant to KRS 76 to manage and operate the sewer systems. MSD’s
workforce is trained to handle specific job functions directly related to
the operation of the sewer system. Additionally, MSD’s employees are
on-call 24 hours a day, 7 days a week to handle immediate
emergencies.

As demonstrated by its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, attached as Exhibit
D, and its control and operation of the sewer system within the City of
Louisville/Jefferson County and Oldham County, MSD has the
financial, managerial, and technical abilities to provide reasonable
service to persons currently served by BCSD.

The acquisition is consistent with the Commonwealth’s and
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U.S. EPA policies of regionalization. The acquisition will produce greater
economies of scale, eliminate wasteful duplication of costs and efforts,
and produce a higher degree of service at a lesser cost.

Other Requirements

The Transaction does not include an acquisition within the
meaning of KRS 278.020(6) or an acquisition of control as defined by
KRS 278.020(7), because MSD is not subject to the jurisdiction of the
Commission.

If the Commission nonetheless applies KRS 278.020(6) to the
Transaction, the Commission should approve the acquisition by MSD of
the Big Valley Sanitation, Inc. and former Bullitt Utilities, Inc. systems.
As demonstrated by this Application, the Transaction is in accordance
with law, for a proper purpose, and is consistent with the public interest.
Therefore, the Commission should approve the acquisition by MSD of

the Big Valley Sanitation, Inc. and former Bullitt Utilities, Inc. systems.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Applicant MSD requests an Order of the Commission within 30

days of the filing of the Application which:

a)

b)

Grants approval pursuant to KRS 278.020 for the transfer to MSD by
BCSD of ownership and control of the Big Valley Sanitation, Inc. and
former Bullitt Utilities, Inc. systems; and

Declares that KRS 278.020(6) and (7) are inapplicable or, in the

alternative, grants approval pursuant to KRS 278.020(6) and (7) for the



acquisition by MSD of control of the Big Valley Sanitation, Inc. and former
Bullitt Utilities, Inc. systems as provided for in the ILA; and
Declares that no other Commission approvals are necessary for the

Transaction or, in the alternative, grants any other approvals necessary.

Respectfully submitted,

J g:quelyn A. Quarles

Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District

700 West Liberty Street

Louisville, Kentucky 40203-1911
Phone: (502) 540-6623
Jacquelyn.Quarles(@louisvillemsd.org

Attorney for Louisville/Jefferson County MSD



Exhibits

Verification

Interlocal Cooperation Agreement by and Between the
County of Bullitt, Kentucky, the Bullitt County Sanitation
District, and the Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District for Wastewater Collection
and Treatment Services

First Amended ILA

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal
Year Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019



Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District

Verification

I, James A. Parrott, Executive Director for Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan
Sewer District (“MSD”), do hereby verify on behalf of MSD that the statements made in this
Application are true and accurate to the best of my knowledge.

,g’{;z:w‘i%- ér/%

James A. Parrott

STATE OF KENTUCKY )
)ss
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON )
) L
ubscribed and sworn to before me b % . /caaRR®d [on this the day
0 , 2021.

My commission expires: 2
Cﬁj@:—) Ot — #507728

EXHIBIT

i__A




INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT
BY AND BETWEEN THE COUNTY OF BULLITT, KENTUCKY,
THE BULLITT COUNTY SANITATION DISTRICT, AND THE LOUISVILLE AND
JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT FOR
WASTEWATER COLLECTION AND TREATMENT SERVICES

THIS INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT ("Agreement’) is made and
entered into this Q day of 1704 . 2021 (“Effective Date”) in accordance with the
Kentucky Interlocal Cooperation Act, K 65.210 et seq., by and between Bullitt County,
Kentucky, a political subdivision of the ommonwealth of Kentucky, acting by and through the
Buliitt County Fiscal Court (hereinafter “Bullitt County”), Bullitt County Sanitation District
(hereinafter “BCSD"), a special district created and existing pursuant to KRS 220.010 et seq.
and KRS 67.715(2), and the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District, a
political subdivision and public body corporate, duly created and existing pursuant to the
provisions of Kentucky Revised Statutes, Chapter 76 et seq., acting by and through its duly
appointed Board, its statutory governing body (hereinafter “MSD") (collectively hereinafter
referred to as “the Parties”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, BCSD currently owns, operates and maintains a wastewater collection and
treatment system serving areas of northern Bullitt County and southern Jefferson County,
Kentucky including the Bullitt Hills Subdivision in Jefferson County, and areas within and
outside the corporate boundaries of the cities of Pioneer Village and Hillview in Bullitt County

(the “BCSD Wastewater System’); and

WHEREAS, BCSD is authorized by the City of Hillview to operate and maintain the
Hillview wastewater treatment plant, known as Prologis, which is also utilized to provide
wastewater treatment and collection services to residents of Hillview; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to an order of the Franklin Circuit Court, Division No. Ii, entered
on April 30, 2013, in the matter of Public Service Commission of Kentucky vs. Big Valley
Sanitation, Inc., ET AL., Civil Action No. 11-C1-1433, BCSD was appointed, and currently
serves as Receiver of Big Valley Sanitation, Inc., with authority to operate, control, and
maintain the Big Valley Sanitation’s sewage and collection system (the “Big Valley Wastewater
System™); and

WHEREAS, the Big Valley Wastewater System serves residents of the Big Valley
Mobile Home Park Subdivision in Buliitt County, Kentucky; and

WHEREAS, approximately eighteen months following a catastrophic failure of the
Hunters Hollow wastewater treatment plant which, at the time of the failure, was owned and
operated by Bullitt Utilities, Inc., BCSD was also appointed Receiver of Bullitt Utilities pursuant
to an order of the Franklin Circuit Court, Division No. Il, entered on September 23, 2015, in the
matter of Public Service Commission of Kentucky vs. Bullitt Utilities, Inc., ET AL., Civil Action
No. 15-Cl-946, and was granted authority to operate, control and maintain the Hunters Hollow

wastewater collection facilities; and
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WHEREAS, on December 18, 2015, Veolia Water Technologies, Inc. (“Veolia®) and
Perdue Environmental Contracting Company, Inc. (“PECCQO") filed an inveoluntary petition for
relief under Chapter 7 of Title 11 of the United States Code to initiate a bankruptcy case against

Bullitt Utilities; and

WHEREAS, Veolia and PECCO filed Proof of Claims in the bankruptcy case asserting
general unsecured claims for services rendered to and unpaid by Bullitt Utilities in the amounts
of $2,166,418.97 and $582,290.02, respectively; and

WHEREAS, the case is currently proceeding as Case No. 15-34000-jal in the United
States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Kentucky; and

WHEREAS, on December 1, 2017, the Bankruptcy Trustee filed The Trustee'’s
Complaint Against BCSD [Adv. Docket No. 1] initiating the adversary proceeding, Keats v.
BCSD, Adversary No. 17-03072-jal, before the Bankruptcy Court asserting various causes of

action against BCSD; and

WHEREAS, by Memorandum-Opinion and Judgement entered on April 30, 2019, the
Bankruptcy Court entered a judgment against BCSD and in favor of the bankruptcy estate of

Bullitt Utilities in the amount of $2,789,436.23; and

WHEREAS, due to the Judgement, which BCSD has since appealed, BCSD faces the
potential of becoming insolvent which threatens its ability to continue serving residents of Buillitt
County and to meet obligations arising under its Kentucky Pollutant Discharge Elimination
System (‘KPDES”) permits and agreed orders with the Kentucky Energy and Environment
Cabinet; and

WHEREAS, an effort to develop a long-range regional wastewater solution for the
residents of Bullitt County that will be cost-effective, improve water quality, add capacity, and
that will provide mutual benefit to BCSD, Bullitt County and MSD, BCSD, in its capacity as
owner and operator of the BCSD Wastewater System, and as court-appointed receiver of the
Big Valley Wastewater System, desires to sell to MSD and MSD desires to purchase from
BCSD, the Wastewater Systems; and

WHEREAS, subject to the review and approval of the Bankruptcy Court, Bankruptcy
Trustee and other interested parties, and in order to provide for a single transition of ownership,
the Parties also desire to resolve the pending Judgement against BCSD through negotiation
of a mutual settlement and release which will include a separately negotiated purchase and
sale of the Hunters Hollow wastewater facilities by MSD for an amount not to exceed
$2,000,000.00, and which shall be a condition precedent to the purchase and sale of the BCSD
and Big Valley Wastewater Systems by BCSD, Bullitt County and MSD; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Kentucky Interlocal Cooperation Act, (KRS 65.210 et seq.),
any public agency may enter into agreements with another public agency, or agencies, to
acquire by purchase or lease, any real or personal property, or any interest, right, easement,
or privilege therein, outside of its municipal or jurisdictional boundaries in connection with the
acquisition, construction, operation, repair or maintenance of any sewage, wastewater, or
storm water facilities, notwithstanding any other provision of the Kentucky Revised Statutes



restricting, qualifying or limiting their authority to do so, except as set forth in KRS Chapter
278; and

WHEREAS, subject to receipt of all requisite approvals, BCSD is willing to transfer to
MSD, and MSD is willing to accept from BCSD, ownership of the BCSD and Big Valley
Wastewater Systems pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and a mutually
agreeable purchase and sale agreement to be negotiated, accepted, approved and executed

by the governing bodies of BCSD, Bullitt County, and MSD; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the execution of a purchase and sale agreement between
the Parties, the performance of the Parties’ obligations thereunder, and the provision of
wastewater collection and treatment services to be performed from and after the
consummation of the purchase and sale, the Parties desire to enter into this Agreement to set
forth the powers, privileges and authority to be jointly exercised and enjoyed.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and mutual covenants set forth
herein, the parties hereto agree, each with the others, as follows:

ARTICLE | - INCORPORATION OF RECITALS

11. The recitals are incorporated herein by reference as if fully set forth herein and are
adopted as true and correct findings of fact by the Parties.

ARTICLE il - AUTHORIZATIONS

21 Each party to this Agreement represents and warrants that, except for obtaining
approvals required pursuant to KRS 65.241(2), 65.260(2), 65.300, and performing the filings
required under KRS 65.290(1), it has taken all necessary actions, received all necessary
approvals, and adopted all necessary ordinances and resolutions in order to execute this
Agreement and to perform all the obligations required and contemplated hereunder.

ARTICLE lll - EFFECTIVE DATE AND DURATION

3.1 Subject to receipt of the approvals required pursuant to KRS 65.241(2), 65.260(2),
65.300, and the performance of filings required under KRS 65.290(1), this Agreement shall
become effective on the date first written above and shall continue as set forth in Section 3.2.

3.2 . This Agreement shall be in full force and effect until the Closing described in Section
11.1, and after the Closing for a period of fifty (50) years, and shall automatically be renewed
for a like term unless a party to this Agreement gives written notice to the other parties of an

intent to terminate.

3.3 Any party may terminate this Agreement upon written notice of intent to terminate at
least two years prior to the termination date, which notice shall be given in the manner required

by Section 18.5 of this Agreement.
ARTICLE IV — PURPOSE

4.1 This Agreement is created for the purpose of:



4.1.1 Establishing a mutually advantageous and cooperative arrangement between the
Parties for the provision of wastewater collection and treatment services in the “BCSD Service
Area.” The BCSD Service Area is shown and described in Exhibit A, a multi-page map created
utilizing sewer information collected and maintained by Kentuckiana Regiona! Planning and
Development Agency which, for recording purposes, has been condensed to an 8%" x 14"
map, attached hereto as Exhibit A-1;

4.1.2 Enabling the development of a long-range regional wastewater solution for the
residents of Bullitt County that will be cost-effective, improve water quality, add capacity and
that will provide mutual benefit to BCSD, Bullitt County and MSD;

4.1.3 Providing for the transfer of the BCSD wastewater collection and treatment
system from BCSD to MSD;

4.1.4 Providing for the transfer of the Big Valley wastewater collection and treatment
system from BCSD, as receiver of Big Valley Sanitation, Inc., to MSD;

4.1.5 Providing for the lease by BCSD and Bullitt County to MSD of all easements,
licenses, right-of-ways (except road right-of-ways), dedications, and other interests in real
property owned, leased and/or utiized by BCSD and Bullitt County for the provision of
wastewater collection and treatment services in the BCSD Service Area, except real property
owned in fee, which shall be listed and described in the agreement for the purchase and sale
of the BCSD wastewater collection and treatment system; and

4.1.6 Vesting in MSD and enabling MSD to exercise all powers and authority of BCSD
and Bullitt County necessary and appropriate to the acquisition, ownership, management,
operation and expansion of the BCSD Wastewater System.

ARTICLE V -~ PURCHASE AND SALE OF THE BCSD WASTEWATER SYSTEM /
MSD ASSUMED OBLIGATIONS

5.1 Within sixty (60) days of the Effective Date, and pursuant to the terms and conditions
of this Agreement, BCSD and MSD shall execute a more definitive agreement for the purchase
and sale of the BCSD wastewater collection and treatment system (“Asset Purchase
Agreement”) whereby:

5.1.1 BCSD agrees to sell, transfer, assign and convey to MSD, and MSD agrees to
purchase, all of BCSD’s rights, title and interests in the BCSD system, which is comprised of
six (6) BCSD-owned wastewater treatment plants, one (1) municipally owned contract
operated wastewater treatment plant, twenty-two (22) sanitary pumping stations, collector,
trunk, and interceptor sewers and pipes, force mains, laterals, manholes, and other facilities,
("BCSD Wastewater System’/”System”), as described and identified in Exhibit B, attached:;

5.1.2 BCSD agrees to sell to MSD all other assets, properties, and rights of way owned
by BCSD, relating to, or used primarily or exclusively for the BCSD Wastewater System,
wherever located, real, personal and mixed, as described and identified in Exhibit C, attached,
(collectively “the BCSD Assets’). The Parties agree to amend Exhibit C after execution of



this Agreement to update any information that is incomplete as of the Effective Date, including
specifically, information related to real estate and easements.

5.1.3 The BCSD Assets shall be sold, transferred, assigned and conveyed by BCSD
to MSD free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, except the liens and/or encumbrances
set forth in Exhibit D (“Permitted Liens”), attached.

5.1.4 The aggregate consideration (the “Purchase Price”) to be paid by MSD for the
BCSD Assets shall be paid in part by () the assumption by MSD from the Kentucky
Infrastructure Authority (“KIA”) on the date of Closing of the outstanding long-term obligations
of BCSD identified in subsection (a) of this Section 5.1.4 (the "KIA Obligations”) in an amount
equal to the aggregate outstanding principal balance of such obligations on the date of Closing;
and (i) the payment of monies to BCSD on or before the date of Closing in an amount sufficient,
together with investment earnings thereon, to enable BCSD to defease the outstanding long-
term obligations of BCSD to the Kentucky Rural Water Finance Corporation (the “"KRWFC”)
identified in subsection (b) of this Section 5.1.4 (the "KRWFC Obligations”) effective as of the
date of Closing. BCSD shall be solely responsible for the call, defeasance, payment, and
discharge of the KRWFC Obligations, though such actions may be achieved using the monies

provided by MSD as described in this paragraph:
(a) BCSD Federally Assisted Wastewater Revolving Loan Agreements:

() The Loan Assistance Agreement between BCSD and KIA dated
July 1, 2010, for KIA Loan No. B10-01, with principal balance in the
amount of Two Hundred Sixty-One Thousand, Nine Hundred Forty-Four
Dollars and 13/100 ($261,944.13) as of June 30, 2021, with estimated
principal and interest payments through maturity in the year 2030 in the
amount of Three Hundred Thousand, Four Hundred Eighty-Three Dollars
and 90/100 ($300,483.90).

(i) The Loan Assistance Agreement between BCSD and KIA dated
November 1, 2010, for KIA Loan No. B10-04, with principal balance in
the amount of Two Hundred Eighty-Six Thousand, Nine Hundred Forty-
Eight Dollars and 93/100 ($286,948.93) as of June 30, 2021, with
estimated principal and interest payments through maturity in the year
2030 in the amount of Three Hundred Thirty-Four Thousand, Two
Hundred Seventy-One Dollars and 00/100 ($334,271.00);

(i) The Loan Assistance Agreement between BCSD and KIA dated
July 1, 2016, for KIA Loan No. B15-008, with principal balance in the
amount of Seventy-Four Thousand, Two Hundred Forty-Three Dollars
and 09/100 ($74,243.09) as of June 30, 2021, with estimated principal
and interest payments through maturity in the year 2036 in the amount of
Eight-Five Thousand, Seven Hundred Ninety-Nine Dollars and 34/100

($85,799.34);

(b) BCSD and Kentucky Rural Water Finance Corporation Assistance
Agreements:



(i) The Assistance Agreement between BCSD and KRWFC, dated
November 4, 2010, with principal balance in the amount of Two Hundred
Forty-Five Thousand Dollars and 00/100 ($245,000.00) as of June 30,
2021; with estimated principal and interest payments through final
maturity on July 1, 2030 in the amount of Three Hundred Nine Thousand,
Six Hundred Sixty-Five Dollars and 00/100 ($309,665.00);

(i) The Assistance Agreement between BCSD and KRWFC, dated
August 13, 2013, with principal balance in the amount of Five Hundred
Fifteen Thousand Dollars and 00/100 ($515,000.00) as of June 30, 2021;
with estimated principal and interest payments through final maturity on
July 1, 2043 in the amount of Eight Hundred Sixty-Four Thousand, Five
Hundred Fifteen Dollars and 83/100 ($864,515.83); and

(i) The Assistance Agreement between BCSD and KRWFC, dated
July 11, 2017 with principal balance in the amount of Seven Hundred
Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars and 00/100 ($725,000.00) as of June 30,
2021; with estimated principal and interest payments through final
maturity on July 1, 2047 in the amount of One Million, One Hundred
Twenty-Two Thousand, Nine Hundred Thirty-Three Dollars and 76/100
($1,122,933.76).

5.1.5 As additional consideration, MSD agrees to provide for payment in full of the
total amount of the outstanding balance, as of the Closing Date, of the Promissory Note dated
April 1, 2016, (in the original principal loan amount of Eighty-Seven Thousand, Five Hundred
Five Dollars ($87,505.00)) executed and delivered by BCSD in favor of PBI Bank, Inc.,
(assumed name of Limestone Bank, Inc.), amounting to the approximate sum of Seventy-One
Thousand Five Hundred Forty-Three Dollars ($71,543.00);

5.1.6  As further additional consideration, MSD also agrees to accept, perform and/or
discharge, on terms and conditions acceptable to MSD, BCSD's liabilities and obligations
arising under BCSD’s KPDES Permits and the following administrative orders:

(a) BCSD Agreed Orders:

()  The Agreed Order dated February 13, 2015, between BCSD and
Commonwealth of Kentucky Energy and Environment Cabinet, Division
of Enforcement, Case No. DOW 140177A, IN RE: BCSD Hillview Sewer
Plant 3, Pioneer Village Sewer Plant 1, Willabrook Sanitation, Inc.;

(i) The Agreed Order dated February 13, 2015, between BCSD and
Commonwealth of Kentucky Energy and Environment Cabinet, Division
of Enforcement, Case No. DOW 1401778, IN RE: Bullitt Hills Subdivision,
Hillviel\;v Sewer System Plant 1, Hillview Sewer System Plant 2, Hillview

(liiy The Agreed Order dated April 13, 2016, between BCSD, as receiver
for Hunters Hollow WWTP, and Commonwealth of Kentucky Energy and

6



Environment Cabinet, Division of Enforcement, Case No. DOW 160004,
IN RE: Bullitt County Sanitation District, as receiver for Hunters Hollow

WWTP; and

(iv) The Amended Agreed Order dated October 5, 2015, between
BCSD and Commonwealth of Kentucky Energy and Environment
Cabinet, Division of Enforcement, Case No. DOW 140177B, IN RE: Bullitt
Hills Subdivision, Hillview Sewer System Plant 1, Hillview Sewer System
Plant 2, Hillview WWTP.

(v) For the avoidance of any doubt, the manner in which MSD will
accept, perform and discharge BCSD's regulatory obligations under the
foregoing Agreed Orders is by obtaining modifications to the Agreed
Orders or new agreed orders or other agreements which replace the
existing Agreed Orders and which allow MSD input in identifying,
evaluating, and selecting aiternatives for corrective action plans and
implementation schedules for remedial measures acceptable to MSD.

(b). Accordingly, promptly upon receipt of the approvals required pursuant to
Article Il and as a precondition to the consummation of the Closing
described in Section 11.1, MSD and BCSD shall jointly pursue the
modification or termination of the existing Agreed Orders whereby BCSD
is relieved of further obligations in favor of commitments by MSD that take

effect from and after Closing.

5.1.7 For convenience of reference, all the foregoing obligations and/or liabilities set
forth in Sections 5.1.4, 5.1.5 and 5.1.6 being assumed by MSD shall be collectively referred to

hereinafter as the “Assumed Obligations.”

Except as set forth Sections 5.1.4, 5.1.5 and 5.1.6 above, MSD will not assume any
liability or obligation of BCSD or Bullitt County not included in the Assumed Obligations,
including actions, suits, claims, penalties, fines, investigations, or legal, administrative or
arbitration proceedings pending or threatened against BCSD or Bullitt County, of any nature
whatsoever, which arose or were incurred at or before Closing, or which are based on events
occurring or conditions and/or circumstances existing at or before Closing.

518 The Parties acknowledge that, as a condition of accepting the Assumed
Obligations, MSD shall be entitled to the balance of any and all BCSD and Bullitt County debt
service and reserve fund account balances established and maintained for payment of the
Assumed Obligations, as well as any cash, working capital and escrow accounts, and any
wastewater user fees, charges and surcharges deposited in such accounts, which amounts
shall be paid to MSD at Closing. [n addition, the Asset Purchase Agreement shall include
appropriate contingencies for the consents and approvals of the Assumed Obligations, and
other obligations described in Articles VI, VI, Vi1, which contingencies are to be satisfied

and/or waived prior to the Closing.

52  The Asset Purchase Agreement will not include any stormwater or drainage assets or
facilities.



ARTICLE VI - TRANSFER OF BIG VALLEY WASTEWATER FACILITIES

6.1 BCSD recognizes that MSD’s assumption of the Assumed Obligations, as well as
MSD's agreement to assist BCSD in negotiating settlement of the Judgement in the matter of
Keats v. Bullift County Sanitation District, Adversary No. 17-03072-jal, provide significant
economic and other benefits to BCSD, and as a further inducement to MSD to enter into this
Agreement, shall agree to transfer to MSD the wastewater collection and treatment facilities
held in receivership by BCSD serving the Big Valley Mobile Home Park (Big Valley Wastewater

System).

6.2 Subject to the conditions set forth in Section 8.3., BCSD agrees to transfer to MSD,
and MSD agrees to accept from BCSD, as part of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, the Big Valley Wastewater System which shall be transferred to MSD free and
clear of all liens and encumbrances, and shall be owned, operated and maintained by MSD
consistent with MSD’s ownership, operation and maintenance of the BCSD Wastewater
System, as further defined herein and by the Asset Purchase Agreement.

6.3. BCSD and MSD acknowledge that the transfer of the Big Valley Wastewater System is
conditioned upon receipt of certain governmental and other reviews, consents, authorizations
and approvals, for which BCSD shall be responsible for obtaining. All such consents,
authorizations, and/or approvals shall be on terms and conditions substantially consistent with
the terms contained in Section 6.2 of this Agreement, shall be final and non-appealable, and
shall authorize the transfer of the wastewater system on or before the Closing Date as
described in Section 11.1. Promptly upon receipt of the approvals required pursuant to Articie
Il, BCSD shall use all reasonable efforts to obtain the approvals required in Section 6.3.

ARTICLE Vil- BCSD ASSIGNED CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS

7.1 On the date of Closing, and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
BCSD and Bullitt County agree to execute, acknowledge and deliver to MSD, instruments of
assignment acceptable in form and substance to MSD to assign to MSD the following
BCSD/Bullitt County contracts (“Assigned Contracts”):

(a) The Agreement for Operation of Prologis (Hillview) Wastewater Treatment
Plant, Hillview, dated March 12, 2010, between BCSD and the City of
Hillview, Kentucky;

(b) The billing services Memorandum of Understanding between BCSD and
Louisville Water Company, dated May 19, 2004:

(c) All professional/technical services and construction contracts pertaining to
the BCSD Wastewater System, to which BCSD and/or Buliitt County is a
party, including any amendments to such contracts, dated and/or that were
in effect on or after January 1, 2011; and

(d) The Ground Lease between BCSD and Willabrook Sanitation, Inc., a
Kentucky Corporation, dated April 5, 2003, as amended by the Ground
Lease Amendment, between BCSD and Willabrook Sanitation, Inc. dated
April 2, 2018 (“The Willabrook Ground Lease”).



7.2 BCSD shall use reasonable efforts to obtain all the necessary consents to the
assignments, which shall be in writing and subject to MSD's review and approval prior to

execution and delivery.

ARTICLE VIIl - CONSENTS AND APPROVALS

8.1 MSD's acceptance of the Assigned Contracts (as provided for in Section 7.1(a), (b), (c)
and (d)), acceptance of the transfer of the Big Valley Wastewater System (as provided for in
Sections 6.1, 6.2 and 6.3), and consummation of the Assumed Obligations {(as provided for in
Sections 5.1.4, 5.1.5 and 5.1.6), is subject to the satisfaction, at or before Closing, of the
following preconditions to be further defined in the Asset Purchase Agreement including, but

not limited to the following:

(a) an escrow agreement by and between BCSD and the trustee for the
KRWFC program dated the date of Closing governing the call, defeasance,
payment, and discharge of the KRWHFC Obligations, such agreement to be
in a form and substance satisfactory to MSD and its legal counsel;

(b) an opinion of bond counset of BCSD or KRWFC opining that each of the
KRWHFC Obligations have been defeased in accordance with the terms and
requirements of their respective assistance agreements as of the date of
Closing, such opinion to be in a form and substance satisfactory to MSD

and its legal counsel,

(c) certificates of KRWFC and the trustee for the KWRFC program certifying
that each of the KRWFC Obligations have been defeased in accordance
with the terms and requirements of their respective assistance agreements
as of the date of Closing, such certificates to each be in a form and
substance satisfactory to MSD and its legal counsel;

(d) a verification report of a firm of certified public accountants or other
professional services firm, nationally recognized as having expertise in tax-
exempt bond arbitrage matters, finding that the monies and/or investments
deposited in any escrow funds or accounts established by BCSD under the
escrow agreement are sufficient to defease the KRWFC Obligations as of
the date of Closing, such report being in form and substance satisfactory

to MSD and its legal counsel;

(e) the execution and delivery of an Assumption Agreement by and between
MSD and KIA on or before the date of Closing in form and substance
satisfactory to MSD and its legal counsel;

() a final order from the Franklin Circuit Court approving the sale and transfer
by BCSD of the Big Valley Wastewater System to MSD;

(g) the execution and delivery of a written termination and release by

Willabrook Sanitation, Inc. terminating and releasing the Assets Purchase
Agreement between BCSD and Willabrook Sanitation, Inc. dated

9



(h)

@i)

0

(k)

0

8.2 MSD’s acceptance of the Assigned Contracts shall also be conditioned upon and
subject to additional conditions, and representations, and warranties to be further defined in

December 18, 2001, in form and substance satisfactory to MSD and its
legal counsel;

the execution and delivery of a written consent by Willabrook Sanitation,
Inc. consenting to the assignment of the Willabrook Ground Lease to MSD,
in form and substance satisfactory to MSD and its legal counsel;

The execution and delivery to MSD of a letter prior to Closing from KDOW
acknowledging KDOW's support of the transfer of the BCSD Wastewater
System to MSD, and which affirms that the transfer is consistent with
Kentucky Revised Statutes, Chapters 65 and 76, and would meet the
Commonwealth’s goal regarding regionalization of wastewater service;

The execution and delivery of all necessary consents, authorizations, and
approvals from the following:

(i) the City of Hillview, Kentucky;
(i)  Kentucky Public Service Commission;
(iii) Louisville Water Company;

(iv) PBI, Bank, Inc., (assumed name of Limestone Bank, Inc.,) a
Kentucky Corporation; and,

(v) any other third party from whom consent, authorization approval or
waiver is. required to commence or complete the transactions
contemplated in Articles V, VI and VII of this Agreement, each of which
shall be in form and substance satisfactory to MSD and its legal counsel.

Receipt by MSD of opinions of counsel that the consummation of this
Agreement will not result in a default under any indenture, mortgage, deed
of trust, contract, or other instrument to which MSD is a party or by which
MSD is bound, or a violation by MSD of any existing law, regulation,
administrative or court order or decree to which MSD is subject.

The execution and delivery of a mutual settlement and release of Keats v.
BCSD, Adversary No. 17-03072-al, satisfactory in form and substance to
MSD and BCSD.

the Asset Purchase Agreement.

9.1 MSD shall interview and make conditional offers of employment, effective on the
Closing Date, to BCSD employees identified in Exhibit E (“Transferred Employees”), which
employment offers shall be subject to MSD’s existing hiring policies, practices and procedures,

ARTICLE IX - EMPLOYMENT MATTERS
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including pre-employment and probation policies and practices, applicable to applicants and
new employees. The BCSD employees who accept the employment offer and commence
employment on the Closing Date shall be referred to herein as the “Transferred Employees”
and shall be employees-at-will. MSD will also interview BCSD’s management employees for
hiring and either make conditional offers of employment or work with Bullitt County on
severance packages in MSD'’s sole discretion.

9.2 MSD shall provide each Transferred Employee who accepts MSD’s employment offer
compensation and benefits which are comparable to the compensation and benefits provided
to similarly situated MSD employees in effect on the date of Closing.

9.3 BCSD shall remain liable for all severance pay and severance agreements, accrued
but unpaid or unused vacation, and sick leave payable to Transferred Employees under
BCSD’s policies and shall also be responsible for all eligible claims under BCSD's benefit plans
incurred by Transferred Employees prior to the date of Closing. For purposes of this
Agreement, the term “benefit plans” shall include any and/or all of the following: life, accidental
death and dismemberment, short-term disability and workers compensation insurance
benefits, medical dental, vision and prescription drug benefits, long-term disability and

retirement benefits.

9.4 All Transferred Employees enrolied in the County Employees Retirement System
(CERS) immediately prior to accepting a conditional offer of employment with MSD shall
continue to be entitied to all CERS rights and benefits as if the Transferred Employees had

remained an employee of BCSD.

ARTICLE X - DUE DILIGENCE

101 MSD acknowledges that, in making its determination to purchase the BCSD Assets, it
has substantially completed its independent investigation of the assets, liabilities, properties,
projected capital needs and operations of BCSD’s Wastewater System and will acquire the
BCSD Wastewater System as-is except as provided in Sections 10.2 and 10.3 below; however,
MSD will require continued unrestricted access to BCSD’s and Bullitt County’s files and
records to finalize its investigation of BCSD’s assets including all current customers,
easements, the BCSD Service Area, agreements between BCSD and contractors and/or
developers for extension and/or expansion of BCSD’s System, as-built drawings of BCSD
treatment plants, lift stations and other facilities and BCSD's application of policies and
procedures governing employees and wastewater treatment and collection services in its

service area.

BCSD and Bullitt County agree to continue to cooperate with MSD’s due diligence
efforts and shall provide MSD and its representatives with reasonable access to its files and
records, employees, and facilities and properties upon request during normal business hours.

10.2 In addition, prior to execution of the Asset Purchase Agreement, MSD will, at its sole
cost and expense, cause an abstractor selected by MSD to perform a search of the public land
records of Bullitt County, based on records and plans of BCSD’s Wastewater System, to
identify and provide to MSD, title information on any and all recorded easements granted
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BCSD that have not been provided to MSD, and shall attempt to identify any easements that
may be missing.

10.3 Inthe event that, during the Abstractor's review and investigation of public land records,
MSD determines there is a missing easement, BCSD agrees to cooperate with MSD and take
actions as directed by MSD to obtain the easement, including pursuing condemnation shouid
it become necessary for BCSD to file a condemnation action to obtain the easement; provided
however, that any pre-approved third-party costs, other than those of BCSD, shall be paid by
MSD. In the event BCSD has failed to obtain any identified missing easement by the date of
Closing, BCSD shall continue to prosecute any initiated condemnation action to completion
following Closing and MSD shall provide funds for BCSD to pay fair market value to the
landowner for the taking of such easement.

ARTICLE X| - CLOSING / MSD’S OPERATION OF THE SYSTEM

11.1  Pending and conditioned upon the approvals required pursuant to KRS 65.241(2),
65.260((2), 65.300, filings required under KRS 65.290(1), and the consents, approvals,
agreements, orders, certifications, opinions, terminations, releases, and/or waivers described
in Articles V, VI, VIl and VI, closing on the purchase and sale of the BCSD Assets shall take

place on August 31, 2021 (“Closing’/"Closing Date”).

Except as otherwise set forth in this Agreement, from and after the Closing of the
purchase and sale:

11.1.1 MSD shall have complete ownership, possession, use, custody, control and
dominion of and over the BCSD Assets. All power and authority possessed by BCSD in
managing, maintaining, constructing, repairing, rehabilitating, acquiring, regulating, operating,
inspecting, removing, improving and funding the BCSD sewage collection and treatment
system within the BCSD Service Area, including the Big Valley Mobile Home Park Subdivision,
and shall be transferred to MSD and MSD shall be granted the exclusive franchise for the
collection and treatment, and the providing of wastewater system services throughout the
BCSD Service Area as shown and described in Exhibit A.

11.1.2 MSD shall at all times have the authority and responsibility to control, operate,
manage, maintain, modify, repair, replace, construct, install, regulate, collect and administer
revenue for the BCSD and Big Valley Wastewater Systems and shall operate and maintain, or
cause the system to be operated and maintained to meet or achieve current KPDES permit
requirements or applicable compliance schedules provided for in newly negotiated agreed
orders and/or other agreements with KDOW.

11.1.3 All easements, licenses, right-of-ways, rights of access, dedications, and other
interests in real property owned, held, and/or utilized by BCSD and Bullitt County for the
wastewater pumping stations, collector, trunk, and interceptor sewers and pipes, mains,
laterals, manholes, and other facilities of the Wastewater System and services in the BCSD
Service Area, Big Valley Mobile Home Park Subdivision, and Hunters Hollow, except real
property owned in fee, shall be leased by BCSD and Bullitt County to MSD for the payment of
One Dollar ($1.00) per annum.
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11.1.4 MSD shall supply all employees necessary and qualified to operate and
maintain the Wastewater Systems, which employees shall be subject to the standards- of
performance, discipline and control established by MSD under applicable MSD policies.

11.1.5 Tothe extent permitted by law, MSD will cause users of the Wastewater System
within the BCSD Service Area, Big Valley Mobile Home Park and Hunters Holiow to comply
with MSD’s Wastewater Discharge Regulations (Articles 1-4 and 7 of the MSD
Waste/water/Stormwater Discharge Regulations). In the event a determination is made of a
court of competent jurisdiction, the Kentucky Department of Environmental Protection, or the
United States Environmental Protection Agency that MSD lacks authority to apply its
regulations to users of the Wastewater System, the County of Bullitt, by ordinance, shall adopt
MSD’s Sewer Use Regulations, Specifications, Pretreatment Program Standards, and other
applicable rules and regulations, and authorize MSD to enforce said ordinance within the

BCSD Service Area.

11.1.6 Inthe event MSD and the Bullitt County Fiscal Court determine it is necessary
to file an action to condemn real property in the BCSD Service Area after the Wastewater
System.has been transferred to MSD, the determination to condemn shall be in furtherance of
the purposes of this Agreement as set forth in Article V above and in accordance with the
Eminent Domain Act of Kentucky, KRS 416.540, et seq. In addition, the determination by Buliitt
County Fiscal Court to condemn shall be made by resolution, order, or other formal action
which shall also authorize the County of Bullitt to prosecute the action and to lease the
condemned property to MSD. MSD agrees to and shall pay the costs of the condemnation

action.

11.1.7 MSD shall use its best efforts to provide a long-range regional wastewater
solution for the residents of Bullitt County that will be cost-effective, improve water quality, add
capacity and that will provide mutual benefit to BCSD, Bullitt County, MSD and the residents

of Bullitt County.
ARTICLE Xl - BCSD SERVICE AREA RATES, RENTALS AND CHARGES

121  From and after closing of the purchase and sale of the BCSD Wastewater System, the
cost and expense incurred by MSD in operating and maintaining the System shall be financed
by MSD from any and all sources that are permitted under applicable law and the powers
delegated hereunder, which shall include the authority to collect rates, rentals and charges
from residential, commercial and industrial customers in the former BCSD Service Area for

wastewater services.

12.2 The Parties intend that the initial charges by MSD applicable to wastewater customers
for wastewater collection and treatment services, and for capacity, in all areas of the former
BCSD service area, including areas served by the Big Valley Wastewater System and the
Hunters Hollow Wastewater Collection System, will be no more than the charges being paid
by customers for wastewater collection and treatment services, and for capacity, immediately
prior to the transfer of the System. The Parties also intend that, from and after the date of
transfer, through December 31, 2026, MSD increases in charges for wastewater collection and
treatment services will not exceed the increases authorized by Bullitt County Ordinance No.
17-2, adopted by Bullitt County Fiscal Court on February 7, 2017. Accordingly:
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12.2.1 MSD will maintain existing wastewater charges until December 31, 2021. MSD
will maintain capacity charges until December 31, 2024.

12.2.2 Beginning January 1, 2022 and each calendar year thereafter through January
1, 2026, MSD will increase wastewater charges in the former BCSD service area 12% each
calendar year. Starting January 1, 2027, and years thereafter, MSD will increase wastewater
charges by no more than 3% until charges equalize with charges of MSD’s Jefferson County
customers. Once charges equalize, MSD’s Rates, Rentals, and Charges for all customer
classes will be applied to Bullitt County customers going forward.

12.2.3 MSD will maintain the existing capacity charges until December 31, 2024, at
which time MSD will evaluate those charges and fees for consistency with others in the region
and to develop facilities to accommodate projected growth in Bullitt County.

12.3 For former BCSD customers residing in areas of Bullitt County served by the Big Valley
Wastewater System and the Hunters Hollow Collection System, MSD will maintain the existing
charges for wastewater collection and treatment services until December 31, 2021.

12.3.1 Beginning January 1, 2022, MSD will increase wastewater charges for these
customers to rates equal with other customers in Bullitt County that become effective January
1, 2022. These customers will also pay equivalent capacity charges beginning January 1, 2022
and each calendar year thereafter.

12.3.2 Beginning January 1, 2023, and each calendar year thereafter through January
1, 2026, MSD will increase wastewater charges for areas served by the Big Valley Wastewater
System and Hunters Hollow Collection System by 12%. Starting January 1, 2027, and years
thereafter, MSD will increase wastewater charges by no more than 3% until charges equalize
with charges of MSD’s Jefferson County customers. Once charges equalize, MSD’s Rates,
Rentals, and Charges for all customer classes will be applied going forward.

12.4  With respect to billing and collection, and except as set forth in the billing services
agreements to be assigned to MSD at Closing, the customers within the former BCSD Service
Area, including areas served by the Big Valley Wastewater System and the Hunters Hollow
Collection System, shall be subject to the same requirements and shall have the same
- accommodations as customers in Jefferson County regarding the time limit for payments,
penalties, and the resolution of billing disputes, disagreements, complaints, and all other
related matters.

ARTICLE Xill - DISSOLUTION OF BCSD

13.1  Within one hundred and eighty (180) days after Closing, the County of Bullitt may
choose to dissolve BCSD and transfer any remaining assets, rights, responsibilities, and
obligations to the County of Bullitt without the written consent or approval of MSD. In the event
the County of Bullitt dissolves BCSD and BCSD has not completed remaining obligations under
this Agreement and the Asset Purchase Agreement, the County shall assume BCSD's
remaining obligations.

ARTICLE XIV - ADMINISTRATION
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14.1 A joint board consisting of the County Judge Executive of Bullitt County, Chairman of
the Board of BCSD, the Mayor of Hillview, and the Executive Director of MSD, and/or their
designees, shall be responsible for administering the cooperative undertaking set out in this
Agreement as it pertains to their respective agencies. Such joint board is created to satisfy
the requirements of KRS 65.250(2)(a) and is not an interlocal agency.

ARTICLE XV - LIABILITY

15.1 In performing the wastewater collection and treatment services required by this
Agreement, MSD does not warrant or guarantee the continuance or quality of any of the
services provided under this Agreement, and shall not be liable for damages, expenses, or
losses occurring by reason of suspension or discontinuance of the services for any reason
which is beyond the reasonable control of MSD, including without limitation pandemics, floods,
storms, tornadoes, lightening, landslides, and other acts of God, strikes, lockouts, vandalism,
and serious accidental damage, or other similar circumstances.

ARTICLE XVI - DISPUTE RESOLUTION

16.1 The Parties recognize that disputes may arise during the term of this Agreement and
that such disputes may adversely affect the performance of services required hereunder. The
parties further recognize that a prompt comprehensive approach to avoiding and resolving
disputes is beneficial to all parties. The parties therefore agree that the following dispute
resolution procedure shall be used to resolve any disputes that may arise.

16.1.1 Within 30 working days after the commencement of an event that may result in
the making of a claim by a party, or within 20 working days at the end of said event, whichever
is longer, the claiming party shall give a written claim to the other party. The claim shall set
forth the circumstances giving right to the claim, facts, documents, supporting and/or back-up
data, and other information supporting the claim, the relief sought, and those persons with
knowledge of the circumstances giving rise to the claim. Failure by the claiming party to
provide written notice of the claim as provided herein shall result in a waiver of the claim.

16.1.2 If a party receiving a claim objects, in whole or in part, to the claim, it shall give
written notice of its objection to the other party within 30 working days after receiving said
notice, to include the basis for the objection, all documents, back-up data, and other
information which would disprove the claim, and the names of any persons having knowledge
that would tend to disprove the claim. The notice may be mailed, tele-copied, hand-delivered,
or otherwise transmitted to the other party. If a party receiving a claim fails to give written
notice of its objection as provided herein, the receiving party shall be conclusively deemed to
agree with said claim and the claimant shall be entitled to the relief requested.

16.1.3 Ifthe party receiving the claim files a notice of objection, a senior executive from
each party involved shall meet within 30 working days after commencement of the dispute in

an attempt to resolve the dispute.

16.1.4 If the senior executives are unable to resolve the dispute, the senior executives
of the parties, or their attorneys, shall meet within 10 working days after a party has received
a written demand for mediation, and agree on a mediator. If the parties are unable to agree
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upon a mediator, either party may file a written demand for mediation on the other and a
mediator shall be appointed pursuant to the Commercial Mediation Rules of the American
Arbitration Association. The date of the mediation shall be set within 30 working days after the
selection of a mediator. All disputes, including disputes identified after the selection of the
mediator, shall be submitted to the mediator.

16.1.5 if the parties are unable to resolve ail of their disputes in mediation, or if the
mediation is not set within 30 working days after a mediator is selected, either party may pursue
its remedy in a court of law. However, mediation shall be an express condition precedent to
the pursuit of any remedy in civil court.

ARTICLE XVI — DISPOSITION UPON TERMINATION OF SERVICE
TO BULLITT COUNTY

17.1 In the event the Parties agree to a termination of this Agreement after closing, MSD
shall be entitled to retain all property acquired by MSD as part of the purchase and sale
agreement between MSD and BCSD. All property leased by BCSD and Bullitt County to MSD
shall be returned to Bullitt County and BCSD.

17.2  BCSD and Bullitt County agree that, in the event of termination, BCSD or Bullitt County
shall assume responsibility for the provision of wastewater collection and treatment services
for all customers within the former BCSD Service Area. BCSD and Buillitt County shall have
the option to purchase from MSD, all or part of the former BCSD, Big Valley and Hunters
Hollow Wastewater Systems, including any additional property and/or assets constructed,
acquired, used and/or held by MSD as part of the Systems. Should BCSD or Bullitt County
chose to exercise the option, BCSD or Buliitt County and MSD shall mutually agree upon a
method of valuing the Wastewater Systems for the purpose of negotiating a fair and reasonable
price, and terms and conditions of the purchase and sale, giving due consideration to, among
other things, customer accounts, needed improvements, outstanding debt issued by MSD for
Systems construction, improvements and/or replacements, and other liabilities and obligations
of MSD connected with its ownership of the Systems.

17.3  In the event this Agreement is terminated and Bullitt County chooses not to purchase
the former Systems, Bullitt County shall assume or shall be obligated to make adequate
provision for payment of annual debt service on all outstanding debt issued by MSD for the
provision of wastewater collection and treatment services for the residents in the Bullitt County,
Big Valley Mobile Home Park Subdivision and Hunters Hollow service areas until such debt is
retired.

ARTICLE XVIil - MISCELLANEOUS

18.1 Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all previous agreements, oral or
written, between the Parties, and represents the entire agreement between the Parties. No
other agreements or representations, oral or written, have been made by the Parties.

18.2 Amendments. This Agreement may not be modified, altered, or amended, except in
writing properly executed by an authorized representative of the Parties.
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18.3 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with
the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

18.4 Disclaimer of Third Party Beneficiary. This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the
Parties and no right or cause of action shall accrue to or for the benefit of any third party that
is not a formal party hereto. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended or shall
be construed to confer upon or give any person or corporation other than the Parties any right,
remedy, or claim under or by reason of this Agreement or any provisions or conditions of this

Agreement.

18.5 Notice. Any notice or document required to be delivered under this Agreement shall be
in writing and shall be deemed received by the other party at the earlier of the date actually
received or five (5) business days after the date deposited in a United States Postal Service
depository, postage prepaid, registered or certified mail, addressed as set forth below:

County of Bullitt:

Bullitt County Judge-Executive
Bullitt County Fiscal Court
300 S. Buckman Street
Shepherdsville, KY 40165

Bullitt County Sanitation District:

Chair of the BCSD Board
297 Lees Lane N.
Louisvillq, Kentucky 40229

Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District:

Executive Director

Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District
700 West Liberty Street
Louisville, Kentucky 40203

18.6 Assignment: With the exception of Section 13.1, neither this Agreement, nor any right
or obligation of this Agreement, shall be transferred or assigned except upon the express

written consent of the Parties.

18.7 Severability: If any portion of the Agreement, the deletion of which would not adversely
affect the receipt of any material benefit by any party to this Agreement, is for any reason held
or declared to be invalid or unenforceable, such determination shall not affect the remaining

portions of this Agreement.
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18.8 Successors and Assigns: This Agreement shall be binding on BCSD, Bullitt County,
and MSD and their respective successors and assigns.

ARTICLE XIX — ATTORNEY GENERAL AND
LOUISVILLE METRO GOVERNMENT APPROVALS

19.1  The Parties acknowledge and agree that this Agreement is governed by the Interlocal
Cooperation Act under KRS 65.210 ef seq., and as such must be approved by the Attorney
General of Kentucky and the Mayor and Legislative Council of Louisville Metro Government.
Bullitt County, BCSD and MSD agree that after execution of this Agreement and authorization
by their respective governing bodies, that they will expeditiously seek approval by the
approving authorities. However, until such time as the approving authorities have approved
this Agreement in its entirety, none of the Parties will have any obligation to perform the terms
and conditions of this Agreement. In the event the Attorney General or Mayor and Legislative
Council of Louisville Metro Government disapproves of this Agreement, this Agreement shall

be null and void.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first written
above.

COUNTY OF BULLITT, KENTUCKY BULLITT COUNTY SANITATION
DISTRICT
) .—/ # . ' ,‘.“ \{\.- ‘.h . I _. Ir.
By:4 o J o o | Py T3t LA = By N . & S e
As: County Judge Executive As: BCSD Board Chair
Authorized by Fiscal Court on _~ : Authorizedon .5 — & ~ R /

LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY
METROROLITAN SEWER DISTRICT

s _Erecotive Dpecra R
Authorized by Resolution Adopted: E’B (

Approvesgas to form and legality:

¥

Board Counsel
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Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District

APPROVED AS TO COMPLIANCE WITH

KRS 65.210 - 65.300

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY
q .f(.'l ;- f.f : j,
By: YA AINAM A
|},":_J

| W | .
Date: | L [ & |
APPROVED:
MAYOR

LOUISVILLE METRO GOVERNMENT

By:

Date:

19

APPROVED:
PRESIDENT

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL
LOUISVILLE METRO GOVERNMENT

By:

Date:







Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District

APPROVED AS TO COMPLIANCE WITH

KRS 65.210 - 65.300

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY

By:

Date:

APPROVED:

MAYOR
LOUISVILLE METRO GO/\{ERNMENT

£ ( A

-
2 = AN 7 — g \"‘-

13

APPROVED:
PRESIDENT

LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL
LOUISVILLE METRO GOVERNMENT

By:

Date:







Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District

APPROVED AS TO COMPLIANCE WITH

KRS 65.210 - 65.300

THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY

By:

Date:

APPROVED:

MAYOR
LOUISVILLE METRO GOVERNMENT

By:

Date:

19

APPROVED:

PRESIDENT
LEGISLATIVE CO?JCIL

LOUISVILLE METRO SOVERNMENT
.// ,»f







FIRST AMENDMENT TO INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT (this
“First Amendment”) is made and entered into this / 2. day of M v S 7 2021 by and
between Bullitt County, Kentucky, a political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky,
acting by and through the Bullitt County Fiscal Court (hereinafter “Bullitt County”), Bullitt County
Sanitation District (hereinafter “BCSD"), a special district created and existing pursuant to KRS
220.010 ef seq. and KRS 67.715(2), and the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan
Sewer District, a political subdivision and public body corporate, duly created and existing
pursuant to the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statutes, Chapter 76 ef seq., acting by and
through its duly appointed Board, its statutory governing body (hereinafter “MSD") (collectively
hereinafter referred to as “the Parties”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Parties have entered into that certain interlocal Cooperation
Agreement dated May 6, 2021 (“Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, KRS 65.210 et seq. requires certain approvals of the Agreement, including
the approvals of the Kentucky Attorney General and the Louisville Metro Council. As of the
date of this First Amendment, the Kentucky Attorney General has provided his approval of the
Agreement, contingent on the approval of the Louisville Metro Council. The Louisville Metro
Council has not approved the Agreement in the timeframe originally expected by the Parties.
The Metro Council has scheduled the first reading of a resolution to approve the Agreement
for July 29, 2021 and a second reading for August 13, 2021.; and

WHEREAS, in light of the outstanding approvals, the Parties desire to amend Section
11.1 of the Agreement to extend the Closing Date as outlined below.

AGREEMENT

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual covenants, promises
and conditions set forth below, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as follows:

1. Recitals. The above recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by
this reference.

2. Definitions. Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms used herein have
the same meanings assigned to them in the Agreement.

3. Amendments.

a. Section 11.1 of the Agreement is hereby revised by deleting the date
“August 31, 2021” and replacing it with “September 30, 2021."

4. Reaffirmation. Except as expressly modified by this First Amendment, the
Agreement is hereby ratified and confirmed by the Parties and shall remain in full
force and effect.

tabbies
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5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in one or more counterparts,
each of which shall be deemed to be an original, but all of which shall constitute
one and the same instrument. This Amendment may be executed by facsimile or
other electronic medium signature (including by .pdf), which shall be effective as if
it were an original executed counterpart of this First Amendment.

[End of Text; Signature Page Follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this First Amendment as of the

date first written above.

COUNTY OF BULLITT, KENTUCKY

By:

As: County Judge Executive

Authorized by Fiscal Court on

LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY
METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT

By:

As:

Authorized by Resolution Adopted:

Approved as to form and legality:

Board Counsel
Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District

e

BULLITT COUNTY SAN

7

DISTRICT

._O /Q
7

A$: BCSD Board Chair

Authorized on &- 1 '-44

By:
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Workers being iowered into MSD's 4-mile Waterway Protaction Tunnel, The tunnel will
protect the community and our watervsays from combined sewer overflows.
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700 West Liberty Street | Louisville, KY 40203-191
Phone; 502.540.6000 | LouisvilleMSD.org

October 30, 2020
Letter of Transmittal
To the customers and investors of Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District,

As the Chief Financial Officer of Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District (MSD) it is my pleasure
to present the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.

Responsibility for the accuracy, completeness and fairness of the data presented herein, including all disclosures,
rests with MSD. To provide a reasonable basis for making these representations, the management of MSD has
established a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed to both protect its assets from loss, theft,
or misuse and to compile sufficient reliable information for the preparation of MSD's financial statements in
conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).

MSD’s comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute
assurance that the financial statements will be free from material misstatement. To the best of MSD’s knowledge
and belief, the accompanying data is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to
present fairly the financial position and results of the operations of MSD. All disclosures necessary to enable the
reader to understand MSD’s financial activities have been included. GAAP requires that management provide a
narrative to accompany the basic financial statements in the form of Management's Discussion and Analysis which
is found beginning on page 3. This letter of transmittal is intended to be read in conjunction with that analysis.

MSD was created in 1946 as a public body corporate and subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky. MSD has
complete control, possession and supervision of the sewer and drainage systems within the majority of Louisville
Metro, which now comprises all of Jefferson County, Kentucky. In addition, MSD has control, possession and
supervision of the sewer system in portions of Oldham and Shelby County, Kentucky. Chapter 76 of the Kentucky
Revised Statutes authorizes MSD to construct additions, betterments, and extensions within its service area and to
recover the cost of its services in accordance with rate schedules adopted by its Board.

MSD is a component unit of the Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government. The Louisville Metro Mayor
appoints, with the approval of the Louisville Metro Council, the members to MSD’s governing Board, its Executive
Director, Chief Engineer and Secretary/Treasurer. The Board, which has statutory authority to enter into contracts
and agreements for the management, regulation and financing of MSD, manages its business and activities. The
Board has full statutory responsibility for approving and revising MSD's annual budgets, for financing deficits and
for disposition of surplus funds. MSD has no special financial relationship with the Louisville Metro Government;
however, effective July 1, 2006, MSD began providing free sewer and drainage services to Louisville Metro
Government. The value of these services in fiscal year 2020 was $6.6 million.

MSD is required by law and by its Revenue Bond Resolution to undergo an annual independent audit of its financial
statements. The goal of the independent audit is to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of
MSD for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 are free of material misstatement. The independent audit
involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements;
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. The independent auditor’s report can be found at the beginning of the

financial section of this report.

Customer Base:

MSD’s revenue is derived from wastewater and drainage service charges collected from residential, commercial,
and industrial customers. Wastewater service charges are distributed to respective customer classes on the basis
of actual costs incurred to collect and treat wastewater. For fiscal 2020, 60% of MSD's sewer service charge
revenue came from residential customers, 31% came from commercial customers and 9% from industrial
customers. Drainage service charges are assessed based on the equivalent service units (ESU) for each parcel of
property. An ESU is defined by MSD as 2,500 square feet of impervious area. For fiscal 2020, 38% of MSD’s



drainage service charge revenue came from residential customers, 56% came from commercial customers and 6%
from industrial customers.

Local Economy:

A report entitled Louisville Metro Demographic and Economic Projections published by the University of Louisville's
Urban Studies Institute (USI) in December 2015 projects Jefferson County will grow by 131,135 people, or 18%,
between 2010 and 2040. USI predicts an increase in population within MSD's service area of nearly 12%. This
translates to an approximate increase in wastewater flows of 7% during the next 20 years although growth is not
expected to be uniform. Population growth outside the core market area (generally defined as the areas surrounding
downtown that were not part of the original City of Louisville) is projected to continue at a faster pace than growth
inside the core. Jefferson County is projected to gain 65,425 households, a 21% increase, between 2010 and 2040.

Trade and transportation are central to the Louisville economy. Louisville sits at the crossroads of three major
Interstate highways, 1-64, 1-65, and I1-71 and is home to the UPS Worldport air hub.

The United States Department of Labor's Bureau of Labor Statistics listed the unemployment rate for Jefferson
County Kentucky as 6.5% in June 2020 which was lower than the United States overall unemployment rate of 10.2%
for the same time period. The latest published U.S. Census Bureau statistics lists median household income in
Jefferson County as $51,307 (2018 dollars). Additional information on demographic and economic conditions for
Louisville can be found in the Statistical Section of this report.

2020 Highlights:

o Blueprint 2025: MSD invested significant time and effort in fiscal year 2020 implementing an Integrated
Strategic Business Plan, Blueprint 2025. Blueprint 2025 is our action plan to transform MSD into the Utility
of the Future by the year 2025. The strategic purpose behind Blueprint 2025 is to deliver MSD’s three core
business functions in a collaborative, efficient, innovative manner to meet regulatory requirements and
community level of service through a sustainable, purpose driven and skilled workforce. Blueprint 2025
establishes the following Vision, Mission and Critical Success Factors:

Vision: The innovative, regional utility for safe, clean waterways.

Mission: Provide quality wastewater, drainage and flood protection services to protect public health and
safety through sustainable solutions, fiscal stewardship and strategic partnerships.

Critical Success Factors:
o Sustain quality and compliant wastewater, stormwater and flood protection services.
o Earn the community’s trust daily as the leading provider of quality wastewater, stormwater and
flood protection services.
o Transform into an employer of purpose where employees are provided the opportunity to thrive.
Ensure fiscal stewardship and sustainability of community resources.
o Realize operation efficiencies and revenue generation through strategic partnerships and
innovations.

O

e Consent Decree: Fourteen years ago MSD began an effort, now projected to cost $1.15 billion, to eliminate
sanitary sewer overflows and reduce combined sewer overflows by 98% in a typical rainfall year. Because
much of Louisville's sewer system was installed nearly 100 years ago, rainwater can mix with wastewater
and overwhelm the pipes causing a combination of wastewater and stormwater to overflow into the Ohio
River and our local streams.

Underground storage basins and the Waterway Protection Tunnel are part of MSD's solution to prevent
sewage from overflowing into Louisville’s waterways. The basins and tunnel are designed to capture
rainwater and sewage which would otherwise flow untreated into our waterways. These underground
storage areas retain the mixture of rainwater and sewage until the rain subsides and system capacity is
available. Water is then conveyed to one of MSD's Water Quality Treatment Centers, treated, and returned
to our local streams or the Ohioc River. When the storage basins and tunnel are complete MSD will have
approximately 250 million gallons of storage capacity.

e Capital Project Awards: In June of 2020, MSD's Shawnee Park Combined Sewer Overflow Basin was
named one of twelve new “Infrastructure Gamechangers” by the American Society of Civil Engineers. The
basin previously won a National Award of Excellence, a National Best Design for Engineering, and a



National Award of Merit from the Design-Build Institute of America. It was also named the Slag Cement
Association Project of the Year and won the Engineering Excellence Award from the American Council of

Engineering Companies of Kentucky.

The 20-million gallon basin is a large capture and release basin used to temporarily store wastewater and
stormwater during wet-weather events and gradually release them back to the sewer system for treatment
when capacity is available. The basin project also included a pledge from the design-build contractor,
Ulliman Schutte Construction, to hire local labor. The project had 225 Jefferson County residents working
in various positions. Ulliman Schutte reported 83 percent local labor usage along with 21 percent Minority
Business Enterprise and 14 percent Women Business Enterprise participation. The $78 million project is
part of MSD’s Consent Decree work and was placed into service on June 21, 2019.

Rate Increase: On July 29, 2019 the MSD Board approved a rate increase of 6.9 percent for wastewater
and drainage service charges on all bills effective August 1, 2019. The average monthly residential
wastewater bill (based on 5,000 gallons per month) increased by $3.47 from $50.10 to $53.59. Monthly
drainage service charges increased by $0.68 from $9.90 to $10.58.

OCEA Merger: MSD acquired the Oldham County Environmental Authority (OCEA) wastewater system on
June 30, 2020. Day-to-day work at the facilities will continue to be performed under a contract with Veolia
Water North America until 2022. The merger adds about 6,000 customers (primarily residential) to MSD's
wastewater system.

Regionalization is a part of MSD’s Blueprint 2025 strategic business plan to transform into the utility of the
future. A regional approach to wastewater treatment allows MSD to bring economies of scale and
improvements that benefit the entire area. One of our initial projects in Oldham County will be to
decommission the outdated Ash Avenue Wastewater Treatment Plant, which was designed to operate for
20 years but has been in service for more than 30 years. MSD will replace this outdated plant with a more
cost-effective solution by directing that wastewater to our existing Floyds Fork Water Quality Treatment
Center. This will improve sewer service reliability and improve the health of local waterways. The project

will be complete by the end of 2021.

Supplier Diversity and Community Benefits Program Commitment: MSD’s new Supplier Diversity program
launched on June 1, 2020. The new program has higher inclusiveness goals for minority and women-owned
businesses. This will improve the diversity of firms that receive MSD contracts and create community
benefits in neighborhoods where MSD is working. With this initiative, MSD renews our commitment to
equity, justice and transparency in how we serve our customers.

Construction and construction-related services valued at or above $150,000 must now include goals for the
following qualified vendors who can perform a commercially useful scope of work on the project:

o African-Americans — 18 percent
o Asian-Indian Americans — 2 percent
o Caucasian Females — 15 percent

MSD formalized a Community Benefits program in July 2019. The goal of this program is to leverage the
economic and social impact MSD has in the community with its large-scale projects by ensuring ratepayers
benefit from MSD's capital investment. The Community Benefits program provides opportunities in
workforce development, skills-trade training, small business outreach and mentorship, and exposes youth
to careers in the water sector. The vendor provides a financial contribution, volunteer hours or in-kind
services to local non-profits and schools in Jefferson County.

Financial Planning:
MSD is focused on continuously strengthening its financial position through planning and analysis in order to meet

its short-term and long-term operational and infrastructure plans.

MSD's short-term plan looks forward five years at a time. Formalized budgets are developed and approved annually
by the Board for operating and capital spending. Budgets are developed with an eye toward maintaining operational
efficiency and achieving incremental improvement of MSD's critical debt service coverage and debt to operating



MSD’s long-term financial planning window is twenty years and is supported by the Critical Repair and
Reinvestment Program and a twenty year comprehensive financial model. The financial model enables MSD to
analyze alternative scenarios in order to optimize resources in the face of competing priorities. Rate adjustments
are carefully considered in conjunction with bond issues and other debt with an eye toward maintaining affordability
for the ratepayer. Key long-term considerations are debt service coverage, maintaining level debt service payments,
and maintaining adequate cash reserves.

Awards
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a Certificate of

Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to MSD for its comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR)
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. This was the 30th consecutive year that MSD has achieved this prestigious
award. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, MSD must publish an easily readable and efficiently
organized CAFR. This report must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal
requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe that our current CAFR continues to
meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and we will submit it to GFOA to determine its eligibility
for another certificate.

Acknowledgements
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individual contributions. | would also like to take this opportunity to thank the MSD Board of Directors and the
Executive Leadership Team for their continued support.

Respectfully Submitted,

FISPIA

Brad Good
Chief Financial Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Board of Directors
Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District
Louisville, Kentucky

Report on Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer
District, a component unit of the Louisville-Jefferson County Metro Government, as of and for the years ended June
30, 2020 and 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Louisville and
Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable
to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District, as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the changes in
financial position and cash flows thereof for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.



Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management'’s Discussion
and Analysis on pages 3 through 11, the Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability on page 62, and
the Schedule of Pension Contributions on page 64, the Schedule of Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability on
page 65, and the Schedule of OPEB Contributions on page 66 be presented to supplement the basic financial
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for piacing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and
comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inguiries, the basic financial
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively comprise
the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District’s basic financial statements. The introductory and
statistical sections are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audits of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on

them.

Other Reporting Required by Governmental Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 30, 2020 on our
consideration of the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District's internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements
and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.
That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering
the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District's internal control over financial reporting and

compliance.
Cunw LL P

Crowe LLP

Louisville, Kentucky
October 30, 2020



The management of Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District (MSD) present this
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. This
narrative provides the reader with condensed comparative financial data, an analysis of the results of our
operations, a description of capital asset and long term debt activity, and a discussion of future economic
factors that will impact our operations. This MD&A is intended to be read in conjunction with the financial

statements immediately following this section.

e MSD merged with Oldham County Environmental Authority (OCEA) as of June 30, 2020. At the
merger date, total assets increased by $42.6 million, total liabilities increased by $28.8 million and
net position increased by $13.7 million™.

e Total net position increased from fiscal 2019 to fiscal 2020 by $26.1million, or 3.4%.

e Total assets and deferred outflows of resources increased $197.6 million, or 5.7%, from fiscal 2019
to fiscal 2020.

e Operating revenues increased in fiscal 2020 by $24.7 million, or 8.4% primarily due to a rate
increase of 6.9% effective August 1, 2019.

» Operating expenses increased by $23.2 million, or 11.4% as a result of increases in depreciation
and amortization expense of $11 million and service and administrative costs of $6.6 million over
fiscal 2019.

e MSD maintained unrestricted cash and investments totaling $100 million as of June 30, 2020. This
is equal to 331 days cash on hand compared to 283 days cash on hand at June 30, 2019.

e Total debt coverage was 1.60x for fiscal 2020 compared to 1.54x for fiscal 2019 while senior debt
coverage was 1.88x for fiscal 2020 compared to 1.81x for fiscal 2019.

MSD uses the accrual basis of accounting to prepare its financial statements wherein revenues are
recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time a liability is incurred. MD&A serves as a
narrative introduction to the financial statements which consist of the following parts:

Statement of Net Position: This statement includes all of MSD’s assets, liabilities and deferred outflow and
inflow of resources. It provides information about the nature and amounts of investments in assets and the
obligations to creditors. In addition, it provides the basis for computing rate of return, evaluating the capital
structure of MSD and assessing the liquidity and financial flexibility of the organization.

Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position: This statement identifies the revenues
generated and expenses incurred during the fiscal year and helps the user to assess the financial efficiency
of MSD during the time period for which the statement relates.

Statement of Cash Flows: This statement provides information related to MSD’s cash receipts and cash
expenditures during the fiscal year. It reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash
resulting from operations, investing, and financing activities.

Notes to the Financial Statements: The notes contain descriptions of the policies underlying the amounts
displayed in the financial statements along with other information that is essential to a full understanding
of the data provided in the financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information: Information is presented related to MSD'’s pension and Other Post-
Employment Benefits (OPEB) including annual contributions made to the plans and annual investment

returns.

1 See Note 1 — Reporting Entity for additional details.



Other supplemental information is presented for comparative analysis and is not part of the basic financial
statements. Other supplemental information consists of:

Statistical Section: Ten years of financial statement information, operating indicators, and demographic

information is presented for comparative analysis.
20202019 w8201

FIGURE 1- CONDENSED NET POSITION INFORMATION
: Increase Yo inereasc M
(arounts in thousands) FY 2020 FY 2019 FY 2018  (Decrease) Change (Docrease) ‘Changs:
|Unrestricted current assets $ 136,424 $ 116,928 $ 109,940 $ 19,496 16.7% $ 6,988 6.4%
|Restricted cumrent assets 17,776 52,520 29,987 (34,744) (66.2%) 22,533 75.1%
Capital assets 3,302,757 3,118,659 2,925,982 184,098 5.9% 192,677 6.6%
Restricted non-current assets 79,555 76,678 152,438 2,877 3.8% (75,760) (49.7%})
Other non-current assets 29,799 31,644 32,221 (1,845} (5.8%) (577) (1.8%)
Total assets 3,566,311 3,396,429 3,250,568 169,882 5.0% 145,861 4.5%
Deferred outflows of resources 79,767 52,018 54,267 27,749 53.3% (2,249) 4.1%)
Total assets and deferred outflows 3,646,078 3,448,447 3,304,835 197,631 5.7% 143,612 4.3%
Current liabilities 24,176 18,168 16,342 6,008 33.1% 1,826 11.2%
Current liabilities from restricted assets 105,856 95,537 108,978 10,319 10.8% (13,441} (12.3%)
Non-current liabilities _ 2,702,796 2,551,235 2,460,458 151,561 5.9% 90,777 3.7%
Total liabilities 2,832,828 2,664,940 2,585,778 167,888 6.3% 79,162 3.1%
Deferred inflows of resources 16,520 _ 12,955 10,383 3,585 27.5% 2,572 24.8%
Totat liabilities and deferred outflows 2,849,348 2,677,895 2,596,161 171,453 6.4% 81,734 3.1% |
Net invesiment in capital assets 684,412 672,304 528,377 12,108 1.8% 143,927 27.2% :
Restricted, net 80,421 81,207 156,425 (786) {1.0%) (75,218) (48.1%})
Unrestricted 31,897 17,041 23,872 14,856 87.2% (6,831) (28.8%
Total net position 796,730 770,552 708,674 26,178 3.4% 61,878 8.7% |
Total liabilities, deferred inflows & net position $ 3,646,078 § 3,448,447 $ 3,304,835 $ 197,631 57% $ 143,612 4.3% |
|

MSD’s net position increased $26.1 million, or 3.4%, in fiscal 2020 and increased $61.8
million, or 8.7%, in fiscal 2019 (see Figure 1). Increases or decreases in net position serve as useful
indicators of MSD’s financial condition over time.

The largest portion of MSD’s net position is its net investment in capital assets. Net investment in capital
assets increased $12.1 million in fiscal 2020 and increased $143.9 million in fiscal 2019. Capital asset
construction and acquisitions were funded in 2020 by $135 million of commercial paper notes?, cash
generated from operations, and contributions in aid of construction from developers. Capital asset
construction and acquisitions were funded in 2019 by a $120 million of commercial paper notes, cash
generated from operations, and contributions in aid of construction from developers

Funds restricted for a specific purpose by the 1993 Sewer and Drainage System Revenue Bond Resolution
(the General Bond Resolution) are classified as restricted net position. MSD is required by the resolution
to make monthly transfers to its debt service accounts sufficient to meet the semi-annual debt service
payments on outstanding bonds. The General Bond Resolution sets a debt service reserve requirement
equal to at least 10% of the face amount of all bonds issued under the resolution, 100% of the maximum
aggregate net debt service in the current or any future fiscal year or 125% of the average aggregate net
debt service in the current or any future fiscal year. MSD funds the reserve at 100% of maximum aggregate
net debt service with a combination of invested cash and a $75 million debt service reserve surety policy3.
Restricted net position decreased $0.7 million from fiscal 2019 to fiscal 2020. Restricted net position
decreased $75.2 million from fiscal 2018 to fiscal 2019 as the remaining funds in the 2017 construction
fund were spent and assets previously restricted for the debt reserve were freed up by the issuance of the
debt service reserve surety policy were spent on construction.

2 See Note 7 — Long-Term Debt
3 See Note 3 for additional information.




The remaining balance of MSD’s net position is unrestricted and may be used for any allowable purpose.
Unrestricted net position increased $14.8 million from fiscal 2019 to fiscal 2020 primarily as the result of the
OCEA merger. Unrestricted net position decreased $6.8 million from fiscal 2018 to fiscal 2019 as MSD’s
pension and OBEB obligations increased.

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources increased by $197.6 million in fiscal 2020. This increase
can be attributed primarily to additions to plant, lines and other facilities. Total assets and deferred outflows
of resources increased by $143.6 million in fiscal 2019. This increase can be attributed primarily to additions
to plant, lines and other facilities.

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources increased in 2020 by $171.4 million. Noncurrent liabilities
account for most of this growth with $135 million in additional commercial paper notes issued and
outstanding at the end of the year. Deferred inflows of resources increased by $3.5 million primarily due to
an increase in the OPEB deferred inflow. Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources increased in
2019 by $81.7 million. Current liabilities decreased by $11.6 million. Noncurrent liabilities increased by
$90.7 million as commercial paper issuances were offset by a reduction in bonds payable. Deferred inflows
of resources increased by $2.5 million primarily due to an increase in the OPEB deferred inflow.

FIGURE 2 - CONDENSED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES N NET POSITION NEORMATION

- 2020-2018 2019-2018
~ Increase . Increase %
(atnaunts 1n thousantls) EY2020  FY2019  FY2018  (Dscrease)  Change (Decreasej Change
Operating revenues
Service charges $312,859 $289,173 $ 274,504 $ 23,686 8.2% $ 14,669 5.3%
Other operating income 6,198 5,195 4,645 - 1,003 19.3% 550 11.8%
Total operating revenues 319,057 294,368 279,149 24,689 8.4% 15,219 5.5%
Non-operating revenues 592 18,692 16,529 (18,100) (96.8%) 2,163 13.1%
Total revenues 319,649 313,060 295,678 6,589 2.1% 17,382 5.9%
Operating expenses
Service and administrative costs 110,302 103,699 93,800 6,603 6.4% 9,899 10.6%
GASB 68/75 pension expense 17,826 12,243 10,852 5,683 45.6% 1,391 12.8%
| Depreciation & amortization expense 98,872 87,882 77,954 10,990 12.5% 9,928 12.7%
Total operating expenses 227,000 203,824 182,606 23,176 11.4% 21,218 11.6%
Non-operating expenses
Interest expense 100,387 96,214 90,779 4,173 4.3% 5,435 6.0% |
Amortization of debt discount/premium (10,284} (11,527) (12,051) 1,243 (10.8%}) 524 (4.3%)
Change in fair value - swaps (812) 13,597 (16,317) (14,409) (106.0%) 29914  (183.3%)
Total non-operating expenses 89,291 98,284 62,411 . (8,993) {9.2%) 35,873 57.5%
Total expenses 316,291 302,108 245,017 14,183 4.7% 57,091 23.3%
Income before capital contributions 3,358 10,952 50,661 (7,594) (69.3%) (39,709) (78.4%)
Capital contributions 9,085 50,926 12,726 (41.841) (82.2%) 38,200 _300.2%
Increase (decrease) in net position 12,443 61,878 63,387 (49,435) (79.9%) (1,509) (2.4%)
Net position - Beginning 770,552 708,674 645,287 61,878 8.7% 63,387 9.8%
Net position - OCEA Merger 13,735 - - 13,735 0.0% - 0.0%
Net position - Ending $ 796,730 $ 770,552 $708,674 $ 26,178 3.4% $ 61,878 8.7%

Operating revenues as of June 30, 2020 were $319 million (see Figure 2). This
represents an increase of $24.6 million, or 8.4%, in fiscal 2020. The increase in operating revenues was
driven by a Board-approved rate increase of 6.9% effective August 1, 2019. In addition, $6.9 million in
wastewater service charges were recognized in connection with the OCEA mergert. Wastewater service
charges totaled $237.8 million which is an increase of $18.3 million, or 8.4%, from a year ago. Drainage
service charges totaled $75 million which represents an increase of $5.3 million, or 7.7%, from the same

4 See Note 1 — Reporting Entity for additional information.



period one year ago. Other operating income totaled $6.2 million, which is $1 million more than one year
ago.

Operating revenues as of June 30, 2019 were $294.4 million. This represents an increase of $15.2 million,
or 5.5%, in fiscal 2019. The increase in operating revenues was driven by a Board-approved rate increase
of 6.9% effective August 1, 2018. Wastewater service charges totaled $219.5 million which is an increase
of $8.9 million, or 4.2%, from fiscal 2018. Drainage service charges totaled $69.7 million which represents
an increase of $5.9 million, or 9.2%, from fiscal 2018. Other operating income totaled $5.2 million or $0.6
million more than fiscal 2018.

Non-operating revenues, which represent gain or loss on disposal of assets,
interest income earned on investments and the federal interest subsidy on MSD's Build America Bonds,
decreased $18.1 million in fiscal 2020. Liquidation of investments previously held in the debt service reserve
account for $3 million of this decrease. These funds were released upon the issuance of a debt service
reserve surety policy in June 2019°. The remaining $15.1 million is a loss on the disposal of the remaining
drum dryer assets at the Morris Forman Water Quality Treatment Center. Non-operating revenues
increased $2.1 million in fiscal 2019 largely due to improved yields on the investment portfolio.

Service and administrative costs increased by $6.6 million, or 6.4%, in fiscal 2020
from fiscal 2019. This increase is largely due to service and administrative costs totaling $5.4 million
recognized in connection with the OCEA merger®.

Service and administrative costs increased by $9.9 million in fiscal 2019 from fiscal 2018. Salary and benefit
costs increased $6.6 million to 49.8% of net service and administrative costs compared to 48.7% in fiscal
2018. This increase was made up of salary increases, workers compensation claim increases and higher
CERS pension contributions. Utility expenses increased by $2.8 million due to higher peak-demand rates
as a result of a February 2018 flooding event. Bad Debt expense totaled 1.29% of service charge revenue
for fiscal 2019 compared to 1.43% for fiscal 2018.

Non-operating expenses increased $8.9 million in fiscal 2020 from fiscal 2019.
Net interest expense increased $4.1 million largely as a result of a decrease in capitalized interest expense
due to lower borrowing costs. The change in fair value of MSD’s swap portfolio decreased $14.4 million.
Non-operating expenses increased $35.8 million in fiscal 2019 from fiscal 2018. Net interest expense
increased $5.4 million largely as a result of a decrease in capitalized interest expense due to a smaller
construction in progress balance. The change in fair value of MSD’s swap portfolio increased $29.9 million
as interest rates increased.

5 See Note 3 for additional information.
8 See Note 1 — Reporting Entity for additional information.



LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Contributions: Capital contributions decreased $41.8 million in fiscal 2020 from fiscal 2019. This
change was driven by a decrease in contributions of drainage infrastructure constructed by developers.
Capital contributions increased $38.2 million in fiscal 2019 from fiscal 2018. This increase was driven by
an increase in contributions of drainage infrastructure constructed by developers. In addition, MSD also
received $3.3 million on its 2018 flood event property insurance claim. See Figure 3 for additional

information.

ash flows from: o

Deweloper’s capital - wastewater $ 2,474 $ 12,267 $ 5543 § (9,793) (79.8%) % 6,724 121.3%

Deweloper's capital - drainage 4,826 29,286 - (24,460) 100.0% 29,286 0.0%

Federal grants 937 5,903 7,183 (4,966) (84.1%) {1,280} (17.8%)

Capital recovery 436 156 - 280 100.0% 156 0.0%

Miscellaneous claims recovery 412 3,314 - (2,902) 100.0% 3,314 0.0%
Total capital contributions $ 9,085 $ 50,926 $ 12,726 $ (41,841) (82.2%) § 38,200 300.2%

STATEMENT CASH FLOWS

iCash flows from:
Operating activities $214,052 $189,618 $181,561 $ 24,434 12.9% $ 8,057 4.4%
Capital and related financing activities (231,573) (245,133) (147,727) 13,560 (5.5%) (97,406) 65.9%
Investing activities 93,525 40,666 {51,717) 52,859 130.0% 92,383 _(178.6%)
Change in cash and cash equivalents 76,004 (14,849) (17,883) 90,853 (611.8%) 3,034 (17.0%)
Cash and temporary investments,

Beginning of year 66,813 81,662 99,545 (14.849) (18.2%) (17.883) _ (18.0%)
Cash and cash equivalents,

End of year $ 142,817 $ 66,813 $ 81,662 § 76,004 113.8% $ (14,849) {18.2%)

Cash and cash equivalents were $142.8 million at the end of fiscal 2020 which is an increase of $76 million
from fiscal 2019 or 113.8% (see Figure 4). Cash flows from operating activities increased as revenue and
customer receipts grew. Cash used by financing activities in fiscal 2020 decreased primarily as a result of
a reduction in borrowing. Cash provided by investing activities in fiscal 2020 increased as MSD liquidated
investments previously held in the debt service reserve to finance construction”.

Cash and cash equivalents were $66.8 million at the end of fiscal 2019 which is a decrease of $14.8 million
from fiscal 2018 or 18.2% (see Figure 4). Cash flows from operating activities increased as revenue and
customer receipts grew. Cash used by financing activities in fiscal 2019 decreased primarily as a result of
a reduction in borrowing. Cash provided by investing activities in fiscal 2019 increased as several bonds in
the investment portfolio were called and MSD liquidated its commercial paper holdings to finance
construction.

7 See Note 3 for additional information.



LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL ASSETS _

Sewer lines $ 1,363,408 $ 1,292,272 $ 71,136 $ 1,159,110 $ 133,162
Wastewater treatment facilities 215,163 222,196 (7,033) 229,950 (7,754)
Drainage facilities 697,632 651,346 46,286 410,390 240,956
Pumping and lift stations 157,849 159,063 (1,214) 111,902 47,161
Administrative facilities 11,379 11,869 (490) 11,827 42
Maintenance facilities 5,419 5,329 90 1,941 3,388
Machinery and equipment 23,722 28,188 (4,466) 10,015 18,173
Miscellaneous 1,481 2,074 (593) 2,357 (283)
Capitalized interest 288,691 285,821 2,870 276,835 8,986
Construction in progress 538,013 460,501 77,512 711,655 (251,154)
Total $ 3,302,757 $ 3,118,659 $ 184,098 § 2,925982 $ 192,677

MSD’s total capital assets net of depreciation increased by $184 million in fiscal 2020 (see Figure 5).
Construction in progress contained the biggest increase with $77.5 million of additions due to capital project
activity during the year. Sewer line increases are due to the completion of large scale sewer rehabilitation
projects in the Camp Taylor area and the Ohio River Interceptor along Main Street. Depreciation expense
was $98.9 million or $11 million more than fiscal 2019.

MSD's total capital assets net of depreciation increased by $192.7 million in fiscal 2019 (see Figure 5).
Drainage facilities contained the biggest increase with $241 million of additions. Depreciation expense was
$87.9 million or $9.9 million more than fiscal 2018.



LOUISVILLE AND JEFFERSON COUNTY METROPOLITAN SEWER DISTRICT
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Senior Revenue Bonds

Series 2009A $ - $ - $ - $ 6640 § (6,640)
Series 2009B - 35,155 (35,155) 52,975 (17,820)
Series 2009C 180,000 180,000 - 180,000 -
Series 2010A 330,000 330,000 - 330,000 -
Series 2011A 246,225 248,440 (2,215) 250,565 (2,125)
Series 2013A 115,790 115,790 - 115,790 -
Series 2013B 112,575 114,100 (1,525) 115,550 (1,450)
Series 2013C 99,250 99,375 (125) 99,500 (125)
Series 2014A 79,750 79,800 (50) 79,850 (50)
Series 2015A 173,160 173,360 (200} 173,735 (375)
Series 2015B 71,515 74,160 (2,645) 76,685 (2,525)
Series 2016A 149,280 149,530 (240) 149,760 (230)
Series 2016B 23,915 25,825 (1,910} 28,095 (2,270}
Series 2016C 50,515 67,685 (17,170) 67,685 -
Series 2017A 161,895 169,270 (7,375) 175,000 (5,730}
Series 2017B 32,885 33,670 (785) 34,520 (850)
Series 2018A 60,380 60,380 - 60,380 -
Series 2018A 24,770 - 24,770 - -
Bond Anticipation Notes
Series 2017A - - - 226,340 (226,340)
Series 2018A - 226,340 (226,340) - 226,340
Series 2018A 226,340 - 226,340 - -
Other Subordinate Debt
General Obligation Bonds 12,453 - 12,453 - -
Commercial Paper Notes 255,000 120,000 135,000 - 120,000
SRF Loans 15,818 2,658 13,160 1,871 787
KACO Lease 2,180 - 2,180 - -
Notes Payable - LOC 100 100 - - 100

$ 2,423 806 $ 2,305,638 $ 118,168 $ 2,224,941 $ 80,697

Excludes bond premiums/discounts

MSD ended fiscal 2020 with $2.4 billion in outstanding long-term debt compared to $2.3 billion in
outstanding long-term debt at the end of fiscal 20192 (see Figure 6). This is primarily due to the issuance
of additional commercial paper to finance ongoing construction. Short term debt outstanding payable from
restricted assets at the end of fiscal 2020 totaled $330.4 million compared to $95.5 million at the end of
fiscal 2019. This increase is due to $225 million of commercial paper notes planned to be redeemed in
fiscal 2021 with proceeds from a long term bond offering®. Net interest expense totaled $89.7 million in
fiscal 2020, an increase of $5.0 million from fiscal 2019.

MSD ended fiscal 2019 with $2.3 billion in outstanding long-term debt compared to $2.2 billion in
outstanding long-term debt at the end of fiscal 20187 (see Figure 6). Short term debt outstanding payable

8 See Note 7 for additional information.
9 See Note 13 — Series 2020A for additional information.

10 See Note 7 for additional information.



from restricted assets at the end of fiscal 2019 totaled $95.5 million compared to $109.1 million at the end
of fiscal 2018. Net interest expense totaled $84.7 million in fiscal 2019, an increase of $6.0 million from
fiscal 2018.

Although net operating income is the most significant component of determining
MSD’s debt service coverage ratio, other sources, including investment income and current period
payments of property owner assessments, are also included in available revenues and net revenues for
purposes of demonstrating MSD’s compliance with the debt service ratio tests in the General Bond
Resolution.

The General Bond Resolution and its supplements require MSD to provide available revenues for each
fiscal year sufficient to pay the sum of 110% of each year's aggregate net debt service on revenue bonds,
the amount, if any, required to be paid into the reserve account, all operating expenses as estimated in the
annual budget, debt service on senior subordinated debt and any other subordinate debt and amounts
necessary to pay and discharge all charges or liens payable out of available revenues. Available revenues,
as used for purposes of the resolution, means all revenues and other amounts received by MSD and
pledged as security for payment of bonds issued pursuant to the resolution, but excludes interest income
which is capitalized in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Net operating expenses include all reasonable, ordinary, usual or necessary current expenses of
maintenance, repair, and operation determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles and the enterprise basis of accounting. Operating expenses do not include reserves for
extraordinary maintenance and repair or administrative and engineering expenses of MSD which are
necessary or incidental to capital improvements for which debt has been issued and which may be paid
from proceeds of such debt.

Aggregate net debt service is debt service on all bonds issued pursuant to the resolution including principal
payments, excluding (i) interest expense which, in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, is capitalized and which may be paid from the proceeds of debt and (ii) other amounts, if any,
available or expected to be available in the ordinary course of business for payment of debt service.

MSD's debt service coverage ratio!", calculated on the foregoing basis, was 188% in 2020, 181% in 2019
and 190% in 2018 (see Figure 7).

FIGURE 7 - DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE ) =
(amotnts in thousands) FY 2020 FY 2019 2020-2018 FY 2018

Total available revenues $335,566 $314,318 6.8% $296,912 5.9%
Total net operating expenses 110,302 103,699 6.4% 93,800 10.6%
Net revenue 225,264 210,619 7.0% 203,112 3.7%
Aggregate net debt service $119,868  $116,607 2.8%  $107,088 8.9%
Debt service coverage ratio 188% 181% 4.0% 190% (4.8%)

1 Excludes GASB 68 pension expense and GASB 75 OPEB expense.
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On March 16, 2020, in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, Louisville Water Company stopped
disconnecting water service for non-payment of water and sewer bills and Louisville Water and MSD ceased
assessing late charges on past due balances. Since that date, MSD's number of delinquent accounts has
grown from approximately 500 accounts prior to the pandemic to 10,500 accounts by June 30, 2020. MSD
is working in conjunction with Louisville Water to offer payment plans and other assistance programs to
enable customers to bring their accounts current. MSD estimates lost revenue from the cessation of late
charge penalties amounts to approximately $750 thousand in fiscal year 2020 and could range up to $1.5
million in fiscal year 2021. As of June 30, 2020, MSD and Louisville Water have no current timeline for
resuming water service disconnections or late charge penalties.

As the federal, state, and local governments, including MSD, continue efforts to contain and limit the spread
of COVID-19, billable revenue and revenue collections may deviate from historical performance and may
have an adverse impact on the financial position and operations of MSD to a degree that cannot currently
be estimated. As of June 30 2020, MSD has approximately $100 million of unrestricted operating cash on
hand, which is expected to be adequate to fund essential services and make timely debt service payments.
In addition, MSD can issue program notes to provide short-term funding for its capital improvement
program. MSD, however, is not able to predict and makes no representations as to the future economic
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on its operations.

On July 27, 2020, the MSD Board approved a 5.0% rate increase for wastewater and drainage volume and
service charges as well as optional and quality charge rates that are assessed to commercial and industrial
wastewater customers effective August 1, 2020. This rate increase is coupled with an Emergency
Wastewater Rate Assistance Program (EWRAP) that provides a 10% discount on the wastewater portion
of the bill to eligible households.

On September 11, 2020, Standard and Poor's Rating Service assigned its SP-1+ rating to MSD’s $226.3
million sewer and drainage system subordinated Bond Anticipation notes, series 2020. At the same time,
they assigned their AA rating on the MSD’s 2020C sewer and drainage system revenue refunding taxable
bonds and maintained its AA long-term rating and stable outlook on MSD’s outstanding series of revenue
bonds and the A-1+ commercial paper program rating.

On September 14, 2020, Moody's Investors Service assigned its MIG 1 rating to MSD's $226.3 million
sewer and drainage system subordinated bond anticipation notes, series 2020. Moody's also assigned a
Aa3 rating to MSD’s 2020C sewer and drainage system revenue refunding taxable bonds and maintained
its Aa3 long-term rating and stable outlook on MSD'’s outstanding series of revenue bonds.

In April 2009, MSD agreed to enter into an amended consent decree with the Commonwealth of Kentucky's
Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet (KEPPC) and the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
(EPA) that superseded the original consent decree entered on August 12, 2005. The amended consent
decree focuses on eliminating sewer overflows in MSD’s service area through an Integrated Overflow
Abatement Plan (IOAP). The IOAP was amended in 2012 and 2014 to improve compliance and adjust
capital project schedules. The cost of these projects is currently estimated to be $1.15 billion of which MSD
has spent $974.3 million as of June 30, 2020. To date, MSD has complied with all submittals and reports
requirements contained in the amended Consent Decree’?,

This report is intended to provide readers with a general overview of MSD’s finances and to provide
information regarding the receipts and uses of funds. If you need clarification regarding a statement(s)
made in the report or need additional information, please contact the Louisville and Jefferson County
Metropolitan Sewer District, 700 West Liberty Street, Louisville Kentucky 40203. You can also submit a
request for additional information via MSD's website, .

12 gae Note 12 — EPA Consent Decree for additional information.
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Current Assets
Unrestricted Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable, less allowance for
doubtfui accounts of $2,054 (2020), $959 (2019)
Inventories
Accrued interest receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total unrestricted current assets

Restricted Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Total restricted current assets
Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets
Unrestricted Noncurrent Assets
Accounts receivable, non-current

Restricted Noncurrent Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Other non-current assets
Total restricted non-current assets

Capital Assets
Utility plant in service
Less allowance for depreciation

Construction in progress
Net capital assets
Total Non-current Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflow of Resources
Deferred outflow - pension
Deferred outflow - OPEB
Deferred outflow - derivative instruments
Unamortized loss on refunding
Total deferred outflow of resources

Total Assets and Deferred Outflow of Resources

See the accompanying notes fo the financial statements.
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2020 2019
$ 99,973 $ 43,728
100 36,744
27,227 27,915
4,977 4,623
186 957
3,961 2,961
136,424 116,928
17,776 22,348
- 30,172
17,776 52,520
154,200 169,448
12,776 13,730
25,088 737
54,487 75,941
17,023 17,914
96,578 94,592
4,114,641 3,962,588
(1,349,897) (1,304,430)
2,764,744 2,658,158
538,013 460,501
3,302,757 3,118,659
3,412,111 3,226,981
3,566,311 3,396,429
31,784 26,931
14,331 10,571
20,822 -
12,830 14,5186
79,767 52,018
$ 3,646,078 $ 3,448,447




Current Liabilities
Current Liabilities To Be Paid From Unrestricted Assets
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and related benefits
Total unrestricted current liabilities

Current Liabilities To Be Paid From Restricted Assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (capital),
includes contractor retainage of $13,216 (2020), $12,190 (2019)
Accrued interest payable
Refundable deposits
Revenue bonds payable
Bank notes
Other subordinate debt
Total restricted current liabilities
Total Current Liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities
Bonds payable, net
Bond anticipation note
Commercial paper notes
Other subordinate debt
Investment derivative asset liability
At-market derivative asset liability
Net pension liability
Net OPEB obligation

Total Noncurrent Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflow of Resources
Deferred inflow - pension
Deferred inflow - OPEB
Other deferred inflows
Total deferred inflow of resources

Total Liabilities and Deferred Inflow of Resources

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted
Total net position

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflow of Resources and Net Position

See the accompanying notes lo the financial statements.
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2020 2019
$ 14,689 $ 10,567
9,487 7,601
24,176 18,168
30,860 31,045
17,315 17,819
2,954 2,928
43,460 42,200
100 100
2,167 545
105,856 95,5637
130,032 113,705
1,942,913 1,994,761
226,340 226,340
255,000 120,000
28,284 2,113
72,228 73,040
20,822 .
126,866 104,511
30,343 30,470
2,702,796 2,551,235
2,832,828 2,664,940
2,581 3,198
10,609 5,780
3,330 3,977
16,520 12,955
$ 2,849,348 $ 2,677,895
$ 684412 $ 672,304
80,421 81,207
31,897 17,041
796,730 770,662
$ 3,646,078 $ 3,448,447




Operating Revenues
Service charges
Other operating income
Total operating revenues

Operating Expenses
Service and administrative costs
GASB 68 pension/GASB 75 OPEB actuarial expense
Depreciation and amortization
Total operating expenses

Income from Operations
Non-operating Revenue (Expenses)
Gain/Loss disposal of assets
Investment income
Build America bond refund
Interest expense - bonds
Interest expense - swaps
Interest expense - other
Amortization of debt discount / premium
Amortization of loss on refunding
Capitalized interest
Change in fair value - swaps
Total non-operating revenue (expenses) - net
Income before capital contributions
Capital contributions
Increase in net position
Net position, beginning
Net position, OCEA merger
Net position, beginning of year, as adjusted

Net position, ending

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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2020 2019
312,859 $ 289,173
6,198 5,195
319,057 294,368
110,302 103,699
17,826 12,243
98,872 87,882
227,000 203,824
92,057 90,544
{15,008) 15
5,275 8,338
10,325 10,339
(92,274) (94,831)
(8,027) (6,468)
(13,129) (13,497)
12,688 14,344
(2,404) (2,817)
13,043 18,582
812 (13,597)
(88,699) (79,592)
3,358 10,952
9,085 50,926
12,443 61,878
770,552 708,674
13,735 -

784,287 708,674
796,730 $ 770,552




Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash received from customers
Cash paid to suppliers
Cash paid to employees

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of bond anticipation note
Proceeds from issuance of commercial paper
Proceeds from issuance of notes
Payments for retirement of revenue bonds
Payments for retirement of bond anticipation note
Payments for retirement of commercial paper
Payments for retirement of notes
Payments for retirement of other subordinated debt
Payments for interest expense
Payments for interest on swaps
Build America bond interest subsidy
Proceeds from capital grants
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Payments for capital assets
Proceeds from assessments

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and Related Financing

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of investments
Maturity of investments
Investment income
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities

Net Increase {Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Year

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year

See the accompanying notes fo the financial statements.
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2020 2019
319,701 292,791
(57,043) (55,816)
(48,606) (47,357)
214,052 189,618
230,079 230,334
770,000 319,112
90,200 100
(43,120) (40,190)
(226,340) (226,340)
(635,000) (200,000)
{90,200) -
(2,120) (317)
(106,312) (108,511)
(7,622) (6,468)
10,325 10,339
1,786 9,373
- 15
(224,418) (233,360)
1,169 780
(231,573) (245,133)
(394,721) (45,576)
481,382 80,004
6,864 6,238
93,525 40,666
76,004 (14,849)
66,813 81,662
142,817 66,813



Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash provided by Operating Activities

Income from operations

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expense
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Accrued liabilities
Pension liability
OPEB liability
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Non-Cash Capital Financing and Investing Activities

Contribution of plant, lines and other facilities by developers and property owners

Construction costs in accounts payable

Change in fair value of investments

Decrease in interest rate swap deferred revenue

Change in fair value - swap agreements

Bonds issued for refunding of debt - Series 2019A

Long term debt and other liabilities related to OCEA merger
Capital assets and other receivables related to OCEA merger

See the accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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2020
92,057

98,872
617

(354)

(1,000)
4,122
26
1,886
16,885
941

214,052

7,300
39,860
1,208
672
812
30,910
28,687
41,751

019

90,544

87,882
(1,644)
(216)
(1,084)
141
67
1,685
10,971
1,272
189,618

41,554
31,945

(600)
918

(13,597)
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The financial statements of the Louisville and Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer District (MSD), a
discreetly presented component unit of Louisville/Jefferson County Metro Government, are prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applied to
government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. MSD follows
GASB Pronouncements as codified under GASB 62, including electing to report as a regulated operation.
MSD uses proprietary fund accounting (enterprise fund). Due to the election as a regulated operation under
GASB 62, to meet industry accounting standards and follow transactional intent, MSD uses, as applicable,
ASC 980, Regulated Accounting.

MSD is a public body corporate, and political subdivision of the Commonwealth of
Kentucky. MSD was created in 1946 pursuant to Chapter 76 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, in the
interest of the public health and for the purpose of providing adequate sewer and drainage facilities in the
urbanized area of the Louisville Metropolitan Area. Pursuant to Chapter 76, MSD is governed by a Board
which consists of eight members who are appointed by the Mayor of Louisville Metro Government, subject
to approval of Louisville Metro Council. Not more than five Board members may be of the same political
party. However, there is not a continuing supervisory relationship exercised by Louisville Metro Government
over MSD with respect to MSD's statutory public functions.

Chapter 76 authorizes MSD to provide sewer and drainage facilities and services. MSD is further authorized
by the statute to establish and collect service charges and to budget accordingly for operations and
maintenance, capital outlays and debt service on obligations it is authorized by the statute to incur. No
special financing relationship exists between Louisville Metro Government and MSD, nor is Louisville Metro
Government empowered by law or custom to approve MSD's operating or capital budgets; nor are they
responsible for financing deficits or disposing of surplus funds.

MSD has complete control, possession and supervision of the sewer and drainage system in large portions
of Jefferson County, and has statutory authority to construct additions, betterments and extensions within
its service area. Additionally, MSD has statutory responsibility for approval of the design and proper
construction of sewer and drainage facilities within the County's boundaries. There are cities within
Jefferson County that, by statute, have the option of using MSD sewer services on a contractual basis.
Third and fourth class cities also have the option of obtaining drainage services from MSD.

In 2018 the Kentucky General Assembly amended KRS 76.080 to allow MSD to enter into agreements with
other entities to acquire by purchase, any real or personal property, or any interest, right, easement, or
privilege therein, outside of its Jefferson County boundaries in connection with the acquisition, construction,
operation, repair or maintenance of any sewage, wastewater or drainage facility. Subsequent to this change
MSD has reached three agreements extending its service area outside of Jefferson County. On May 31,
2019, MSD acquired the Crestwood wastewater collection system pursuant to the terms and conditions of
an Interlocal Cooperation Agreement (ILA) dated April 9, 2019. On April 27, 2020, MSD entered into an ILA
with Shelby County to own, maintain, and operate sewer and wastewater facilities and collections systems
in a prescribed service area in the easternmost corner of Shelby County. On June 30, 2020, MSD completed
a merger with the Oldham County Environmental Authority (OCEA) pursuant to the terms of an ILA. This
agreement provided for the transfer of the OCEA wastewater collection and treatment system to MSD and
QCEA’s 6,000 customers became customers of MSD.

MSD classified the ILA with OCEA as a merger as no significant consideration was exchanged. GASB
Statement No. 69, Government Combinations and Disposals of Government Operations, requires that for
government mergers, the combined assets and liabilities should be recognized and measured in the
Statement of Net Position as of the beginning of the initial reporting period, or July 1, 2019. No significant
adjustments were made to bring amounts into conformity with MSD’s accounting policies or to adjust for
impairment of capital assets resulting from the merger.
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A summary of the amounts recognized as of the beginning of fiscal year 2020 follows:

(dollars in thousands) July 1,
2019
Reported in Statements of Net Position:
Current and other assets $ 4,291
Capital assets 38,320
Total assets $ 42,611
Current liabilities $ 1,944
Noncurrent liabilities 26,932
Total liabilities $ 28,876
Net investment in capital assets $ 9,981
Unrestricted 3,754
Total net position 13,735
Total liabilities and net position ~ $ 42,611

MSD’s enterprise business activities are managed by its Board, which has statutory authority to elect
officers, enact bylaws and enter into agreements and contracts for the management and regulation of
MSD's affairs. MSD's revenue is derived from wastewater and drainage service charges which are collected
from residential, commercial and industrial customers. MSD controls the collection of all revenue,
disbursement of payables and title to all sewer and drainage assets. Wastewater service charges are
distributed among customer classes on the basis of actual costs incurred to collect and treat wastewater.
Drainage service charges are distributed among customer classes on the basis of actual costs of drainage
services per equivalent unit of impervious surface.

Changes in MSD's service charges are implemented by MSD's Board. Kentucky statute provides that
MSD’s service charge revenues shall be sufficient to provide for the operation and maintenance of the
system and for debt service. By ordinance, Louisville Metro Government has provided that MSD’s Board
may amend its service charge schedule to maintain a debt service ratio of 1.10 for MSD’s sewer and
drainage revenue bonds, and that such amendments will be effective within the metropolitan area when
adopted by MSD's Board, so long as the amended rates do not generate additional revenue from service
charges in excess of 7% during the twelve months succeeding the period in which the deficiency was
identified. Amendments that would generate additional revenues in excess of 7% require Louisville Metro

Council approval.

Chapter 76 permits MSD to finance sewer and drainage system construction, acquisition and other capital
improvements through the issuance of its revenue bonds and with the proceeds of governmental grants,
property owner contributions in aid of construction and bonds and loans for which pledge of repayment is
subordinated to the pledge of all revenues given by MSD for the security of its revenue bond holders. MSD
indebtedness does not constitute indebtedness of Louisville Metro Government or the Commonwealth, but
Louisville Metro Government must authorize by ordinance the issuance by MSD of revenue bonds to
finance projects within the service area.

The sewer and drainage system owned and operated by MSD is accounted for
using a flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, all assets and all
liabilities associated with the operation of the system are included on the Statement of Net Position. Total

18



net position is segregated into net investment in capital assets, restricted for payment of bond principal and
interest and unrestricted. Operating statements present increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases (e.g.,
expenses) in net position. MSD utilizes the accrual basis of accounting wherein revenues are recorded
when earned and expenses are recorded at the time the liability is incurred.

For purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, MSD includes repurchase
agreements and other investments with an original maturity of three months or less in cash and cash
equivalents. Both restricted and unrestricted amounts are included on the Statements of Cash Flows.

Restricted funds are reserved for the purpose of bond debt service,
funding of capital construction, cost of issuance, and debt service reserves. Unrestricted funds, generated
from service fees and other operating income, are used to pay for operating expenses. When an expense
or outlay is incurred for which both restricted and unrestricted net position is available, it is MSD’s general
practice is to use revenue from operations to finance construction, then to reimburse from restricted net
position for construction as it is needed.

Investments are stated at fair value. Investment income consists of interest income
and the change in fair value of investments'. Investment income is reduced by applicable estimated federal
arbitrage liability.2

Operating revenues are those revenues that are generated
directly from the primary activity of MSD. These revenues are wastewater and drainage service charges
and other operating income. The Louisville Water Company and Oldham County Water are responsible for
the billing and collection of these charges on behalf of MSD on a monthly basis. Operating expenses are
expenses incurred through the activities of operating and maintaining MSD facilities.

Non-operating revenues and expenses are comprised of investment and financing earnings and costs,
changes in the fair value of derivatives, as well as contributions from outside sources.

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding customer
accounts. Accounts are considered past due 30 days from the invoice date. Management provides an
allowance for doubtful account that is based on historical collection experience and a review of the current
status of individual accounts. Accounts that remain outstanding after management has exerted reasonable
collection efforts are written off through a charge to allowance for doubtful accounts and a credit to accounts
receivable. The allowance for doubtful accounts was valued at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 as
$2,054,343 and $959,140, respectively.

Assessment receivables represent amounts billed to residents to have sewer lines installed in their
neighborhood. Assessment receivables are considered past due once the balance is 90 days in arrears.
Management considers all amounts collectible on the basis that liens are placed on properties at the time
of assessment. These receivables may be current or non-current assets.

Inventory is stated at cost. Inventory consists of supplies and parts used in the operation of
MSD's treatment plants and for the maintenance of sewers, fleet vehicles and other related equipment.
Inventory totaled $4,977,115 at June 30, 2020 and $4,622,556 at June 30, 2019.

MSD finances construction of sewer and drainage plant,
lines and other facilities, in part, through government grants and contributions from property owners and
developers. Governmental grants in aid of construction represent the estimated portion of construction
costs incurred for which grants are expected to be paid to MSD by the governmental grantor. These
amounts are recorded as a receivable and revenues from contributions at the time the related expenditures
are incurred. Revenues from contributions are part of the change in net position. Government grants in aid

1 See Note 2 - Deposits and Investments
2 See Note 7 — Long-Term Debt
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of construction and other recoveries at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 were $1,784,849 and $9,372,512,
respectively. Contributed capital in the form of sewer and drainage infrastructure constructed by developers
at June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 were $7,300,151 and $41,553,937, respectively.

Plant, lines and other facilities are recorded at

historical cost or, if contributed, at acquisition value as determined by engineering estimates on the date
the contribution is received. It is MSD's policy to depreciate the costs of these assets over their estimated

useful lives on a straight line basis®.

Estimated useful lives on depreciable assets are as follows:

Building and other structures 30-50 years
Land improvements 10-30 years
Miscellaneous machinery 10-20 years
Vehicles 6-12 years

Equipment, heavy 15-30 years
Equipment, light 5-15 years

Sewer lines and drainage channels 20-80 years

Costs incurred for capital construction and acquisition are carried in construction in progress until
disposition or completion of the related projects. The major components of construction in progress are
sewer lines, wastewater treatment and drainage facilities. Costs relating to projects not pursued are
expensed, while costs relating to completed projects are capitalized as plant, lines and other facilities.

Interest capitalized on projects funded from bond proceeds is recorded as the
average cumulative expenditures multiplied by the weighted average borrowing rate.? Interest is not
capitalized on project costs that are reimbursed by contributions of capital from government, property
owners and developers.

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries, management evaluates
prominent events or changes in circumstances affecting capital assets to determine whether impairment of
a capital asset has occurred. Such events or changes in circumstances that may be indicative of impairment
include evidence of physical damage, enactment or approval of laws or regulations, other changes in
environmental factors, technology changes or evidence of obsolescence, changes in the manor of duration
of use of a capital asset, and construction stoppage. A capital asset is generally considered impaired if both
(a) the decline in service utility of the capital asset is large in magnitude and (b) the event or change in
circumstance is outside the normal life cycle of the capital asset. No impairment losses were recognized
in fiscal 2020. In fiscal 2019, MSD recognized an impairment loss of $3,209,647 on the remaining book
value of one of the four dryers that comprise the drum dryer asset at the Morris Forman Water Quality
Treatment Center. The dryer is no longer in use. The impairment loss was recognized as a component of

depreciation expense.

Bonds payable are recorded at the principal amount outstanding, net of any applicable
premium or discount®.

Bonds outstanding, which have been refunded and economically defeased, are not included in long-term
debt. The related assets are not included in investments. Any loss on refunding, which is the difference
between the reacquisition price and the net carrying amount of the old debt, is deferred outflow of resources
and amortized as a component of interest expense over the shorter of either 1) the original life of the
refunded debt or 2) the life of the refunding debt.

3 See Note 5 - Capital Assets — Plant, Lines, and Other Facilities
4 See Note 6 — Capitalized Interest
5 See Note 7 — Long-Term Debt
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MSD enters into interest rate swap agreements to modify interest rates on outstanding debt. MSD records
the net interest expenditures resulting from these agreements and amortizes gains/losses resulting from
the termination of these agreements until the original termination date of the agreement. The changes in
fair value of derivative instruments that are classified as hedging derivative instruments are reported in the
Statement of Net Position as deferred outflow of resources. Changes in fair value of investment derivative
instruments are reported in non-operating revenue (expenses) on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Net Position®.

Bond issue costs are capitalized and amortized over the life of the respective bond issue using the straight-
line method, which approximates the effective interest method, pursuant to the election of regulatory
operation under GASB 62, as they are deemed recoverable through future rates.

Original issue discounts and premiums on bonds are amortized as a component of interest expense using
the straight-line method, which approximates the effective interest method, over the lives of the bonds to
which they relate.

Vacation and personal pay benefits are accrued as accumulated and vested by
MSD employees.

MSD allocates overhead costs to its core business processes: operations and
maintenance; design, construction and acquisition of plant lines and other facilities; and subsidiary business
enterprises.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally. accepted in the United States of America requires management to make assumptions and
estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

MSD is exempt from federal income tax under the Internal Revenue Code as a political
subdivision of the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

Effective July 1, 2019 MSD adopted the following GASB
pronouncement:

« Statement No. 95: Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative Guidance

GASB has issued additional guidance that is not yet effective.
MSD is currently reviewing the provisions of the following GASB Statements to determine the impact of
implementation in future periods.

o Statement No. 84: Fiduciary Activities (fiscal 2021)
Statement No. 87: Leases (fiscal 2021)
Statement No. 89: Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred Before The End of a Construction Period
(fiscal 2022)
e Statement No. 90: Majority Equity Interests — An Amendment of GASB Statements No 14 and No.
61 (fiscal 2021)
Statement No. 91: Conduit Debt Obligations (fiscal 2022)
Statement No. 92: Omnibus 2020 (fiscal 2021)
Statement No. 93: Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates (fiscal 2022)
Statement No. 94: Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment
Arrangements (fiscal 2024)

5 See Note 9 — Derivative Instruments.
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o Statement No. 96: Subscription-based Information Technology Arrangements (fiscal 2023)
Statement No. 97: Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for
Internal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans — an Amendment of GASB
Statements No. 14 and No. 84 and a Supersession of GASB Statement No. 32 (fiscal 2022)

Prior period financial statement amounts have been reclassified to conform to current
period presentation. These reclassifications had no effect on the changes in net position or total net position.

A reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and investments as shown on the Comparative Statement of Net
Position for MSD follows:

(dollars in thousands) June 30,
2020 2019
Reported in Statements of Net Position:
Cash and cash equivalents
Unrestricted $ 99,973 § 43,728
Restricted - current 17,776 22,348
Restricted - noncurrent 25,068 737
Total cash and cash equivalents 142,817 66,813
Investments
Unrestricted 100 36,744
Restricted - current - 30,172
Restricted - noncurrent 54,487 75,941
Total investments 54,587 142,857
Total Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments _$ 197,404  § 209,670
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The following comparative schedule presents the cash, cash equivalents and investments in MSD’'s
portfolio at fair value with investment maturities and credit risk ratings from Moody's Investors Service.

June 30, 2020

(dollars in thousands) Weighted Awerage Credit
Reported Value Maturity in Years Rating

U.S. treasuries $ 12,434 0.05 Aaa
U.S. agency securities 24,823 0.07 Aaa
Municipal bonds 17,230 1.07 Aa
Money market funds 103,368 0.08 Aaa
Repurchase agreement/cash 39,449
Certificate of Deposit 100 0.00

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments 9 197,404 4.27
Accrued interest $ 186

June 30, 2019

(doliars in thousands) Weighted Awerage Credit
Reported Value Maturity in Years Rating

U.S. treasuries $ 19,550 1.22 Aaa
U.S. agency securities 78,402 1.256 Aaa
Municipal bonds 44,805 13.47 Aa
Money market funds 27,688 0.08 Aaa
Repurchase agreement/cash 39,125
Certificate of Deposit 100 0.00

Total cash, cash equivalents and investments $ 209,670 4.27
Accrued interest $ 957

Section 66.480 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes and MSD’s bond resolutions authorize MSD to invest
money subject to its control in, amaong other securities, (i) obligations of the United States and of its agencies
and instrumentalities, including obligations subject to repurchase agreements, (ii) certificates of deposit or
other interesi-bearing accounts of any bank or savings and loan institution which are insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation or, to the extent not so insured, collateralized by obligations described in
clause (i) above, (iii) securities issued by a state or local government, or any instrumentality or agency
thereof, in the United States, and rated in either of the two highest categories by a nationally recognized
rating agency, and (iv) money market mutual funds investing in any of the securities described above.

Investments are made based upon prevailing market conditions at the time of the transaction with the intent
to hold the instrument until maturity. With this strategy, investments would be expected to reach maturity
with limited realized gains or losses. If the yield of the portfolio can be improved upon by the sale of an
investment, prior to its maturity, with the reinvestment of the proceeds, then this provision is also allowed.

Concentration of Credit Risk: MSD’s Investment Policy (the Policy) requires that investments be
diversified to eliminate the risk of loss resulting from over-concentration of assets in a specific maturity, a
specific issuer, or a specific class of securities. Section 4.4.1 of the Policy limits the amount of money
invested at any time in one or more categories of the investments authorized by KRS 66.480 1e, 11, 1q,
and 1i shall not exceed 20% of the total amount invested. MSD was in compliance with its investment policy
at June 30, 2020 and 2019.

Interest Rate Risk: MSD minimizes interest rate risk by structuring the investment portfolio so that securities
mature to meet cash requirements for ongoing operations, thereby avoiding the need to sell securities on
the open market prior to maturity. The weighted average maturity in years represents the interest rate risk
for MSD.
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Custodial Credit Risk: This is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, MSD would not be
able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside
party. The collateral provided by financial institutions is considered adequate to cover all balances in excess
of limits set forth by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. All of MSD’s investments are held by MSD
or in the name of MSD by a Trustee.

Foreign Currency Risk: This risk relates to any potential adverse effects on the fair value of an investment
from changes in exchange rates. MSD did not hold any foreign currency as of June 30, 2020 and 2019.

GASB 72 requires MSD to disclose how we measure the fair value of
investments and the underlying valuation techniques. Debt and equity securities classified in Level 1 of the
fair value hierarchy are valued using prices quoted in active markets for these securities or repurchase
agreements. Debt securities classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using a matrix pricing
approach. Matrix pricing is used to value securities based on the securities’ relationship to the benchmark
quoted prices. A comparative statement of investments subject to fair value measurements and valuation

techniques follows:

June 30, 2020

(dollars in thousands) Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Lewel 3) Total
Investments by fair value level:
U.S. treasuries $ - $ 12,434  § - $ 12,434
U.S. agencies - 24,823 - 24,823
State and municipal obligations - 17,230 - 17,230
Total investments by fair value level $ - $ 54,487 $ - $ 54,487

June 30, 2019

(dollars in thousands}) Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Cther Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2} (Level 3) Total
Investments by fair value level:
U.S. treasuries $ - $ 19,550 § - $ 19,550
U.S. agencies - 78,402 - 78,402
State and municipal obligations - 44,805 - 44,805
Total investments by fair value level  $ - $ 142,757 $ - $ 142,757

MSD’s General Bond Resolution sets a debt service reserve requirement equal to at least 10% of the face
amount of all bonds issued under the resolution, 100% of the maximum aggregate net debt service in the
current or any future fiscal year or 125% of the average aggregate net debt service in the current or any
future fiscal year. MSD funded its debt service reserve as of June 30, 2020, at 100% of the maximum
aggregate net debt service in the current or any future fiscal year or, $151,136,081. The General Bond
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Resolution allows, in lieu of cash and investments in that amount, a letter of credit or policy of bond
insurance payable in the required amount.

On June 26, 2019 MSD purchased a debt service reserve surety policy (the Reserve Policy) from Build
America Mutual Assurance Company with a maximum policy limit of $75,000,000. The Reserve Policy
terminates on May 15, 2048 which is the date of the last principal payment on MSD’s outstanding revenue
bonds. Draws under the Reserve Policy may only be used to make payments of principal and interest on
the bonds. Cash and investments in the debt service reserve funds shall be transferred to the debt service
funds for payment of debt service on the bonds before any draw may be made on the Reserve Policy.

Cash and investments restricted for debt service reserve at June 30, 2020 totaled $79,565,123. Total assets
restricted for debt service were $97,330,639, which includes the debt service reserve and other debt service
trust accounts of $17,775,516. Cash and investments restricted for debt service reserve at June 30, 2019
totaled $76,678,594. Total assets restricted for debt service were $99,026,252 which includes the debt
service reserve and other debt service trust accounts of $22,347,658.

Cash, cash equivalents and investments segregated in accounts restricted for authorized construction
include proceeds from issuance of MSD bonds and commercial paper at June 30, 2020 and 2019 totaled
$0 and $30,171,774, respectively. Total restricted cash, cash equivalents, and investments at June 30,
2020 and 2019 totaled $97,330,639 and $129,198,026, respectively.

A comparative Schedule of Net Position follows:

(dollars in thousands) g June 30,
2020 2019

Net investment in capital assets:

Plant, lines and other facilities net of depreciation $ 3,302,757 $ 3,118,659
Outstanding debt that applies to plant, lines and other facilities (2,591,315) (2,459,098)
Unspent bond proceeds - construction - 30,172
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (capital) (39,860) (31,945)
Deferred outflows and inflows of resources 12,830 14,516
Total 684,412 672,304
Restricted for:
Assets restricted for debt senice 97,331 99,026
Liabilities associated with restricted debt senice (16,910) (17,819)
80,421 81,207
Assets restricted for construction - 30,172
Unspent bond proceeds - construction - (30,172)
Net position, restricted 80,421 81,207
Unrestricted net position 31,897 17,041
Total net position $ 796,730 § 770,552
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A comparative schedule of plant, lines and other facilities follows:

June 30, 2020
(dollars in thousands) Beginning Transfers In/ Retirements / Ending
Balance* Additions Reclassifications Balance
Capital assets:
Sewer lines $ 1,668,227 $ 78,479 - % 1,746,706
Wastewater treatment facilities 691,122 15,131 (78,351) 627,902
Drainage facilities 817,128 63,735 - 880,863
Pumping and lift stations 248,801 7,427 - 256,228
Administrative facilities 51,735 563 - 62,298
Maintenance facilities 12,459 - - 12,459
Machinery and equipment 87,253 2,190 (306) 89,137
Miscellaneous 32,129 - - 32,129
Capitalized interest 403,876 13,043 - 416,919
Total capital assets 4,012,730 180,568 (78,657) 4,114,641
Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization:
Sewer lines (362,098) (21,199) - (383,297)
Wastewater treatment facilities (451,191) (24,893) 63,343 (412,741)
Drainage facilities (165,782) (17,449) - (183,231)
Pumping and lift stations (85,103) (13,275) - (98,378)
Administrative facilities (39,866) (1,052) - (40,918)
Maintenance facilities (6,746) (294) - (7,040)
Machinery and equipment (59,065) (6,655) 306 (65,414)
Miscellaneous (29,735) (914) - (30,649)
Capitalized interest (118,132) {10,097) - (128,229)
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization (1,317,718) (95,828) 63,649 (1,349,897)
Construction in progress 460,501 219,100 (141,588) 538,013
Net capital assets $ 3,155,513 $ 303,840 % (156,596) $ 3,302,757
*Beginning balance changes from prior year are due to OCEA merger.

Capital assets include non-depreciable assets for land related to all facilities and pumping and lift stations.
The carrying value was $34,716,044 and $16,577,077 at June 30, 2020 and 2019 respectively.

In fiscal 2020, MSD disposed of the remaining three dryers that comprised the drum dryer asset at the

Morris Forman Water Quality Treatment Center. The dryers were sold for scrap. The resulting loss on
disposal was $15,008,849 and is recorded as a component of non-operating revenue (expenses).
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June 30, 2019
(dolars in thousands) Beginning Transfers In/ Retirements / Ending
Balance Additions Reclassifications Balance
Capital assets:
Sewer lines 1,497,090 § 151,801 § - 1,648,891
Wastewater treatment facilities 648,503 20,538 - 669,041
Drainage facilities 561,341 255,787 - 817,128
Pumping and lift stations 183,795 57,168 - 240,963
Administrative facilities 50,818 916 - 51,734
Maintenance facilities 8,504 3,570 - 12,074
Machinery and equipment 66,321 21,637 (705) 87,253
Miscellaneous 31,086 540 - 31,626
Capitalized interest 385,296 18,582 - 403,878
Total capital assets 3,432,754 530,539 (705) 3,962,588
Less accumulated depreciation
and amortization:
Sewer lines (337,980) (18,638) - {356,618)
Wastewater treatment facilities (418,553) (28,214) - (446,767)
Drainage facilities (150,951) (14,831) - (165,782)
Pumping and lift stations (71,893) (10,008) - (81,901)
Administrative facilities (38,991) (875) - (39,866)
Maintenance facilities (6,563) (183) - (6,746)
Machinery and equipment (56,306) (3,152) 392 (59,066)
Miscellaneous (28,729) (823) - (29,552)
Capitalized interest (108,461) (9,671) - (118,132)
Total accumulated depreciation/amortization (1,218,427) (86,395) 392 (1,304,430)
Construction in progress 711,655 177,984 (429,138) 460,501
Net capital assets $ 2,925,982 $ 622,128 $ (429,451) $ 3,118,659

A comparative schedule of capitalized interest and net interest expense reported in non-operating expenses
follows:

(dollars in thousands) June 30,
| 2020 2018
Interest incurred $ 103,145 $ 103,270
Less interest capitalization (13,043) (18,582)
Interest expense, net $ 90,102 $ 84,688
|
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A schedule of long-term debt outstanding at June 30, 2020 and 2019 follows.

June 30, 2020
(dollars in thousands)
Outstanding Outstanding Payable
at Beginning at End of Within
Issue Description of Year Issued Retired Year One Year
Revenue bonds $1,956,540 $ 30910 % 75,535  $1,911,915  $ 43,460
Unamortized premium/discount 80,421 6,714 12,677 74,458 10,252
General obligation bonds* 13,267 - 814 12,453 824
Commercial paper notes 120,000 770,000 635,000 255,000 -
Bank notes 100 90,200 90,200 100 100
SRF loans* 15,250 1,729 1,161 15,818 1,193
Financing lease” 2,325 - 145 2,180 150
Total $2,187,903 $ 899553 $ 815,532 $2,271,924  $ 55,979
*Beginning balance changes from prior year are due to OCEA merger.
June 30, 2019
(dollars in thousands)
Outstanding Outstanding Payable
at Beginning at End of Within
Issue Description of Year Issued Retired Year One Year
Revenue bonds $1,996,730 $ - $ 40,190 $1,956,540  $ 42,200
Unamortized premium/discount 90,628 4,137 13,344 80,421 9,307
Commercial paper notes - 320,000 200,000 120,000 -
Bank notes - 100 - 100 100
SRF loans 1,871 1,104 317 2,658 545
Total $2,089,229 $ 325,341 $ 253,851 $2,159,719  $ 52,152

MSD’s long-term revenue bonds are publicly issued under its General Bond Resolution
adopted December 7, 1992, to pay at maturity program notes issued and outstanding as senior
subordinated debt under the Program Note Resolution adopted June 25, 2018. Prior to 2018, MSD publicly
issued revenue bonds to finance sewer and drainage projects. MSD has pledged all revenues to the
payment of principal and interest on its outstanding revenue bonds. Pursuant to the General Bond
Resolution, upon the occurrence of any event of default, holder or holders of twenty percent in principal
amount or more of the bonds then outstanding may apply to a Judge in the Circuit Court of Jefferson County
to appoint a trustee to represent all Bondholders and the trustee may declare all bonds due and payable.
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MSD has remedies available under the Resolution to cure the event of default even after all bonds are
declared due and payable.

Federal tax regulations generally require the periodic payment to the U.S. Treasury of investment earnings
on the proceeds of an issue of tax-exempt municipal bonds to the extent those earnings exceed the yield
on the bonds. Such payments, known as arbitrage rebate, are normally payable every fifth year following
the issuance of a Series of bonds and upon the retirement of the bond issue. MSD has arbitrage calculations
performed as needed by an independent third party to comply with these regulations. As of June 30, 2020
and 2019, MSD's accrued liability for arbitrage rebate was $626,441 and $483,905, respectively.

A debt service coverage ratio covenant has been established under the 1992 General Bond Resolution.
MSD was in compliance with the ratio covenant as of June 30, 2020 and 2019.

Fiscal Year 2020 Significant Debt Transactions: On August 19, 2019, MSD issued $30,910,000 of revenue
refunding bonds, Series 2019. The proceeds of the Series 2019 bonds, together with certain amounts in
the debt service account, were used to: (i) currently refund $35,155,000 of outstanding principal amount on
MSD’s sewer and drainage system revenue bonds, Series 2009B, maturing May 15, 2020 through May 15,
2023, the proceeds of which were used to pay, or to refund earlier Series of bond and notes issued to pay,
the costs of improvements to MSD’s sewer and drainage system, and (ii) pay the cost of issuance of the
Series 2019 bonds. The refunding reduces debt service payments over the next 4 years by $5,107,297 and
resulted in a net present value savings of $2,573,449.

On March 25, 2020, MSD entered into a Forward Delivery Bond Purchase agreement to refund
$243,910,000 of the Series 2011A bonds. Under the terms of the agreement, MSD has authorized the
issuance, on a direct placement, forward delivery basis, of its sewer and drainage system revenue refunding
bonds, Series 2021A. The bonds will be dated and delivered on August 17, 2021. Under the terms of a
draft continuing covenant agreement for the 2021A bonds, if an event of default occurs the purchaser may
declare the outstanding amount of principal and interest on the bonds to be immediately due and payable.
The refunding reduces debt service payments by $56,554,774 beginning in 2022 through 2034 which
results in a net present value savings of $45,575,104.

Fiscal Year 2019 Significant Debt Transactions: There were no revenue bond transactions in Fiscal Year
2019.
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A comparative schedule of revenue bonds payable at June 30, 2020 and 2019 follows:

(dollars in thousands) Final
Original Payment Qutstanding as of June 30:
Revenue Bonds Issue Amount Interest Rates In 2020 2019

2009B Series Revenue Bonds 225,770 2.00% - 5.00% 2023 - 35,155
2009C Series Revenue Bonds 180,000 5.98% 2040 180,000 180,000
2010A Series Rewenue Bonds 330,000 6.25% 2043 330,000 330,000
2011A Series Revenue Bonds 263,360 3.00% - 5.00% 2034 246,225 248,440
2013A Series Revenue Bonds 116,790 4.00% 2036 115,790 115,790
2013B Series Revenue Bonds 119,515 4.00% - 5.00% 2038 112,575 114,100
2013C Series Revenue Bonds 100,000 3.00% - 5.00% 2044 99,250 99,375
2014A Series Revenue Bonds 80,000 4.00% - 5.00% 2045 79,750 79,800
2015A Series Revenue Bonds 175,000  3.125% - 5.00% 2046 173,160 173,360
20158 Series Revenue Bonds 81,750 2.65% - 5.00% 2038 71,515 74,160
2016A Series Revenue Bonds 150,000 3.00% - 5.00% 2047 149,290 149,530
2016B Series Revenue Bonds 28,315 2.00% - 5.00% 2036 23,915 25,825
2016C Series Revenue Bonds 67,685 5.00% 2023 50,515 67,685
2017A Series Revenue Bonds 175,000 3.00% - 5.00% 2048 161,895 169,270
20178 Series Revenue Bonds 35,725 5.00% 2025 32,885 33,670
2018A Series Revenue Bonds 60,380 4.00% 2038 60,380 60,380
2019A Series Revenue Bonds 30,910 4.00% 2023 24,770 -
Total revenue bonds 1,911,915 1,956,540
Add: unamortized premium/discount 74,458 80,421
Total bonds payable 1,986,373 2,036,961
Less: current maturities (43,460) (42,200)

Total bonds payable, long term portion $ 1,942,913 3 1,994,761
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A schedule of future revenue bond debt service requirements after June 30, 2020 follows:

(dollars in thousands) Revenue Bonds
Principal interest Total
Year Ending June 30,

2021 $ 43,460 $ 90,909 $ 134,369
2022 45,630 88,739 134,369
2023 47,905 86,460 134,365
2024 46,740 84,067 130,807
2025 49,025 81,778 130,803
2026-2030 271,610 369,473 641,083
2031-2035 254,760 318,120 572,880
2036-2040 513,850 236,027 749,877
2041-2045 494,350 91,739 586,089
2046-2050 144,585 9,083 153,668
$ 1,911,915 § 1,456,395 $ 3,368,310

A comparative summary of current and long-term revenue bond activity follows:

(dollars in thousands) June 30,
2020 2019
Rewvenue bonds - beginning of year $ 1,956,540 $ 1,996,730
Bonds issued 30,910 -
Principal paid on bonds and bond refunding (75,535) (40,190)
Revenue bonds - end of year $ 1,911,915 $ 1,956,540

MSD merged with the OCEA on June 30, 2020. Oldham County previously
issued its County of Oldham general obligation bonds Series 2009, Series, 2014, and general obligation
Series 2017 refunding bonds, the proceeds of which financed the costs of various improvements to the
sanitary sewer system owned by OCEA. The balance of the bonds outstanding as of the beginning of the
reporting period July 1, 2019 and the merger date, June 30, 2020 was $13,256,062 and $12,452,783,
respectively. MSD agreed to support Oldham County’s payment of debt service for the supported bonds
subject to the terms of an Assistance Agreement dated June 30, 2020. Upon the occurrence of an uncured
event of default under the Assistance Agreement, Oldham County is entitled to exercise any and all
remedies available at law or in equity.
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A comparative summary of current and long-term general obligation bond activity follows:

(dollars in thousands) Final
Qriginal Payment Qutstanding as of June 30:
General Obligation Bonds Issue Amount Interest Rates In 2020 2018

2009 Series general obligation bonds 7,335 2.00% - 4.00% 2023 1,155 1,515
2017 Series general obligation bonds 3,750 2.08% 2030 3,433 3,477
2014 Series general obligation bonds 9,790 3.00% - 3.20% 2035 7,865 8,275
Total bonds payable 12,453 13,267
Add : unamortized premium/discount - 167
Total general obligation bonds 12,453 13,434
Less: cument maturities (824) (814)

Total bonds payable, long term portion $ 11,629 $ 12,620

On June 25, 2018, the MSD Board adopted a Program Note
Resolution authorizing the issuance of one or more Series of sewer and drainage system subordinated
program notes in an aggregate principal amount not to exceed $500,000,000 for the purpose of financing
eligible sewer and drainage projects and to refund program notes or subordinate lien bond anticipation
notes. Program notes issued under the Program Note Resolution are subordinate and junior in all respects
to revenue bonds issued under the General Bond Resolution. Program notes are issued as senior
subordinated debt secured on a parity with the bond anticipation notes’.

On July 10, 2018, MSD issued two subseries of commercial paper notes under the Program Note
Resolution: Series 2018A-1 with a maximum outstanding of $250,000,000 and Series 2018A-2 with a
maximum outstanding of $250,000,000. Commercial paper notes may be issued and sold, at public or
private sale, as taxable or tax-exempt notes, maturing in 270 days or less (but in any event not later than
July 1, 2021) as determined by MSD, and bearing interest at a rate not in excess of 12% per annum for
taxable notes or 10% per annum for tax-exempt notes. Commercial paper notes are payable only from (i)
proceeds of the sale of other commercial paper notes issued under the Program Note Resolution and used
to refund outstanding commercial paper notes, (i) the proceeds of direct purchase notes or other loans
used to refund outstanding commercial paper notes, and (iii) the proceeds of revenue bonds issued to pay
outstanding commercial paper notes.

Liquidity support for the Commercial Paper Series 2018A-1 is provided by Bank of America, N.A (BANA)
pursuant to a 3-year Revolving Credit Agreement dated July 1, 2018. BANA has provided a commitment of
$250,000,000 for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2018A-1 notes. MSD and BANA
entered into a Note Purchase Agreement dated July 1, 2018 providing for the purchase of direct purchase
notes by BANA up to the aggregate principal amount of $250,000,000. The BANA Revolving Credit
Agreement and the BANA Note Purchase Agreement limit the aggregate principal amount of commercial
paper notes Series 2018A-1 and the BANA direct purchase notes to $250,000,000. Merrill Lynch, Pierce,
Fenner & Smith Inc. is acting as the dealer for Series 2018A-1 notes.

Liquidity support for the Commercial Paper Series 2018A-2 is provided by JPMorgan Chase Bank (JPMCB)
pursuant to a 3-year revolving credit agreement dated July 1, 2018. JPMCB has provided a commitment of
$250,000,000 for the payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2018A-2 notes. MSD and
JPMCB entered into a Note Purchase Agreement dated July 1, 2018 providing for the purchase of direct
purchase notes by JPMCB up to the aggregate principal amount of $250,000,000. The JPMCB Revolving
Credit Agreement and the JPMCB Note Purchase Agreement limit the aggregate principal amount of

7 See Note 8 — Bond Anticipation Notes.
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commercial paper notes Series 2018A-2 and the JPMCB direct purchase notes to $250,000,000. J.P.
Morgan Securities is acting as the dealer for Series 2018A-2 notes.

Upon the occurrence of any special event of default under the Revolving Credit Agreements and Note
Purchase Agreements, the commitment shall immediately terminate with respect to all commercial paper
notes and the banks shall have no obligation to make any loan or to fund any outstanding commercial paper
note. Upon the occurrence of an event of default that is not a special event of default, the banks may, by
notice to MSD, terminate the commitment, if any (except as provided below), deliver a notice of no-issuance
to MSD and to the Issuing and Paying Agent directing the Issuing and Paying Agent to cease issuing all
commercial paper notes. The available commitment shall immediately be reduced to the then outstanding
principal amount of commercial paper notes plus the amount of interest to accrue on such notes and the
available commitment shall be further reduced in a similar manner when commercial paper notes mature
provided the commitment does not terminate, and the right of the bank to accelerate the maturity of the
note and the loans shall not affect the obligation of the bank to make loans in aggregate principal amount
equal to the commitment to the extent necessary for MSD to make required payments of principal on the
commercial paper notes issued and sold prior to the date upon which the notice of no-issuance is received
by the Issuing and Paying Agent; provided further that if any loans are made that would not have been
made but for the application of the preceding provision, such loans shall be immediately due and payable
on the date such loans are made.

Moody's Investors Service and Standard and Poor’s Ratings Services assigned ratings of P-1 and A-1+,
respectively, to the commercial paper notes on June 29, 2018.

Commercial paper notes of $255,000,000 were outstanding as of June 30, 2020 in accordance with the
respective Revolving Credit Agreements. Interest rates on the notes outstanding range from 0.18% to
0.65% and maturities range from 28 to 127 days. The outstanding notes had an average rate of 0.30% and
an average maturity of 59 days. A direct purchase note of $100,000 was outstanding as of June 30, 2020
in accordance with the terms of the JPMCB Note Purchase Agreement. This note has a maturity of June
24, 2021 and carries a variable interest rate based on 90 day LIBOR.

The following tables summarize the outstanding and available balance of the commercial paper program
for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

June 30, 2020
(dollars in thousands)

Issue Description Authorized Amount Amount Qutstanding Unissued Portion

Series 2018A-1 $ 250,000 $ 155,000 $ 95,000

Series 2018A-2 250,000 100,000 150,000
Total $ 500,000 $ 255,000 $ 245,000

33



June 30, 2019
(dollars in thousands)

Issue Description Authorized Amount Amount Outstanding Unissued Portion

Series 2018A-1 $ 250,000 $ 60,000 $ 190,000

Series 2018A-2 250,000 60,000 190,000
Total $ 500,000 $ 120,000 $ 380,000

MSD issued its Series 2020A revenue bonds on July 30, 2020 to refund $225,000,000 in commercial paper
notes. MSD has classified all outstanding commercial paper notes as long-term debt in accordance with
GASB 62 as it intends to redeem a portion of the notes with with long-term bond proceeds and reissue the
remaining maturing commercial paper notes in accordance with the refinancing terms of the Revolving

Credit Agreements.

The following tables summarize transactions of the commercial paper program for the years ended June
30, 2020 and 2019:

June 30, 2020
(dollars in thousands)
QOutstanding
Notes at Outstanding Payable
Beginning of Notes at Within
Issue Description Year Notes Issued Notes Retired End of Year  One Year
Series 2018A-1 $ 60,000 $ 405000 $ 310,000 $ 155,000 $ -
Series 2018A-2 60,000 365,000 325,000 100,000 -
Total $ 120,000 $ 770,000 $ 635000 $ 255,000 $ -
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June 30, 2019
(dollars in thousands)

Outstanding

Notes at Outstanding Payable

Beginning of Notes at End  Within One
Issue Description Year  Notes Issued  Notes Retired of Year Year
Series 2018A-1 $ - $ 180,000 $ 120,000 $ 60,000 $ -
Series 2018A-2 - 140,000 80,000 60,000 -

Total $ - $ 320,000 $ 200,000 $ 120,000 $ -

MSD utilizes funding provided through the Kentucky Infrastructure
Authority's (KIA) State Revolving Fund (SRF). The SRF financing program provides low interest loans for
infrastructure projects that are considered a priority based on the water pollution control criteria outlined in
the Clean Water Act. MSD’s SRF loans are considered direct placement debt and carry interest rates
ranging between 1.75% and 3.8%. Under the assistance agreements entered into with the KIA, upon the
occurrence and continuance of any event of default, the Authority may declare all payments due at a default
rate of 8%. Additionally, when an event of default occurs and is continuing, the Authority can declares all
payments due, exercise all rights and remedies, take legal action to enforce its rights under the agreement,
and submit a formal referral to the appropriate federal agency.

Fiscal Year 2020 Significant SRF Transactions: MSD entered into an assistance agreement with the KIA
on December 20, 2019 for a SRF loan in an amount not to exceed $24,200,000 to finance the rehabilitation
of aging infrastructure at its Hite Creek Water Quality Treatment Center. The capacity of the treatment
center will be expanded to eliminate sanitary sewer overflows upstream of the treatment center and allow
for future growth. Interest will be payable semiannually at a fixed rate of 2% per annum commencing after
funds are first drawn on the loan. The loan will be repaid over a period not to exceed twenty years from the
date the project is placed in operation. MSD has not drawn on this loan as of June 30, 2020.

MSD entered into an assistance agreement with the KIA on December 20, 2019 for a SRF loan in an
amount not to exceed $3,870,000 to finance the rehabilitation 47,000 linear feet of sewer lines. Interest will
be payable semiannually at a fixed rate of 2% per annum commencing after funds are first drawn on the
loan. The loan will be repaid over a period not to exceed twenty years from the date the project is placed in
operation. MSD has not drawn on this loan as of June 30, 2020.

MSD entered into an assistance agreement with the KIA on June 30, 2020, as part of its merger with OCEA,
to assume eight existing SRF loans extended to the OCEA with total outstanding principal in the amount of
$13,705,711. These loans financed various sewer system infrastructure projects in the OCEA service area.
Six of these loans are for completed projects and principal repayment has begun. Two loans are financing
projects that are still under construction. Principal repayment will begin once the projects are placed in
operation. Interest will be paid semiannually at fixed rates ranging from 1.75% to 3% per annum. The loans
will be repaid over a period not to exceed twenty years. .

Fiscal Year 2019 Significant SRF Transactions: On May 31, 2019, MSD acquired the Crestwood
Wastewater Collection system pursuant to the terms and conditions of an Interlocal Agreement dated April
9, 2019. The purchase price was paid, in part, by MSD'’s assumption of a SRF loan between Crestwood
and the Kentucky Infrastructure Authority in the amount $1,103,340. The loan carries an interest rate of
3.8% and will be repaid in 2021.
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At June 30, 2020 and 2019 MSD had the following SRF direct placement debt outstanding:

June 30, 2020
(dollars in thousands) Final Outstanding
Loan Drawn Interest Payment at end
Loan Number Amount Amount Rate In of Year
A98-04 6,498 6,498 3.80% 2021 454
A09-41 2,395 2,395 3.00% 2033 1,659
A10-04 2,843 2,843 2.00% 2033 1,974
A10-05 1,000 1,000 3.00% 2033 715
A10-06 121 121 2.00% 2033 81
A10-07 2,538 2,538 2.00% 2034 1,821
A1115 671 671 2.00% 2033 465
A12-29 6,500 6,500 1.75% 2037 5,520
A17-028 6,300 2,013 1.75% * 2,013
A18-010 2,000 1,116 1.75% ** 1,116
Total loans payable 15,818
Less: current maturities (1,193)
Total long-term loans payable, long term portion $14,625
* Loan is partially draw n. Final payment w ill be 20 years follow ing project completion currently scheduled for FY23.
*Loan is partially draw n. Final payment will be 20 years follow ing project completion currently scheduled for FY21.
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June 30, 2019

(dollars in thousands) Final QOutstanding

Loan Drawn Interest Payment at end

Loan Number Amount Amount Rate In of Year

A98-04 6,498 6,498 3.80% 2021 891

A09-41 2,395 2,395 3.00% 2032 1,767

Total loans payable 2,658
Less: current maturities (545)

Total long-term loans payable, long term portion $ 2,113

Oldham County Fiscal Court, on behalf of OCEA, previously entered into a lease
financing obligation with the Kentucky Association of Counties Leasing Trust in the amount of $4,000,000
at an interest rate of 4.94% to finance various treatment facilities. MSD entered into a sublease agreement
with the County of Oldham Kentucky, as part of its merger with OCEA, on June 30, 2020 to make the
remaining lease rental payments when due. In the event of default, the sublessor may by written notice,
take possession of the project, sell or lease the project, or exercise any remedy available to it under
applicable law. At June 30, 2020, the remaining principal balance is $2,180,000 and the final maturity is in
2031.

MSD secured an uncommitied $25,000,000 line of credit in October 2015. As of June 30,
2020 and 2019 MSD does not owe anything on its line of credit. There was no activity on the line of credit
in fiscal Year 2020 or 2019.

MSD issues bond anticipation notes (BAN) under its Subordinated Bond Resolution adopted April 26, 2010.
Bonds issued under the Subordinated Resolution are superior in priority to all revenue debt of the district
except bonds issued under the General Bond Resolution. Pursuant to the Subordinated Resolution, upon
the occurrence and continuance of any event of default, the paying agent may or the holders of more than
fifty percent in principal amount of outstanding notes may, by notice delivered to MSD, declare the principal
and interest of all notes immediately due and payable. MSD has remedies under the resolution to cure the
event of default and annul the declaration of acceleration.

MSD first publicly offered and issued a $226,340,000 BAN to partially refund its then outstanding sewer
and drainage system revenue bonds, Series 1999A and a portion of its Series 1997A and 1998A revenue
bonds on August 19, 2009. The BAN has been reissued annually. Under GASB 62, the BAN is considered
a non-current liability because MSD intends to replace the Series 2019 BAN with a new BAN in October
2020 which will extend the debt to October 2021. Total BAN outstanding at June 30, 2020 and June 30,
2019 was $226,340,000 and $226,340,000, respectively. MSD’s plan is to continue to reissue the BAN
annually and amortize the BAN principal over the same period as Series 1999A bonds.

Fiscal Year 2020 Significant Debt Transactions: On September 19, 2019, MSD issued $226,340,000 of
sewer and drainage system subordinated BAN, Series 2019, with a coupon rate of 3.0% and an effective
interest rate of 1.37%. The proceeds of the notes were used to refund the 2018 notes that matured on
November 1, 2019. The 2019 notes closed on September 26, 2019 and mature on October 23, 2020.
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Fiscal Year 2019 Significant Debt Transactions: On November 9, 2018 MSD issued $226,340,000 of sewer
and drainage system subordinated BAN, Series 2018, with a coupon rate of 4.0% and an effective interest
rate of 2.08%. The proceeds of the notes were used to refinance the 2017 notes. The 2018 notes mature
on November 1, 2019.

A summary of changes in the BAN in fiscal years 2020 and 2019 follows:

June 30, 2020
(dollars in thousands)
Outstanding Outstanding Payable
at Beginning at End of Within
Issue Description of Year Issued Retired Year One Year
2018 Bond anticipation note $ 226,340 % - $ 226340 § - $ -
2019 Bond anticipation note - 226,340 - 226,340 226,340
Total $ 226,340 $ 226,340 $ 226,340 $ 226,340  $226,340
June 30, 2019
(dollars in thousands)
Cutstanding Outstanding Payable
at Beginning at End of Within
Issue Description of Year Issued Retired Year One Year
2017 Bond anticipation note $ 226,340 $ - $ 226,340 $ - $ -
2018 Bond anticipation note - 226,340 - 226,340 226,340
Total $ 226340 $ 226,340 $ 226,340 $ 226,340  $226,340

At June 30, 2020, MSD had the following two interest rate derivative instruments outstanding:

(doflars in thousands)
Notional
Derivative Qriginal Amount Effective  Termination
Instrument Type Objective Counterparty Notional 30-Jun-20 Date Date Termms
Pay 4.4125%
Pay-fixed interest Hedge interest rate risk on ~ Wells Fargo, Receive 67% USD-
A rate swap Series 2020 BAN N.A. $ 180,716 $ 180,716 6/15/2013  5/15/2033 LIBOR -BBA
Pay 4.4125%
Pay-fixed interest Hedge interest rate risk on  Bank of Receive 67% USD-
B rate swap Series 2020 BAN America, NA, 56,433 45284 11/16/2008  5/15/2033 LIBOR -BBA
237,149 226,000

MSD originally entered into interest rate swaps as a hedging derivative instrument in anticipation of
refinancing the 1999 Series bonds at their call date. Two swaps remain in the portfolio to lower interest rate
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risk associated with the BAN®. The hedgeable item is interest rate risk associated with the expected future
issuance of fixed-rate BAN. The BAN are expected to be reissued every year. The swaps are structured so
that the notional amounts of the swaps decrease over time corresponding with the planned amortization of
the BAN principal.

Interest rate swaps are classified as hedging derivative instruments if they meet the criteria outlined in
GASB 53 or as investment derivative instruments if they do not. MSD has designated its interest rate swaps
as hedging derivatives under GASB 53 as of July 1, 2019. At June 30, 2020, MSD’s interest rate derivatives
are effective cash flow hedges and were classified as hedging derivatives in its financial statement. The fair
value of the at-market portion, the hedging derivative, is reported as other assets and deferred inflows if
positive and other liabilities and deferred outflows if negative on the Statement of Net Position. The
difference between the fair value of the at-market hedging derivatives and the fair value of the interest rate
swaps is reported as investment derivatives on the Statement of Net Position. All changes in fair value of
the derivatives are recorded as a separate component of non-operating revenue (expense).

Both swaps have termination dates of May 15, 2033. Payments are due on the fifteenth of each month.
MSD receipt terms are 67% of the 30-day London Inter-Bank Offered Rate {LIBOR). A comparative
summary of the change in fair value of the swaps for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 follows:

(dollars in thousands) June 30,
2020 2019
Fair value - beginning of year $ (73,040) $ (59,443)
Change in fair value (20,415) (13,597)
Fair value - end of year $ (93,455) $ (73,040)

Fair values at June 30, 2020 for the non-credit adjusted, at-market portion of the derivatives follows:

(dollars in thousands) June 30, 2020
Derivatives (at-market) Clean Accrued
1999-1 - $180.7M 67% LIBOR fixed payer $ (16,655) $ (86)
1999-2 - $56.4M 67% LIBOR fixed payer (4,167) (22)
Total $ (20,822) § (108)

% See Note 8 — Bond Anticipation Notes
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Classification at June 30, 2020 of the at-market portion and investment portion of the derivatives follows:

{dollars in thousands)
Changes in Fair Value Fair Value as of June 30, 2020
Gowernmental Activties Ciassification Amount Classification Amount Notional
Cash flow hedges:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps Deferred outflows $ (20,822) Other liabilities $ (93,050) $ 226,000
Accrued interest {405)
$ (93,455)
Investment derivatives:
Pay-fixed interest rate swaps Non-operating expenses (72,228)
$ (93,050

The fair values of the interest rate swaps were estimated using the zero-coupon
method. This method calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming that
the current forward rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These
payments are then discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-
coupon bonds due on the date of each future net settlement on the swaps.

Non-performance risk was measured using credit spreads implied by the credit rating for debt issues by
entities with similar credit characteristics. This is the best method available under current market conditions
since MSD has no credit default swaps that actively trade in the marketplace. For a derivative asset, the
adjustment for non-performance risk of counterparties is determined by analyzing counterparty-specific
credit default swaps, if available. If not available, credit default swaps in the market for entities of similar
type and rating are used with information found in various public and private information services. This
analysis is used to construct a credit curve that is applied to the discount curve on the net settlement
payments of the derivative. A level two (2) category hierarchy was employed for fair valuation measurement.
The positive and negative fair values of the swap agreements were provided by a third-party financial

advisor.

Credit Risk - MSD has implemented steps to safeguard it against the risks associated with the
aforementioned swap transactions. If the swap counterparties do not maintain A1/A+ ratings from Moody's
Investors Service and Standard and Poor’s Rating Service, the swaps contain provisions that require them
to be marked to market weekly with monthly statements sent to MSD and the value will be collateralized
with U.S. Treasury and Agency securities with the securities held by a tri-party custodian approved by MSD.
All costs of collateralization will be borne by the downgraded party who must post the collateral. In addition,
the swaps were awarded to multiple firms to further mitigate the credit risk associated with the transactions.

The credit ratings as of June 30th, 2020 for the swap counterparties are as follows:

Credit Ratings
Standard &
Moody's Poor's
Bank of America, N.A. P-1 A-1
Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. P-1 A-1+

The agreements also provide for automatic termination if MSD’s unenhanced bond rating is downgraded
below BBB/Baa. MSD’s obligations under all of its outstanding swap agreements are unsecured and
subordinate to all bonds issued and outstanding.

The credit adjusted at-market portion, the accrued interest portion and off-market fair value of derivative
instruments A and B are in liability positions of $20,821,981, $404,651 and $72,258,400, respectively, at
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June 30, 2020. The aggregate fair value is negative $93,050,380 (gross of implied note outstanding
balance as of June 30, 2020). This represents the maximum loss that would be recognized at the reporting
date if one or both swap counterparties failed to perform as contracted. There is no posted collateral to net
against the aforementioned fair value.

The contracts for derivative instruments A and B are held by Wells Fargo, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A,,
respectively, and comprise 100% of the net exposure to credit risk.

Termination Risk - Termination risk is generally referred to as the risk that a derivative instrument could be
terminated causing MSD to owe a termination payment as a result of any of several events, which may
include: a ratings downgrade of the swap counterparty; covenant violations by either party, bankruptcy of
either party; a swap payment default of either party; and other default events as defined by the derivative
instrument. Any such termination may require MSD to make significant termination payments in the future.
The approximate amount of termination payment that MSD would have to pay if each of the derivative
instruments were terminated on June 30, 2020 is approximately $93,454,625. It should be noted that this
is the non-credit adjusted (non GASB 72) mark-to-market valuation as of last business day of the fiscal
year. The provisions of the agreements related to each derivative instrument allow for the offset of certain
reimbursable costs related to the termination process.

To further mitigate the effect of termination risk relative to derivative instruments A and B, the agreements
contain certain safeguards which include (i) collateral posting requirements as discussed in the preceding
Credit Risk section and (i) except for certain types of termination events there is no automatic early

termination.

Derivative instruments A and B may be terminated, if the underlying rating of MSD's obligations that are
subject to annual appropriation falls below “BBB" from Standard and Poor's Ratings Service or below

“Baa2” from Moody's Investors Service.

While there is no optional termination language in the confirmations of derivative instruments Aand B, Wells
Fargo, N.A. and Bank of America, N.A,, respectively, may accommodate MSD to terminate the derivative
instruments early, subject to credit approval.

If, at the time of termination, a swap has a negative fair value, MSD could be liable to the counterparty for
a payment equal to the derivative instrument’s fair value. If any of the derivative instruments are terminated,
either the associated variable rate bonds would no longer be hedged with a synthetic fixed interest rate or
the nature of the basis risk associated with the derivative instrument may change. As of June 30, 2020,
MSD is not aware of any pending event that would lead to a termination event with respect to any of its
existing derivative instruments, which are in force and effect as of such date.

Basis Risk — Each of the derivative instruments is associated with certain debt obligations. The debt
associated with each of the derivative instruments pays interest at variable interest rates. MSD receives
variable payments under the derivative instrument. To the extent these variable payments are not equal to
the variable interest payments on the associated debt there may be either a net loss or net benefit to MSD.
The net swap payments made by MSD in fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 were $6,468,589 and $7,724,335,

respectively.

Rollover Risk — Rollover risk occurs when the term of the derivative instrument is not coincident with the
repayment term of the underlying debt obligation. Derivative instruments A and B have terms equal to the
critical terms of the hedged interest rate exposure.

Interest Rate Risk — MSD is exposed to interest rate risk on its interest rate derivative instruments. On it
pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swaps, there may be either a net loss or net benefit to MSD
depending upon decrease or increases in the USD-LIBOR-BBA yield curve.
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MSD entered into swaps and other derivative contracts to lock in long term rates in
advance of issuing long term debt to create and manage variable rate exposure in its debt portfolio and to
take advantage of market opportunities to hedge embedded interest rate risk and tax regulation risk that
exists on its Statement of Net Position.

Upon a termination of a swap, any termination receipt or payment is amortized into income or expense until
the original expiration date of that swap. Any unamortized portion of the receipt or payment is recorded as
a deferred debit or credit in long-term liabilities. MSD has swap agreement terminations with deferred inflow
of resources balances accreting to non-operating revenue as follows:

e On January 24, 2001, MSD terminated a nineteen-year interest rate swap agreement for
$100,000,000 of its fixed-rate 1999 Series sewer and drainage revenue bonds. The termination of
this swap agreement resulted in the receipt of a payment in the amount of $7,935,000. This
payment will be amortized annually into income until 2019, the original termination date on the
agreement.

e In April 2006, MSD entered into a swap agreement with Deutsche Bank AG for an initial notional
amount of $171,405,000 which provided that beginning May 15, 20086, a net payment will be made
based on MSD paying 78.78% of the 3-month LIBOR index on the notional amount and receiving
73.45% of the 5-year LIBOR Index on the notional amount. On January 23, 2008, MSD terminated
this swap agreement and received a termination payment of $4,170,000 that will be amortized until
2023, the original termination date of the agreement.

e OnJanuary 25, 2008, MSD terminated a twenty-seven year floating to floating (basis) interest rate
swap agreement with a notional amount of $282,165,000. MSD entered into this agreement with
Morgan Stanley in April 2006 and paid 67% of the 1-month LIBOR index and received 62.2% of
the 5-year LIBOR index. The termination of this swap agreement resulted in the receipt of a
payment in the amount of $5,756,000. This payment will be amortized annually into income until
2033, the original termination date of the agreement.

MSD is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets; errors
and omissions; natural disasters; and injuries to MSD’s employees. These risks are provided through the
insurance programs described below.

MSD participates in the Louisville Area Governmental Self-Insurance
Trust (LAGIT). LAGIT, which is certified by the Kentucky Department of Insurance to practice as a group
liability self-insurance trust, was created on January 1, 1987. LAGIT members currently include Louisville
Metro Government, six smaller cities, and six government agencies. LAGIT was formed to provide better
risk protection and lower cost liability insurance by sharing the risk with all of its members. MSD’s payments
to LAGIT are reflected on the financial statements as an expense. LAGIT provides, after a $300,000
deductible, various liability coverages up to $5,000,000 per occurrence. Excess insurance may provide an
additional $2,000,000 of coverage, above the LAGIT $5,000,000, to MSD. The amount of coverage
available to MSD could be limited by the total assets of LAGIT and/or claims of other Members under the
excess insurance policy. For fiscal 2020, LAGIT did not make any claim payments on behalf of MSD.

MSD maintained additional excess liability coverage for fiscal 2020. Scottsdale Insurance Company (A+)
provided $5,000,000 of excess liability coverage beyond the $7,000,000 provided through LAGIT. Gemini
Insurance Company (A+) provided another $15,000,000 of excess liability coverage beyond $12,000,000.
In total, MSD maintained liability coverage of $27,000,000.

For fiscal 2019, LAGIT provided, after a $300,000 deductible, various liability coverages up to $5,000,000

per occurrence. Excess insurance provided an additional $2,000,000 of coverage, above the LAGIT
$5,000,000 to MSD. The amount of coverage available to MSD was limited by the total assets of LAGIT
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and/or claims of other Members under the excess insurance policy. For fiscal 2019, LAGIT did not make
any claim payments on behalf of MSD.

MSD maintained additional excess liability coverage for fiscal 2019. Scottsdale Insurance Company (A+)
provided $5,000,000 of excess liability coverage beyond the $7,000,000 provided through LAGIT. Gemini
Insurance Company (A+) provided another $15,000,000 of excess liability coverage beyond $12,000,000.
In total, MSD maintained liability coverage of $27,000,000.

MSD has chosen to self-insure the basic worker’'s compensation
insurance. Claims administration is handled by a third-party administrator and includes claims monitoring
check issuance, settlement negotiations and loss control services. Liabilities are reported when it is
probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. A separate
insurance policy provides maximum coverage of $1,000,000 per occurrence and aggregate. A roll forward
of worker's compensation claims follows:

(dollars in thousands) June 30,
2020 2019 2018
Liability - beginning of year $ 2326 $ 1,557 $ 1,701
Claims and changes in estimates 775 1,945 755
Payments (821) (1,176) (899)
Liability - end of year $ 2280 § 2326 % 1,557

MSD joined the Louisvile Area Governmental General Insurance Trust
(LAGGIT) in September 2002. LAGGIT was created to provide lower cost to participants and broader
coverage for property risks. MSD is responsible for covered property damage up to $100,000 except for
flood and vehicle collision coverage, which have separate deductibles. LAGGIT provides coverage for the
next $1,000,000 per occurrence, except for Flood Zone A locations. An excess insurance policy with a third-
party carrier covers claims in excess of $1,100,000.

MSD’s facilities were affected by Ohio River flooding in February of 2018 and MSD made a claim on the
LAGGIT policy. Payments on this claim totaled $3,757,562. An amount of $637,408 was received in fiscal
year 2020 and $3,120,154 was received in fiscal year 2019.

MSD offers its employees deferred compensation plans created in accordance with Internal Revenue
Service Code Sections 401(k) and 457. These plans, available to all MSD employees, permit them to defer
the payment of a portion of their salary until future years. Participation in these plans is voluntary and MSD
makes no contributions to these plans on behalf of the employee. The deferred compensation is not
available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseen emergency. All amounts of
compensation deferred, including the investments and earnings thereon, vest with the employee and are
not subject to the claims of MSD’s general creditors.

MSD has entered into agreements to sell sanitary sewer assessments to a
local bank. These assessments reflect the portion of the cost that residents pay to have sewer lines installed
in their neighborhood. Residents are given the opportunity to pay the assessment in full or to finance it over
a twenty-year period at 7% interest per annum. The original agreement called for the bank to accept up to
$25,000,000 of outstanding assessments and for MSD to receive 104% of the face value of the
assessments.
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The subsequent agreement allows an additional $5,000,000 of assessments to be sold to the bank at face
value. These agreements give the bank the option to place the assessments back with MSD if the property
owner’s payments are 90 days in arrears or the property owner does not respond to the bank’s demand for
payment within a 90-day period after the issuance of the assessment. Sales to the bank are net of any
subsequent repurchases of warrants by MSD. The unpaid principal balance of loans held by the bank at
June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $511,843 and $717,057, respectively.

On August 12, 2005, MSD agreed to enter into a consent decree with the
Commonwealth of Kentucky's Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet (KEPPC) and the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). The consent decree called for MSD to submit a final Long-Term
Control Plan (LTCP) to the KEPPC and EPA for review and joint approval. The final Sanitary Sewer
Discharge Plan (SSDP) and the LTCP were certified on December 19, 2008 under the title of the Integrated
Overflow Abatement Plan (IOAP). The SSDP included schedules and deadlines for capital projects to be
completed by the end of 2024, The LTCP included schedules, and deadlines for combined sewer overflow
projects to be completed by December 31, 2020. MSD agreed to pay a civil penalty to the Commonwealth
of Kentucky in the amount of $1,000,000 to resolve the violations alleged in the KEPPC’s and EPA’s
complaints up through the date of entry of the consent decree. The agreement called for MSD to perform
supplemental environmental projects at an amount of not less than $2,250,000. MSD neither admitted nor
‘denied the alleged violations but acknowledged that discharges occurred and accepted the obligations
imposed in the consent decree.

On April 10, 2009, MSD agreed to enter into an amended consent decree with the KEPPC and the EPA.
The amended consent decree resolved all pending claims of violations of the Federal Water Pollution
Control Act and the Water Quality Act of 1987. The amended consent decree superseded and replaced the
original consent decree entered on August 12, 2005. The amended consent decree contains stipulated
penalties for MSD’s failure to comply with the provisions contained therein. The IOAP was amended in
2012 and 2014 to improve compliance and adjust capital project schedules. To date, MSD has complied
with all submittal and report requirements contained in the amended consent decree. The cost of the capital
improvements required to be completed under the amended consent decree is currently estimated to be
$1,149,000,000 of which MSD has spent $974,335,843 as of June 30, 2020.

MSD is a defendant in various active lawsuits. Although the outcome of these
lawsuits is not presently determinable, it is the opinion of the MSD’s management that resolution of these
matters will not have a material adverse effect on the financial statements of MSD. All material claims and
litigation settlements that are both probable and reasonably measureable are recorded in accounts payable.

The value of construction contracts signed where work has not yet been
performed amounted to $144,323,365 at June 30, 2020 and was $168,225,446 at June 30, 2019.

In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus surfaced in Wuhan, China, and has spread
around the world, with resulting business and social disruption. The coronavirus was declared a Public
Health Emergency of International Concern by the World Health Organization on January 30, 2020. The
operations and business results of MSD could be materially adversely affected. The extent to which the
coronavirus may impact business activity or investment results will depend on future developments, which
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including new information which may emerge concerning the
severity of the coronavirus and the actions required to contain the coronavirus or treat its impact, among

others.

On July 30, 2020, MSD issued $225,000,000 of revenue bonds, Series 2020A. The
proceeds of the Series 2020A bonds will be used (i) to pay at maturity, redeem, and refund program notes
issued and outstanding as senior subordinated debt under the resolution and MSD’s program note
resolution, the proceeds of which were used for the purpose of financing the cost of capital improvements
and additions to MSD’s sewer and drainage stem and refinancing other program notes previously used
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under the program note resolution and (i) to pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2020A bonds. The
Series 2020A bonds have a final maturity of May 15, 2046.

On August 1, 2020, MSD's rates for wastewater and drainage service charges increased
by 5.0%.

On September 11, 2020, MSD submitted an application for a SRF loan from the
KIA in an amount not to exceed $8,270,000 to finance the Rosa Terrace, Sanders, Wathen and Sonne
Pump Station project. MSD anticipates it will execute an assistance agreement for this project with the KIA
in fiscal year 2021. Interest will be payable semiannually at a fixed rate of 2.5% per annum commencing
after funds are first drawn on the loan. The loan will be repaid over a period not to exceed 20 years from
the date the project is placed in operation.

On September 22, 2020 MSD sold $112,065,000 of its taxable sewer and drainage system
revenue refunding bonds Series 2020C. The proceeds of the Series 2020C bonds will be used: (i) together
with other available funds of the District, to advance refund and redeem on May 15, 2023, MSD’s sewer
and drainage system revenue refunding bonds, Series 2013C maturing on and after May 15, 2024 and (ii)
to pay the costs of issuance of the Series 2020C bonds. The proceeds of the prior bonds were used to pay
the costs of capital improvements and additions to MSD’s sewer and drainage system. The sale of the
Series 2020C bonds closed on October 15, 2020. The refunding reduces debt service payments over the
next twenty four years by $26,590,053 which is a net present value savings of $18,675,198.

On September 22, 2020, MSD sold $226,340,000 of sewer and drainage system subordinated
BAN, Series 2020 with a coupon rate of 5.00% and an effective interest rate of 0.228%. The proceeds of
the notes were used to (i) refund the 2019 notes at maturity on October 23, 2020 and (i) to pay the costs
of issuance of the Series 2020 notes. The 2020 notes closed on October 14, 2020 and mature on October

20, 2021.

Commercial paper notes of $85,000,000 are outstanding as of October 30,
2020 in accordance with the respective Revolving Credit Agreements. Interest rates on the notes
outstanding range from 0.18% to 0.25% and maturities range from 5 to 97 days. MSD intends to reissue
maturing commercial paper in accordance with the refinancing terms of the Revolving Credit Agreements
and periodically refund such maturities with proceeds from the issuance of long-term revenue bonds.

General Information about the Pension and OPEB Plan: All full-time and eligible pari-time employees
of MSD participate in County Employee Retirement System (CERS), a cost-sharing, multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plan administered by the Kentucky Retirement System (KRS, the System), an
agency of the Commonwealth. Under the provisions of Kentucky Revised Statute Section 78.520, the Board
of Trustees (the Board) of KRS administers CERS, Kentucky Employee Retirement System, and State
Police Retirement System. Although the assets of the systems are invested as a whole, each system’s
assets are used only for the payment of benefits to members of that plan and a pro rata share of

administrative costs.

The plan provides for retirement, disability and death benefits to plan members. Retirement benefits may
also be extended to beneficiaries of plan members under certain circumstances. Under the provisions of
Kentucky Revised Statute Section 61.701, the Board of KRS also administers the Kentucky Retirement
System’s Insurance Fund. The statutes provide for a single insurance fund to provide group hospital and
medical benefits to retirees drawing a benefit from the three pension funds administered by KRS. The
assets of the insurance fund are invested as a whole. KRS and the Commonwealth have statutory authority
to determine Plan benefits and employer contributions.
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KRS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information for CERS. The report may be obtained by writing to Kentucky Retirement
System, Perimeter Park West, 1260 Louisville Road, Frankfort, Kentucky 40601, or it may be found at the

KRS website at

Basis of Accounting: For purposes of measuring the net pension and other post-employment benefits
plan (OPEB) liabilities, deferred outflow of resources and deferred inflow of resources related to pensions
and OPEB, pension and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of CERS and additions
to/deductions from CERS'’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are
reported by CERS. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair

value.

Pension Benefits Provided:

The information below summarizes the major retirement benefit provisions of CERS-Nonhazardous. It is
not intended to be, nor should it be interpreted as, a complete statement of all benefit provisions.

Members whose participation began before 8/1/2004.
Age and Service Requirement: Age 65 with at least one month of Nonhazardous duty service credit, or at

any age with 27 or more years of service credit.

Benefit: If a member has at least 48 months of service, the monthly benefit is 2.20% times final average
compensation times years of service depending on participation and retirement dates. Final
compensation is calculated by taking the average of the highest five (5) fiscal years of salary.
If the number of months of service credit during the five (5) year period is less than forty-eight
(48), one (1) or more additional fiscal years shall be used. If amember has less than 48 months
of service, the monthly benefit is the actuarial equivalent of two times the member's

contributions with interest.
Members whose participation began on or after 8/1/2004, but before 9/1/2008:

Age and Service Requirement: Age 65 with at least one month of Nonhazardous duty service credit, or at
any age with 27 or more years of service credit.

Benefit: If a member has at least 48 months of service, the monthly benefit is 2.00% muiltiplied by final
average compensation, multiplied by years of service. Final compensation is calculated by
taking the average of the highest five (5) fiscal years of salary. If the number of months of
service credit during the five (5) year period is less than forty-eight (48), one (1) or more
additional fiscal years shall be used. If a member has less than 48 months of service, the
monthly benefit is the actuarial equivalent of two times the member's contributions with interest.

Members whose participation began on or after 9/1/2008, but before 1/1/2014:

Age and Service Requirement: Agé 65 with 60 months of Nonhazardous duty service credit, or age 57 if
age plus service equals at least 87.

Benefit: The monthly benefit is the following benefit factor based on service credit at retirement plus
2.00% for each year of service greater than 30 years, multiplied by final average compensation,
multiplied by years of service.
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Service Credit Benefit Factor

10 years or less 1.10%
10+ - 20 years 1.30%
20+ - 26 years 1.50%
26+ - 30 years 1.75%

Final compensation is calculated by taking the average of the last (not highest) five (5) complete
fiscal years of salary. Each fiscal year used to determine final compensation must contain

twelve (12) months of service credit.
Members whose participation began on or after 1/1/2014:

Age and Service Requirement: Age 65 with 60 months of Nonhazardous duty service credit, or age 57 if

age plus service equals at least 87.

Benefit: Each year that a member is an active contributing member to the System, the member
contributes 5% of creditable compensation, and the member's employer contributes 4.00% of
creditable compensation, which is a portion of the total employer contribution, into a
hypothetical account. The hypothetical account will earn interest an nually on both the member's
and employer's contribution at a minimum rate of 4%. If the System's geometric average net
investment return for the previous five years exceeds 4%, then the hypothetical account will be
credited with an additional amount of interest equal to 75% of the amount of the return which
exceeds 4%. All interest credits will be applied to the hypothetical account balance on June 30
based on the account balance as of June 30 of the previous year. Upon retirement the
hypothetical account which includes member contributions, employer contributions and interest
credits can be withdrawn from the System as a lump sum or annuitized into a single life annuity

option.
OPEB Benefits Provided:

The information below summarizes the major retirement benefit provisions of CERS-Nonhazardous. It is
not intended to be, nor should it be interpreted as, a complete statement of all benefit provisions.

Insurance Tier 1: Participation began before 7/1/2003

Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance

Benefit: The percentage of member premiums paid by the retirement system are dependent on the
number of years of service. Benefits also include duty disability retirements, duty death in
service, non-duty death in service and surviving spouse of a retiree.

Insurance Tier 2: Participation began on or after 7/1/2003, but before 9/1/2008

Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance with at least 120 months of service at retirement

Benefit: The system provides a monthly contribution subsidy of $10 for each year of earned service.
The monthly contribution is increased by 1.5% each July 1. Benefits also include duty disability
retirements, duty death in service and non-duty death in service.

Insurance Tier 3: Participation began on or after 9/1/2008

Benefit Eligibility: Recipient of a retirement allowance with at least 180 months of service at retirement

Benefit: The system provides a monthly contribution subsidy of $10 for each year of earned service.
The monthly contribution is increased by 1.5% each July 1. Benefits also include duty disability
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retirements, duty death in service and non-duty death in service.

Contributions: MSD was required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate determined by Statute.
Per Kentucky Revised Statute Section 78.545(33) normal contribution and past service contribution rates
shall be determined by the KRS Board on the basis of an annual valuation last preceding July 1 of a new
biennium. The KRS Board may amend contribution rates as of the first day of July of the second year of a
biennium, if it is determined on the basis of a subsequent actuarial valuation that amended contribution
rates are necessary to satisfy requirements determined in accordance with actuarial bases adopted by the

KRS Board.

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, participating employers contributed 24.06% (19.3%
allocated to pension and 4.76% allocated to OPEB) and 21.48% (16.22% allocated to pension and 5.26%
allocated to OPEB) as set by KRS, respectively, of each Nonhazardous employee's creditable
compensation. These percentages are inclusive of both pension and insurance payments for employers.
Administrative costs of KRS are financed through employer contributions and investments earnings. House
bill 362 passed during the 2018 legislative session caps CERS employer contribution rate increases up to
12% per year over the prior fiscal year for the period of July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2028. Kentucky Senate Bill
passed April 8, 2020 pauses the employer contribution rate for CERS for one year keeping the 2021 rates

at the 2020 level.

MSD has met 100% of the contribution funding requirement for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and
2019. Total current year contributions recognized by the Plan were $11,384,941 ($9,132,559 related to
pension and $2,252,382 related to OPEB) and $9,976,816 ($7,533,704 related to pension and $2,443,112
related to OPEB) for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The OPEB contribution
amounts do not include the implicit subsidies reported in the amount of $651,513 and $491,549,

respectively.
Members whose participation began before 9/1/2008:

Nonhazardous member contributions equal 5% of all creditable compensation. Interest paid on the
members’ accounts is currently 2.5%; and per statute shall not be less than 2.0%. Members are entitled to

a full refund of contributions with interest.
Members whose participation began on or after 9/1/2008, but before 1/1/2014:

Nonhazardous member contributions equal to 6% of all creditable compensation, with 5% being credited
to the member’s account and 1% deposited to the KRS 401(h) Account. Interest paid on the members’
accounts will be set at 2.5%. Members are entitled to a full refund of contributions and interest in
their individual account, however, the 1% contributed to the insurance fund is non-refundable.

Members whose participation began on or after 1/1/2014

Nonhazardous member contributions equal to 6% of all creditable compensation, with 5% being credited
to the member's account and 1% deposited to the KRS 401(h) Account. M embers are entitled to a full refund
of contributions and interest on the member’s portion of the hypothetical account, however, the 1%
contributed to the insurance fund is non-refundable.
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Pension Plan Information for June 30, 2020 Financial Statements:

Total Pension Liability: The total pension liability (TPL) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
June 30, 2019 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:

Price Inflation 2.30%
Salary increases 3.30 to 11.55% varies by service
Investment rate of return 6.25%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

The mortality table used for active members was a Pub-2010 General Mortality table, for the Non-
Hazardous System, and the Pub-2010 Public Safety Mortality table for the Hazardous System, projected
with the ultimate rates from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010. The
mortality table used for healthy retired members is a system-specific mortality table based on mortality
experience from 2013-2018, projected with the ultimate rates from MP-2014 mortality improvement scale
using a base year of 2019. The mortality table used for the disabled members was PUB-2010 Disabled
Mortality table, with a 4-year set-forward for both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates
from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010.

Discount rate assumptions:

(a) Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25%.

(b) Projected Cash Flows: The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
the local employers and plan members would contribute the statutorily determined contribution rate
of projected compensation over the remaining 25-year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial
accrued liability. The actuarial determined contribution rate is adjusted to reflect the phase-in of
anticipated gains on the actuarial value of assets over the first four years of the projection period.

(c) Long-Term Rate of Return: The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of
the regular experience studies prepared every five years for the System. The most recent analysis,
performed for the period covering fiscal years 2008 through 2013 is outlined in a report dated April
30, 2014. However, the Board of KRS has the authority to review the assumptions on a more
frequent basis and adopt new assumptions prior to the next scheduled experience study. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The
ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset

allocation percentage.
(d) Municipal Bond Rate: The discount rate determination does not use a municipal bond rate.

(e) Periods of Projected Benefit Payments: The long-term assumed rate of return was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

(f) Assumed Asset Allocation: The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates
of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:
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Long Term

Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Retum
U.S. equity 18.75% 4.30%
Non-US Equity 18.75% 4.80%
Private Equity 10.00% 6.65%
Specialty Credit/High Yield 15.00% 2.60%
Core Bonds 13.50% 1.35%
Cash 1.00% 0.20%
Real Estate 5.00% 485%
Opportunistic 3.00% 2.97%
Real return 15.00% 4.10%
Total 100.00%

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was established by the KRS Board of
Trustees at 6.25% based on a blending of the factors described above.

(9) Sensitivity Analysis: This paragraph requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the net pension liability
to changes in the discount rate. The following presents MSD's allocated portion of the net pension
liability of the System, calculated using the discount rate of 6.25%, as well as what MSD's allocated
portion of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one
percentage-point lower (5.25%) or 1 percentage-point higher (7.25%) than the current rate:

(doliars in thousands) Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(5.25%) (6.256%) (7.25%)
MSD's net pension liability  $ 158,673 $ 126,866 $ 100,355

Employer's Portion of the Collective Net Pension Liability: MSD's proportionate share of the net
pension liability, as indicated in the prior table, is $126,865,574 or approximately 1.8%, an increase of 0.1%
from fiscal year 2019. The net pension liability was distributed based on 2019 actual employer contributions
to the plan.

Measurement Date: The total pension liability, net pension liability and sensitivity information shown in
this report are based on an actuarial valuation date of June 30, 2018. The total pension liability was rolled
forward from the valuation date to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 using generally accepted
actuarial principles.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms: There have been no plan provision changes since June
30, 2018. However the Board of Trustees has adopted new actuarial assumptions since June 30, 2018.
These assumptions are documented in the report titled “Kentucky Retirement Systems 2018 Actuarial
Experience Study for the Period Ending June 30, 2019". The total pension liability as of June 30, 2019 is
determined using these updated assumptions.

Changes Since Measurement Date: There were no changes between the measurement date of the
collective net pension liability and the employer's reporting date.

Pension Expense: MSD was allocated pension expense of $21,999,022 related to the CERS for the year
ending June 30, 2020.
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Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows: Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods
each year, the deferred portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts serve to reduce
pension expense, they are labeled as deferred inflows. If they will increase pension expense, they are
labeled deferred outflows. The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar basis, with
no interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in
actuarial assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and
inactive System members at the beginning of the fiscal year. Investment gains and losses are amortized
over a fixed five-year period. Deferred inflows and outflows as of the measurement date include:

(dollars in thousands) Deferred Outflow Deferred Inflow
of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 3239 $ 536
Change of assumptions 12,840 -
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate shares of contributions 6,572 -

Differences between expected and actual investment

eaming on plan investments - 2,045
22,651 2,581

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 9,133 -
Total $ 31,784  § 2,581

Deferred outflows of resources resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date
of $9,132,559 will be recognized as a reduction of net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2021.
The remainder of the deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources are amortized over three to five

years with remaining amortization as follows:

(dollars in thousands)

Year Ending June 30:

2021 $ 12,594
2022 5,449
2023 1,882
2024 145

$ 20,070

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plans' fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued pension plan financial reports.

OPEB Information for June 30, 2020 Financial Statements:

Total OPEB Liability: The total other post-employment benefits plan (OPEB) was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2019 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement:

Price inflation 2.30%
Payroll growth rate 2.00%
Salary increases 3.30 to 11.55%, varies by service
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Investment rate of return 6.25%

Healthcare trend rates:
Pre-65 Initial trend starting at 7.25% at January 1, 2019 and gradually

decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 13
years.

Post-65 Initial trend starting at 5.10% at January 1, 2019 and gradually

decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 11
years.

Mortality:
Pre-retirement PUB-2010 General Mortality table, for the Non-Hazardous

Systems, and the PUB-2010 Public Safety Mortality table for the
Hazardous Systems, projected with the ultimate rates from the
MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2010

Post-retirement (non-disabled) System-specific mortality table based on mortality experience

from 2013-2018 projected with the ultimate rates form MP-2104
mortality improvement scale using a base year of 2019

Post-retirement (disabled) PUB-201 Disabled Mortality table with a 4-year set-forward for

both male and female rates, projected with the ultimate rates
from the MP-2014 mortality improvement scale using a base
year of 2010

Discount rate assumptions:

(a)
(b)

(c)

(d)

()

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 5.68%.

Projected Cash Flows: The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
the local employers and plan members would contribute the actuarially determined contribution
rate of projected compensation over the remaining 24-year amortization period of the unfunded
actuarial accrued liability.

Long-Term Rate of Return: The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of
the regular experience studies prepared every five years for the System. The most recent analysis,
performed for the period covering fiscal years 2008 through 2013 is outlined in a report dated April
30, 2014. However, the Board of KRS has the authority to review the assumptions on a more
frequent basis and adopt new assumptions prior to the next scheduled experience study. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The
ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset

allocation percentage.

Municipal Bond Rate: The discount rate determination used a municipal bond rate of 3.13% as
reported in Fidelity Index’s “20 — Year Municipal GO AA Index” as of June 28, 2019.

Period of Projected Benefit Payments: Current assets, future contributions, and investment
earnings are projected to be sufficient to pay the projected benefit payments from the retirement
system. However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy is not currently being
included in the calculation of the system’s actuarial determined contributions, and itis the actuary's
understanding that any cost associated with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the system’s
trust. Therefore, the municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments
associated with the implicit subsidy.

Assumed Asset Allocations: The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates
of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:
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Long Term

Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Retumn
U.S. equity 18.75% 4.30%
Non-US Equity 18.75% 4.80%
Private Equity 10.00% 6.65%
Specialty Credit/High Yield 15.00% 2.60%
Core Bonds 13.50% 1.35%
Cash 1.00% 0.20%
Real Estate 5.00% 4.85%
Opportunistic 3.00% 2.97%
Real return 15.00% 4.10%
Total 100.00%

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was established by the KRS Board
of Trustees at 6.25% based on a blending of the factors described above.

{9) Sensitivity Analysis: This paragraph requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the net OPEB liability
to changes in the discount rate and changes in the healthcare cost trend rate.

The following presents MSD'’s allocated portion of the net OPEB liability of the System, calculated
using the discount rate of 5.68%, as well as what the MSD’s allocated portion of the System’s net
OPERB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(4.68%) or 1-percentage-point higher (6.68%) than the current rate for Nonhazardous:

(dollars in thousands) Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(4.68%) (5.68%) (6.68%)
MSD's net OPEB liability $ 40,647 $ 30,343 $ 21,853

The following presents the MSD’s allocated portion of the net OPEB liability of the System,
calculated using the healthcare cost trend rate of percent, as well as what the MSD's allocated
portion of the System’s net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost
trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate for

Nonhazardous:
(dollars in thousands) Current Healthcare
1% Decrease Cost Trend Rate 1% Increase
MSD's net OPEB liability $ 22,566 $ 30,343 $ 39,773

Employer's Portion of the Collective OPEB Liability: MSD's proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability, as indicated in the prior table, is $30,342,854 or approximately 1.8%, or an increase of 0.01% from
fiscal year 2019. The net OPEB liability was distributed based on 2019 actual employer contributions to the
plan.

Measurement Date: The total OPEB liability, net OPEB liability, and sensitivity information shown in this
report are based on an actuarial valuation date of June 30, 2018. The total OPEB liability was rolled-forward
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from the valuation date to the plan’s fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 using generally accepted actuarial
principles.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms: There have been no plan provision changes since June
30, 2019. However, the Board of Trustees has adopted new actuarial assumptions since June 30, 2018.
These assumptions are documented in a report titled “Kentucky Retirement Systems 2018 Actuarial
Experience Study for the Period Ending June 30, 2018”. The total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2019 is
determined using these updated assumptions. The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability
was 5.85% in the prior year compared to 5.68% used for the current year.

Changes Since Measurement Date: There were no changes between the measurement date of the
collective net OPEB liability and the employer's reporting date.

OPEB Expense: MSD was allocated OPEB expense of $3,327,973 related to the CERS for the year
ending June 30, 2020.

Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows: Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods
each year, the deferred portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts serve to reduce
OPEB expense they are labeled as deferred inflows. If they will increase OPEB expense they are labeled
deferred outflows. The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar basis, with no
interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in actuarial
assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and inactive System
members at the beginning of the fiscal year. Investment gains and losses are amortized over a fixed five-

year period.

Deferred inflows and outflows as of the measurement date include:

(dollars in thousands) Deferred Outflow Deferred Inflow
of Resources of Resources

Difference between expected and actual experience $ - $ 9,155
Change of assumptions 8,979 60
Changes in proportion and differences between employer

contributions and proportionate shares of contributions 2,448 46
Differences between expected and actual investment

earning on plan investments - 1,348

11,427 10,609

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 2,904 -

Total $ 14,331 $ 10,609

Deferred outflows of resources resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date
of $2,903,895 which include the implicit subsidy reported of $651,513, will be recognized as a reduction of
net OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2021. The remainder of the deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources are amortized over three to five years with remaining amortization as follows:
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(dollars in thousands)
Year Ending June 30:
2021 $ 278
2022 279
2023 707
2024 (115)
2025 (287)
Thereafter (44)
$ 818

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the OPEB plans'’ fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued OPEB plan financial reports.

Pension Plan Information for June 30, 2019 Financial Statements:

Total Pension Liability: The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June
30, 2017 with a roll forward to June 30, 2018. An expected total pension liability was determined at June
30, 2018 using standard roll forward techniques. The following actuarial assumptions were applied to all
periods included in the measurement:

Price Inflation 2.30%
Salary increases 3.05%, average, including inflation
Investment rate of return 6.25%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB
to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). For healthy retired members and beneficiaries,
the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set
back 1 year for females). For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected
with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. There
is some margin in the current mortality tables for possible future improvement in mortality rates and that
margin will be reviewed again when the next experience investigation is conducted. The actuarial
assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience

study for the period July 1, 2008 — June 30, 2013.

Discount rate assumptions:
(a) Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 6.25%.

(b) Projected Cash Flows: The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
the local employers and plan members would contribute the statutorily determined contribution rate
of projected compensation over the remaining 25-year amortization period of the unfunded actuarial
accrued liability. The actuarial determined contribution rate is adjusted to reflect the phase-in of
anticipated gains on actuarial value of assets over the first four years of the projection period.

(c) Long-Term Rate of Return: The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of
the regular experience studies prepared every five years for the System. The most recent analysis,
performed for the period covering fiscal years 2008 through 2013 is outlined in a report dated April
30, 2014. However, the Board of KRS has the authority to review the assumptions on a more
frequent basis and adopt new assumptions prior to the next scheduled experience study. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The
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(d)
(e)

)

ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset
allocation percentage.

Municipal Bond Rate: The discount rate determination does not use a municipal bond rate.

Periods of Projected Benefit Payments: The long-term assumed rate of return was applied to all
periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Assumed Asset Allocation: The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates
of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Long Term
Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
US equity 17.50%
US Large Cap 5.00% 4.50%
US Mid Cap 6.00% 4.50%
US Small Cap 6.50% 5.50%
Non US Equity 17.50%
International Developed 12.50% 6.50%
Emerging Markets 5.00% 7.25%
Global Bonds 4.00% 3.00%
Credit Fixed 24.00%
Global IG Credit 2.00% 3.75%
High Yield 7.00% 5.50%
EMD 5.00% 6.00%
flliquid Private 10.00% 8.50%
Private equity 10.00% 6.50%
Real Estate 5.00% 9.00%
Absolute Return 10.00% 5.00%
Real Return 10.00% 7.00%
Cash 2.00% 1.50%
Total 100.00%

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was established by the KRS Board of
Trustees at 6.25% based on a blending of the factors described above.

(9)

Sensitivity Analysis: This paragraph requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the net pension liability
to changes in the discount rate. The following presents MSD's allocated portion of the net pension
liability of the System, calculated using the discount rate of 6.25%, as well as what MSD's allocated
portion of the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1
percentage-point lower (5.25%) or 1 percentage-point higher (7.25%) than the current rate:

(dollars in thousands) Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(5.25%) (6.25%) (7.25%)
MSD's net pension liability $ 131,569 $ 104,511 $ 81,842
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Employer's Portion of the Collective Net Pension Liability: MSD's proportionate share of the net
pension liability, as indicated in the prior table, is $104,511,092 or approximately 1 .7%, anincrease of 0.1%
from fiscal year 2018. The net pension liability was distributed based on 2018 actual employer contributions

to the plan.

Measurement Date: June 30, 2017 is the actuarial valuation date and June 30, 2018 is the measurement
date upon which the total pension liability is based.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and
economic assumptions that affect the measurement of the total pension liability have not changed except
during the 2018 legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for
active members who die in the line of duty. Benefits paid to the spouses of deceased members have been
increased from 25% of the member’s final rate of pay to 75% of the member’s average pay. If the member
does not have a surviving spouse, benefits paid to surviving dependent children have been increased from
10% of the member’s final pay rate to 50% of average pay for one child, 65% of average pay for two
children, or 75% of average pay for three children. The total pension liability as of June 30, 2018 was
determined using these updated benefit provisions.

Changes Since Measurement Date: There were no changes between the measurement date of the
collective net pension liability and the employer's reporting date.

Pension Expense: MSD was allocated pension expense of $18,467,215 related to the CERS for the year
ending June 30, 2019.

Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows: Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods
each year, the deferred portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts serve to reduce
pension expense, they are labeled as deferred inflows. If they will increase pension expense, they are
labeled deferred outflows. The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar basis, with
no interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in
actuarial assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and
inactive System members at the beginning of the fiscal year. Investment gains and losses are amortized
over a fixed five-year period. Deferred inflows and outflows as of the measurement date include:

(dollars in thousands) Deferred Outflow Deferred Inflow
of Resources of Resources
Difference between expected and actual experience $ 3,409 $ 1,530
Change of assumptions 10,214 -
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate shares of contributions 5,774 415
Differences between expected and actual investment
earning on plan investments - 1,253
19,397 3,198
Confributions subsequent to the measurement date 7,534 -
Total $ 26,931 $ 3,198

Deferred outflows of resources resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date
of $7,533,704 will be recognized as a reduction of net pension liability in the year ending June 30, 2020.
The remainder of the deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources are amortized over three to five

years with remaining amortization as follows:
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(dollars in thousands)

Year Ending June 30:
2020 $ 10,791
2021 6,418
2022 (449)
2023 (561)

$ 16,199

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plans’ fiduciary net position
is available in the separately issued pension plan financial reports.

OPEB Information for June 30, 2019 Financial Statements:

Total OPEB Liability: The total other post-employment benefits plan (OPEB) was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2017 rolled forward to 2018, using the following actuarial assumptions,
applied to all periods included in the measurement:

Price inflation 2.30%
Payroll growth rate 2.00%
Salary increases 3.05%, average
Investment rate of return 6.25%
Healthcare trend rates
Pre-65 Initial trend starting at 7.00% at January 1, 2020 and gradually
decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 12
years.
Post-65 Initial trend starting at 5.00% at January 1, 2020 and gradually
decreasing to an ultimate trend rate of 4.05% over a period of 10
years.

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB
to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females). For healthy retired members and beneficiaries,
the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set
back 1 year for females). For disabled members, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table
projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement.
There is some margin in the current mortality tables for possible future improvement in mortality rates and
that margin will be reviewed again when the next experience investigation is conducted. The actuarial
assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial experience
study for the period July 1, 2008 — June 30, 2013.

Discount rate assumptions:

(h) Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability was 5.85%, which was
increased from the 5.84% discount rate used in the prior year.

(i) Projected Cash Flows: The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
the local employers and plan members would contribute the actuarially determined contribution
rate of projected compensation over the remaining 25-year amortization period of the unfunded
actuarial accrued liability.

)] Long-Term Rate of Return: The long-term expected return on plan assets is reviewed as part of
the regular experience studies prepared every five years for the System. The most recent analysis,
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(k)

0

(m)

performed for the period covering fiscal years 2008 through 2013 is outlined in a report dated April
30, 2014. However, the Board of KRS has the authority to review the assumptions on a more
frequent basis and adopt new assumptions prior to the next scheduled experience study. The long-
term expected rate of return was determined by using a building-block method in which best-
estimate ranges of expected future real rate of returns are developed for each asset class. The
ranges are combined by weighting the expected future real rate of return by the target asset
allocation percentage.

Municipal Bond Rate: The discount rate determination used a municipal bond rate of 3.62% as
reported in Fidelity Index’s “20 — Year Municipal GO AA Index” as of June 30, 2018.

Period of Projected Benefit Payments: Current assets, future contributions, and investment
earnings are projected to be sufficient to pay the projected benefit payments from the retirement
system. However, the cost associated with the implicit employer subsidy is not currently being
included in the calculation of the system’s actuarial determined contributions, and it is the actuary's
understanding that any cost associated with the implicit subsidy will not be paid out of the system’s
trust. Therefore, the municipal bond rate was applied to future expected benefit payments
associated with the implicit subsidy.

Assumed Asset Allocations: The target asset allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates
of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

Long Term
Target Expected Real
Asset Class Allocation Rate of Return
US equity 17.50%
US Large Cap 5.00% 4.50%
US Mid Cap 6.00% 4.50%
US Small Cap 6.50% 5.50%
Non US Equity 17.50%
International Developed 12.50% 6.50%
Emerging Markets 5.00% 7.25%
Global Bonds 4.00% 3.00%
Credit Fixed 24.00%
Global IG Credit 2.00% 3.75%
High Yield 7.00% 5.50%
EMD 5.00% 6.00%
flliquid Private 10.00% 8.50%
Private equity 10.00% 6.50%
Real Estate 5.00% 9.00%
Absolute Return 10.00% 5.00%
Real Return 10.00% 7.00%
Cash 2.00% 1.50%
Total 100.00%

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan assets was established by the KRS Board
of Trustees at 6.25% based on a blending of the factors described above.
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(n) Sensitivity Analysis: This paragraph requires disclosure of the sensitivity of the net OPEB liability
to changes in the discount rate and changes in the healthcare cost trend rate.

The following presents MSD’s allocated portion of the net OPEB liability of the System, calculated
using the discount rate of 5.85%, as well as what the MSD’s allocated portion of the System’s net
OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(4.85%) or 1-percentage-point higher (6.85%) than the current rate for Nonhazardous:

(dollars in thousands) Current
1% Decrease Discount Rate 1% Increase
(4.85%) (5.85%) (6.85%)
MSD's net OPEB liability $ 39,576 $ 30,470 $ 22,714

The following presents the MSD's allocated portion of the net OPEB liability of the System,
calculated using the healthcare cost trend rate of percent, as well as what the MSD’s allocated
portion of the System’s net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a healthcare cost
trend rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current rate for

Nonhazardous:
(dollars in thousands) Current Healthcare

1% Decrease Cost Trend Rate 1% Increase
MSD's net OPEB liability $ 22,685 $ 30,470 $ 39,646

Employer's Portion of the Collective OPEB Liability: MSD's proportionate share of the net OPEB
liability, as indicated in the prior table, is $30,470,346 or approximately 1.7%, or unchanged, from fiscal
year 2018. The net OPEB liability was distributed based on 2018 actual employer contributions to the plan.

Measurement Date: June 30, 2017 is the actuarial valuation date and June 30, 2018 is the measurement
date upon which the total OPEB liability is based.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and
economic assumptions that affect the measurement of the total OPEB liability have not changed except
during the 2018 legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for
active members who die in the line of duty. The system shall now pay 100% of the insurance premium for
spouses and children of all active members who die in the line of duty. The total OPEB liability as of June
30, 2018 was determined using these updated benefit provisions.

Changes Since Measurement Date: There were no changes between the measurement date of the
collective net OPEB liability and the employer's reporting date.

OPEB Expense: MSD was allocated OPEB expense of $4,165,841 related to the CERS for the year
ending June 30, 2019.

Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows: Since certain expense items are amortized over closed periods
each year, the deferred portions of these items must be tracked annually. If the amounts serve to reduce
OPEB expense they are labeled as deferred inflows. If they will increase OPEB expense they are labeled
deferred outflows. The amortization of these amounts is accomplished on a level dollar basis, with no
interest included in the deferred amounts. Experience gains/losses and the impact of changes in actuarial
assumptions, if any, are amortized over the average remaining service life of the active and inactive System
members at the beginning of the fiscal year. Investment gains and losses are amortized over a fixed five-
year period. Deferred inflows and outflows as of the measurement date include:
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(dollars in thousands) Deferred Outflow Deferred Inflow
of Resources of Resources

$ 3,551

Difference between expected and actual experience $ -
6,085 70

Change of assumptions

Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate shares of contributions 1,551 60

Differences between expected and actual investment

earning on plan investments - 2,099
7,636 5,780

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 2,935 -
Total $ 10,571 $ 5,780

Deferred outflows of resources resulting from employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date
of $2,934,661 which include the implicit subsidy reported of $491,549, will be recognized as a reduction of
net OPEB liability in the year ending June 30, 2020. The remainder of the deferred outflows and deferred
inflows of resources are amortized over three to five years with remaining amortization as follows:

(dollars in thousands)
Year Ending June 30:

2020 $ 387

2021 387

2022 387

2023 795

2024 13

Thereafter (113)
$ 1,856

OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the OPEB plans' fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued OPEB plan financial reports.
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(dollars in thousands)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

MSD's proportion of the net pension liability 1.80% 1.72% 1.60% 1.51% 1.60% 1.60%
MSD's proportionate share of the net pension liability $126,866 $104,511 $93,517 $74,132 $68,653 $51,988
MSD's covered payroll 48,391 45,859 43,084 39,596 37,900 37,100
MSD's proportion of the net pension liability

as a percentage of its covered payroll 262.2% 227.9% 217.1% 187.2% 181.1% 140.1%
Pian fiduciary net postion as a percentage

of the total pension liability 50.45% 53.54% 53.32% 55.50% 59.97% 66.80%
Notes:

1) The amounts presented for each fiscal year were determined as of the prior year end.

2)

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However,
until a full 10-year trend is compiled, governments should present information for those years that
information is available.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms:

2015: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic assumptions that affect the
measurement of the total pension liability have been updated as described in Schedule D of the CERS
actuary report. The changes are noted below:

The assumed investment rate of return was decreased from 7.75% to 7.50%.

The assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.50% to 3.25%.

The assumed rate of wage inflation was reduced from 1.00% to 0.75%.

Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.50% to 4.00%.

The mortality table used for active members is RP-2000 Combined Mortality Table projected with
Scale BB to 2013 (multiplied by 50% for males and 30% for females).

For healthy retired members and beneficiaries, the mortality table used is the RP-2000 Combined
Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set back 1 year for females). For disabled
members, the RP-2000 Combined Disabled Mortality Table projected with Scale BB to 2013 (set
back 4 years for males) is used for the period after disability retirement. There is some margin in
the current mortality tables for possible future improvement in mortality rates and that margin will
be reviewed again when the next experience investigation is conducted.

The assumed rates of retirement, withdrawal and disability were updated to more accurately reflect
experience.

2016: There were no changes in assumptions and benefit terms since the prior measurement date.

2017: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic assumptions that affect the
measurement of the total pension liability have been updated as follows:

The assumed investment rate of return was decreased from 7.50% to 6.25%.
The assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.25% to 2.30%.
Payroll growth assumption was reduced form 4.00% to 3.05%.

2018: Since the prior measurement date, there have been no changes in actuarial assumptions. However,
during the 2018 legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for
active members who die in the line of duty. Benefits paid to the spouses of deceased members have been
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increased from 25% of the member’s final rate of pay to 75% of the member’s average pay. If the member
does not have a surviving spouse, benefits paid to surviving dependent children have been increased from
10% of the member's final pay rate to 50% of average pay for one child, 65% of average pay for two
children, or 75% of average pay for three children. The total pension liability as of June 30, 2018 was

determined using these updated benefit provisions.

2019: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic assumptions that affect the
measurement of the total pension liability have been updates as follows:

e Salary increases were increased from 3.05% to a range of 3.3% - 10.3%.
e The Mortality Table was changed from RP-2000 to PUB-2010.
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(dolfars in thousands)

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
Statutorily required contribution for pension $ 9,133 $ 7,534 $ 6,196 $ 5,279 $ 4,767 $ 4,576
Contribution in relation to the statutorily required contribution (9,133) (7,5634) (6,196) (5,279) (4,767) {4,576)
Annual contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - 3 - $§ - $ -
MSD contributions as a percentage of statutorily
required contribution for pension 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
MSD cowered payroli $ 49,808 $ 48,391 $45,859 $43,084 $39,596 $37,900
Contributions as a percentage of MSD's covered payroll 18.34% 15.57% 13.561% 12.25% 12.04% 12.07%

Notes:
1) This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However,

until a full 10-year trend is compiled, governments should present information for those years that
information is available.
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(dollars in thousands)
2020 2019 2018

MSD's proportion of the net OPEB liability 1.80% 1.72% 1.60%
MSD's proportionate share of the net OPEB liability $30,343 $30,470 $32,119
MSD's covered payroll 48,391 45,859 43,084
MSD's proportion of the net OPEB liability as

a percentage of its covered payroll 62.70% 66.44% 74.55%
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage

of the total OPEB liability 60.44% 57.62% 52.39%

Notes:

1) This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However,
until a full 10-year trend is compiled, governments should present information for those years that
information is available.

Changes in Assumptions and Benefit Terms:

2017: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic assumptions that affect the
measurement of the total OPEB liability have been updated as follows:

e The assumed rate of return was decreased form 7.5% to 6.25%.
e The assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.25% to 2.3%.
o Payroll growth assumption was reduced from 4.0% to 3.05%.

2018: Since the prior measurement date, there have been no changes in actuarial assumptions. However,
during the 2018 legislative session, House Bill 185 was enacted, which updated the benefit provisions for
active members who die in the line of duty. The system shall now pay 100% of the insurance premium for
spouses and children of all active members who die in the line of duty. The total OPEB liability as of June
30, 2018 was determined using these updated benefit provisions.

2019: Since the prior measurement date, the demographic and economic assumptions that affect the
measurement of the total pension liability have been updates as follows:

e Salary increases were increased from 3.05% to a range of 3.3% - 10.3%.
¢ The Mortality Table was changed from RP-2000 to PUB-2010.
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(dollars in thousands)
2020 2019 2018

Statutorily required contribution $ 2,252 $ 2,443 $ 2,011
Contributions in relation to the statutorily required
contribution (2,252) (2,443) (2,011)
Annual contribution deficiency (excess) $ - 5 - 3 -
MSD contributions as a percentage of statutorily

required contribution for OPEB 100% 100% 100%
MSD covered payroll $49,808 $48,391 $45,859
Contributions as a percentage of MSD's covered payroll 4.52% 5.05% 4.39%

Notes:
1) This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However,
until a full 10-year trend is compiled, governments should present information for those years that

information is available.
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Morris Formain is Kentucky's largest and oldest water quality treatment center. On a
normal day. it treats 100 million gatlons of wastewater and up to 350 millicn gallons per
day during storms.



This section of the Louisville & Jefferson County Metropolitan Sewer Districts (MSD)
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents detailed information as a supplement to the
information presented in the financial statements and note disclosures to assist readers in
assessing MSD’s overall financial health.

This schedule presents information to help readers assess MSD’s debt burden and MSD’s
ability to issue additional debt in the future.

These schedules contain trend information to help readers understand how MSD’s financial
performance and position have changed over time. The information presented includes
changes in net assets, an analysis of revenues and expenses and a comparative statement

of cash flows

This schedule contains information to help readers assess MSD’s most significant revenue
sSources.

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand
how the information in MSD’s financial report relates to the services that it provides. The
information provided includes service and administration costs, project schedules, and
water treatment capacity.

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help readers understand
the environment within which MSD operates.
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